The Neurodevelopment of HIV Positive Infants on HAART Compared to HIV Exposed but Uninfected Infants

Nicole Whitehead

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Health Sciences of the University of the Witwatersrand, for the degree of Masters of Science.

Johannesburg

2012

ABSTRACT

HIV continues to affect thousands of children in South Africa. HIV not only has a negative impact on growth, morbidity and mortality but also adversely affects neurodevelopment. The virus is able to enter the central nervous system and cause damage which results in encephalopathy. A high percentage of infants infected with HIV are delayed. The roll out of HAART in South Africa was started in 2004 and in 2010 new guidelines to improve access were implemented. Although HAART is effective in improving growth, decreasing morbidity and mortality its effects on neurodevelopment are generally unknown. Very little high quality research has been done on the effects of HAART on neurodevelopment especially in developing countries and on infants.

Therefore, the aim of this study was to compare the neurodevelopment of HIV positive infants on HAART to HIV exposed uninfected infants. Other objectives included monitoring growth parameters, illnesses and hospital admissions in the infants and determining maternal health during pregnancy. The HIV positive group was also stratified according to CD4 percentage at baseline to determine if this has an effect on development and growth.

To meet the objectives a longitudinal study was conducted at the Empilweni Clinic at Rahima Moosa Mother and Child Hospital, Johannesburg. Twenty seven HIV positive and 29 HIV exposed uninfected infants were studied over a six month period. HIV positive infants were assessed prior to initiating HAART and then for six months while on HAART. HIV exposed uninfected infants were studied for six months. The Bayley Scales of Infant and Toddler Development 3rd Ed (Bayley III) was used to assess development in the infants. Weight, height and head circumference were measured at each visit and questions regarding illnesses and hospital admissions were asked. Blood results were recorded at each visit and pregnancy history was determined at baseline.

It was found that HIV positive infants scored significantly lower when compared to HIV exposed uninfected infants for motor and language development at baseline (p = 0.00), at three months follow up (p=0.00) and at six months follow up (p = 0.00). Cognitive development was also significantly lower when compared to the HIV exposed uninfected group at baseline (p = 0.03) and visit one (p = 0.00). By

six months follow up there were no significant differences between the two groups for cognitive development (p = 0.30). No significant improvement in language (p = 0.46) and motor function (p = 0.91) occurred over time, however developmental scores did not decrease. A significant increase in cognitive scores were seen from visit one to visit two in the HIV positive group (p = 0.0161). There was a trend for HIV positive infants with lower CD4 percentages to perform significantly worse on developmental scores compared to HIV positive infants with higher CD4 percentages.

Weight was significantly lower in the HIV positive group at baseline compared to the HIV exposed uninfected group (p = 0.00), but improved significantly over the course of the study and by six months follow up there were no significant differences between the groups (p = 0.45). Hospital admissions and illnesses also decreased with time.

Maternal health during pregnancy was similar between the two groups with the only difference being that the mothers of the HIV exposed uninfected group used AZT significantly more than the mothers of the HIV positive infants (p=0.008).

This study suggests that HIV positive infants are delayed when compared to HIV exposed uninfected infants. HAART may help to prevent further delay however does not reverse damage already present. There is a need for therapists to be involved in HIV clinics in order to provide early developmental screening as well as rehabilitative services to those children in need.

DECLARATION

I, Nicole Whitehead, declare that this is my own unaided work except for the help given by the persons listed under the acknowledgements.

Signed this day in Johannesburg

Signature

Date

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to acknowledge the following people for the roles they have played in the completion of this study:

Dr Joanne Potterton for her incredible mentorship, supervision and guidance

Prof A Coovadia for encouragement, supervision and support

Prof A Stewart for her guidance

Dr Tabither Gitau for assistance with the statitistical analysis of this study.

The National Research Foundation for granting me a bursary

The staff at Empilweni Clinic for all your help and for always accommodating me in the clinic

My colleagues for encouragement and understanding.

My family for their continuous support, patience and encouragement

All the caregivers and children who kindly gave of their time to participate in this study

Table of Contents

ABSTRACTIDECLARATIONIIIACKNOWLEDGEMENTSIVLIST OF FIGURES.VIIILISTS OF TABLES.IXABBREVIATIONS USED.XI1. Chapter 1 – INTRODUCTION11.1. Background.11.2. Problem Statement.31.3. Aim of Study		
DECLARATIONIIIACKNOWLEDGEMENTSIVLIST OF FIGURESVIIILISTS OF TABLESIXABBREVIATIONS USEDXI1. Chapter 1 – INTRODUCTION11.1. Background11.2. Problem Statement31.3. Aim of Study41.4. Objectives of the Study42. Chapter 2 - LITERATURE REVIEW6		
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSIVLIST OF FIGURESVIIILISTS OF TABLESIXABBREVIATIONS USEDXI1. Chapter 1 – INTRODUCTION11.1. Background11.2. Problem Statement31.3. Aim of Study41.4. Objectives of the Study42. Chapter 2 - LITERATURE REVIEW6		
LIST OF FIGURES.VIIILISTS OF TABLES.IXABBREVIATIONS USED.XI1. Chapter 1 – INTRODUCTION.11.1. Background.11.2. Problem Statement.31.3. Aim of Study.41.4. Objectives of the Study.42. Chapter 2 - LITERATURE REVIEW6		
LISTS OF TABLES.IXABBREVIATIONS USED.XI1. Chapter 1 – INTRODUCTION.11.1. Background.11.2. Problem Statement.31.3. Aim of Study.41.4. Objectives of the Study.42. Chapter 2 - LITERATURE REVIEW6		
ABBREVIATIONS USED. XI 1. Chapter 1 – INTRODUCTION. 1 1.1. Background. 1 1.2. Problem Statement. 3 1.3. Aim of Study. 4 1.4. Objectives of the Study. 4 2. Chapter 2 - LITERATURE REVIEW 6		
1. Chapter 1 – INTRODUCTION. 1 1.1. Background. 1 1.2. Problem Statement. 3 1.3. Aim of Study. 4 1.4. Objectives of the Study. 4 2. Chapter 2 - LITERATURE REVIEW 6		
1.1. Background		
1.2. Problem Statement		
1.3. Aim of Study41.4. Objectives of the Study42. Chapter 2 - LITERATURE REVIEW6		
1.4. Objectives of the Study		
2. Chapter 2 - LITERATURE REVIEW		
2.1. Introduction		
2.2. Epidemiology of HIV		
2.3. Vertical Transmission of HIV		
2.4. Prevention of Mother to Child Transmission of HIV		
2.5. The Effects of HIV on the Child 12		
2.6. Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy (HAART)		
2.7. Normal Child Development		
2.7.1. Development of the Central Nervous System		
2.7.2. Cognitive Development		
2.7.3. Motor Development		
2.7.4. Language Development		
2.7.5. Factors Influencing Normal Development		
2.8. Neurological and Developmental Consequences of HIV		
2.8.1. Neuropathogenesis of HIV		
2.8.2. The Neurological Effects of HIV		
2.8.2.1. HIV Encephalopathy 36		
2.8.2.2. The Effects of HIV on Cognitive Development		
2.8.2.3. The Effects of HIV on Motor Development		
2.8.2.4. The Effects of HIV on Language Development		
2.8.3. The Effects of HAART on Neurodevelopment		
2.9. The HIV Exposed Uninfected Child		
2 10 Developmental Assessment 55		
2 10.1 The Bayley Scales of Infant and Toddler Development 57		
2.11. Conclusion		
3 Chapter 3 – METHODOLOGY 59		
3.1. Research Design		
3.2. Location of Study 59		
3 3 Participants 59		
3.3.1. Inclusion Criteria		
3.3.2 Exclusion Criteria 59		
3.4. Outcome Measures 60		
3.4.1. Bayley Scales Infant and Toddler Development (3 rd Edition)		

3.4.2.	Anthropometric Measurements				
3.4.3.	Pregnancy History				
3.4.4.	Child Health				
3.4.5.	CD4 Counts, CD4 Percentages, Viral Loads and ARVs				
3.5. Pro	cedure	62			
3.5.1.	5.1. Baseline				
3.5.1.1.	HIV Exposed Uninfected Infants	62			
3.5.1.2.	3.5.1.2. HIV Positive Group				
3.5.2.	Three Month Follow Up	63			
3.5.3.	Six Month Follow Up	63			
3.5.4.	3.5.4. Measures to ensure adequate follow up				
3.6. Eth	ical Consideration	64			
3.7. Dat	a Analysis	64			
4. Cha	apter 4 – RESULTS	66			
4.1. Los	s to follow up	66			
4.2. Der	nographic Data	68			
4.3. Ma	ternal Characteristics	69			
4.4. Blo	od Results – HIV Positive Group	71			
4.4.1.	CD4 counts and CD4 Percentages at each visit	71			
4.4.2.	Viral Loads	72			
4.5. Me	dical Information	72			
4.6. HA	ART	74			
4.7. Ant	hropometric Data	74			
4.8. Dev	velopmental Scores	77			
4.9. Results for infants in HIV Positive group after stratifying according to CD4					
4.9. Res	ults for infants in HIV Positive group after stratifying according to CD4				
4.9. Res per	ults for infants in HIV Positive group after stratifying according to CD4 centage at baseline	82			
4.9. Res per 4.9.1.	ults for infants in HIV Positive group after stratifying according to CD4 centage at baseline Blood Results	82 82			
4.9. Res per 4.9.1. 4.9.2.	ults for infants in HIV Positive group after stratifying according to CD4 centage at baseline Blood Results Anthropometric Measurements	82 82 84			
4.9. Res per 4.9.1. 4.9.2. 4.9.3.	ults for infants in HIV Positive group after stratifying according to CD4 centage at baseline Blood Results Anthropometric Measurements Developmental Scores	82 82 84 87			
4.9. Res per 4.9.1. 4.9.2. 4.9.3. 4.10.	ults for infants in HIV Positive group after stratifying according to CD4 centage at baseline Blood Results Anthropometric Measurements Developmental Scores Conclusion	82 82 84 87 90			
 4.9. Respectively per 4.9.1. 4.9.2. 4.9.3. 4.10. 5. Chains and the second se	ults for infants in HIV Positive group after stratifying according to CD4 centage at baseline Blood Results Anthropometric Measurements Developmental Scores Conclusion apter 5 – DISCUSSION.	82 82 84 87 90 91			
 4.9. Respectively per 4.9.1. 4.9.2. 4.9.3. 4.10. 5. Char 5.1. New 5.1. New 5.1. 	sults for infants in HIV Positive group after stratifying according to CD4 centage at baseline Blood Results Anthropometric Measurements Developmental Scores Conclusion apter 5 – DISCUSSION urodevelopment of HIV positive infants	82 82 84 87 90 91 91			
 4.9. Respective 4.9.1. 4.9.2. 4.9.3. 4.10. 5. Characteristics 5.1. New 5.1.1. 	sults for infants in HIV Positive group after stratifying according to CD4 centage at baseline Blood Results Anthropometric Measurements Developmental Scores Conclusion apter 5 – DISCUSSION urodevelopment of HIV positive infants Cognitive Development	82 82 84 90 91 91 91			
 4.9. Respectively period 4.9.1. 4.9.2. 4.9.3. 4.10. 5. Charas 5.1. New 5.1.1. 5.1.2. 	sults for infants in HIV Positive group after stratifying according to CD4 centage at baseline Blood Results Anthropometric Measurements Developmental Scores Conclusion apter 5 – DISCUSSION urodevelopment of HIV positive infants Cognitive Development Language Development	82 84 87 90 91 91 91 91			
 4.9. Respective 4.9.1. 4.9.2. 4.9.3. 4.10. 5. Characteristics 5.1. New 5.1.1. 5.1.2. 5.1.3. 	sults for infants in HIV Positive group after stratifying according to CD4 centage at baseline Blood Results Anthropometric Measurements Developmental Scores Conclusion apter 5 – DISCUSSION urodevelopment of HIV positive infants Cognitive Development Language Development	82 84 87 90 91 91 91 91 94 97			
 4.9. Respectively period 4.9.1. 4.9.2. 4.9.3. 4.10. 5. Chaine 5.1. New Solution 5.1.1. 5.1.2. 5.1.3. 5.2. Device 	sults for infants in HIV Positive group after stratifying according to CD4 centage at baseline Blood Results Anthropometric Measurements Developmental Scores Conclusion	82 84 87 90 91 91 91 91 94 97 100			
 4.9. Respective 4.9.1. 4.9.2. 4.9.3. 4.10. 5. Charastic Charastic Constraints 5.1. New 5.1.1. 5.1.2. 5.1.3. 5.2. Dev 5.3. Anticomposition of the second secon	sults for infants in HIV Positive group after stratifying according to CD4 centage at baseline Blood Results Anthropometric Measurements Developmental Scores Conclusion apter 5 – DISCUSSION urodevelopment of HIV positive infants Cognitive Development Language Development Motor Development velopment of HIV Exposed Uninfected Child thropometric outcomes in HIV positive infants	82 84 87 90 91 91 91 91 94 97 100			
 4.9. Respective 4.9.1. 4.9.2. 4.9.3. 4.10. 5. Charastic Charastic Constraints 5.1.1. 5.1.2. 5.1.3. 5.2. Devents 5.3. Antal 5.3.1. 	sults for infants in HIV Positive group after stratifying according to CD4 centage at baseline	82 84 87 90 91 91 91 91 94 97 100 100			
 4.9. Respective 4.9.1. 4.9.2. 4.9.3. 4.10. 5. Chaine 5.1. New Solution State 5.1.3. 5.2. Dev Solution State 5.3.1. 5.3.2. 	sults for infants in HIV Positive group after stratifying according to CD4 centage at baseline Blood Results Anthropometric Measurements Developmental Scores Conclusion	82 84 87 90 91 91 91 91 94 97 100 100 101 102			
 4.9. Respective 4.9.1. 4.9.2. 4.9.3. 4.10. 5. Charson of the second second	sults for infants in HIV Positive group after stratifying according to CD4 centage at baseline Blood Results Anthropometric Measurements Developmental Scores Conclusion apter 5 – DISCUSSION urodevelopment of HIV positive infants Cognitive Development Language Development Motor Development velopment of HIV Exposed Uninfected Child thropometric outcomes in HIV positive infants Weight Height	82 84 87 90 91 91 91 91 94 97 100 100 101 102 103			
 4.9. Respective 4.9.1. 4.9.2. 4.9.3. 4.10. 5. Charsen and the second secon	sults for infants in HIV Positive group after stratifying according to CD4 centage at baseline	82 84 87 90 91 91 91 94 97 100 100 101 102 103 104			
 4.9. Respective 4.9.1. 4.9.2. 4.9.3. 4.10. 5. Charastic Charas	sults for infants in HIV Positive group after stratifying according to CD4 centage at baseline	82 84 87 90 91 91 91 91 91 94 97 100 100 101 102 103 104 105			
4.9. Res per 4.9.1. 4.9.2. 4.9.3. 4.10. 5. Cha 5.1. Neu 5.1.1. 5.1.2. 5.1.3. 5.2. Dev 5.3. Ant 5.3.1. 5.3.2. 5.3.3. 5.3.4. 5.3.5. 5.4. Gro	sults for infants in HIV Positive group after stratifying according to CD4 centage at baseline	82 84 87 90 91 91 91 91 94 97 100 100 101 102 103 104 105			
4.9. Res per 4.9.1. 4.9.2. 4.9.3. 4.10. 5. Cha 5.1. Neu 5.1.1. 5.1.2. 5.1.3. 5.2. Dev 5.3. Ant 5.3.1. 5.3.2. 5.3.3. 5.3.4. 5.3.5. 5.4. Groc 5.5. Me	sults for infants in HIV Positive group after stratifying according to CD4 centage at baseline	82 84 87 90 91 91 91 91 94 97 100 100 101 102 103 104 105 105			
4.9. Res per 4.9.1. 4.9.2. 4.9.3. 4.10. 5. Cha 5.1. Neu 5.1.1. 5.1.2. 5.1.3. 5.2. Dev 5.3. Ant 5.3.1. 5.3.2. 5.3.3. 5.3.4. 5.3.5. 5.4. Groc 5.5. Me 5.6. Pre	sults for infants in HIV Positive group after stratifying according to CD4 centage at baseline	82 84 87 90 91 91 91 91 91 94 97 100 100 101 102 103 104 105 105 106			
4.9. Res per 4.9.1. 4.9.2. 4.9.3. 4.10. 5. Cha 5.1. Neu 5.1.1. 5.1.2. 5.1.3. 5.2. Dev 5.3. Ant 5.3.1. 5.3.2. 5.3.3. 5.3.4. 5.3.5. 5.4. Groc 5.5. Me 5.7. Der	nults for infants in HIV Positive group after stratifying according to CD4 centage at baseline	82 84 87 90 91 91 91 91 91 94 97 100 100 101 102 103 104 105 105 106 107			
4.9. Res per 4.9.1. 4.9.2. 4.9.3. 4.10. 5. Cha 5.1. Neu 5.1.1. 5.1.2. 5.1.3. 5.2. Dev 5.3. Ant 5.3.1. 5.3.2. 5.3.3. 5.3.4. 5.3.5. 5.4. Gro 5.5. Me 5.6. Pre 5.8. Los	nults for infants in HIV Positive group after stratifying according to CD4 centage at baseline	82 84 87 90 91 91 91 91 94 97 100 101 102 103 104 105 105 106 107 107			

5.10. Clinical Recommendations based on the results				
5.11. Recommendations for future research				
6. Chapter 6 – CONCLUSION				
7. Chapter 7 – REFERENCES				
APPENDICES	140			
Appendix I				
Pregnancy History: Interview Questions				
Appendix II	142			
Data Collection Sheet				
Appendix III	144			
Ethical Clearance				
Appendix IV				
Permission from Rahima Moosa Hospital				
Appendix V				
Information Sheet: HIV Positive Infants				
Appendix VI				
Consent Form: HIV Positive Infants				
Appendix VII	149			
Information Sheet: HIV Exposed Uninfected Infants				
Appendix VIII	151			
Consent Form: HIV Exposed Uninfected Infants				
Appendix IX				
Demographic Questionnaire				

LIST OF FIGURES

Page

Figure 4.1 Loss to follow	
Figure 5.1. Bar graph depicting cognitive composite scores for HIV positive and HIV Exposed	
Uninfected groups over time	91
Figure 5.2.Bar graph depicting language composite scores for HIV positive and HIV Exposed	
Uninfected groups over time	94
Figure 5.3. Bar graph depicting motor composite scores for HIV positive and HIV Exposed	
Uninfected groups over time	97

LIST OF TABLES

Page

Table 4.1 Demographic information for the HIV positive and HIV exposed uninfected		
groups		
Table 4.2 Maternal characteristics of mothers of HIV positive infants and HIV Exposed		
Uninfected infants	70	
Table 4.3 CD4 counts and CD4 percentages at each visit	71	
Table 4.4 Change in CD4 count and CD4 percentages over time presented by p-values	71	
Table 4.5 Undetectable viral loads in HIV positive group over time	72	
Table 4.6 Medical information at each visit for HIV positive and HIV exposed uninfected		
groups	73	
Table 4.7 Anthropometric Measurements at each visit for HIV Positive and HIV Exposed		
Uninfected Infants	74	
Table 4.8 Changes over time in anthropometric measurements for the HIV positive group		
(p-values)	75	
Table 4.9 Changes over time in anthropometric measurements for the HIV Exposed		
Uninfected group (p-values)	76	
Table 4.10 Developmental Scores for HIV Positive and HIV Exposed Uninfected Groups Over		
time	77	
Table 4.11 Receptive and Expressive Language Scaled Scores for the HIV Positive and HIV		
exposed Uninfected groups over time	78	
Table 4.12 Fine and Gross Motor Scaled Scores for the HIV Positive and HIV exposed		
uninfected groups over time	79	
Table 4.13 Developmental Changes over time for HIV positive group represented by p-		
values	80	
Table 4.14 Developmental Changes over time for HEU group represented by p-values	80	
Table 4.15 Percentage of infants delayed at each visit for developmental outcomes	81	
Table 4.16 CD4 counts and CD4 percentages at each visit for stratified groups	82	
Table 4.17 Change in CD4 count and CD4 percentages over time presented by p-values for		
HIV positive infants with CD4% of < 25% (p-values)	83	

Table 4.18 Change in CD4 count and CD4 percentages over time presented by p-values for		
HIV positive infants with CD4% of > 25% (p-values)		
Table 4.19 Anthropometric Measurements at each visit for HIV Positive with CD4% < 25%		
and CD4% >25%	84	
Table 4.20 Changes over time in anthropometric measurements for the HIV positive with		
CD4% < 25% (p-values)	85	
Table 4.21 Changes over time in anthropometric measurements for the HIV Positive with		
CD4% > 25% (p-values)	85	
Table 4.22 Developmental Scores for HIV Positive with CD4% < 25% and CD4% > 25%	86	
Table 4.23 Developmental Changes over time for HIV positive with CD4% < 25%		
represented by p-values	87	
Table 4.24 Developmental Changes over time for HIV Positive group with CD4% > 25%		
represented by p-values	88	
Table 4.25 Percentage of infants delayed at each visit for developmental outcomes	88	

ABBREVIATIONS USED

AIDS	-	Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome
ANC	-	Antenatal Care
ART	-	Antiretroviral Therapy
ARVs	-	Antiretrovirals
Bayley III	-	Bayley Scales of Infant and Toddler Development 3 rd Edition
BSID	-	Bayley Scales of Infant Development
CNS	-	Central Nervous System
CSF	-	Cerebrospinal fluid
СТ	-	Computed tomography
DOH	-	Department of Health
HAART	-	Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy
н	-	Human immunodeficiency
HIV	-	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
MRI	-	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
MTCT	-	Mother to Child Transmission
NNRTI	-	Non Nucleoside Reverse Transcriptase Inhibitor
NRTI	-	Nucleoside Reverse Transcriptase Inhibitor
NVP	-	Nevirapine
PCR	-	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PI	-	Protease Inhibitor
PMTCT	-	Prevention of Mother to Child Transmission
RMH	-	Rahima Moosa Hospital
SD	-	Standard Deviation
VL	-	Viral Load
WHO	-	World Health Organization
ZDV	-	Zidovudine

Chapter 1 INTRODUCTION

1.1. Background

Sub-Saharan Africa has the highest prevalence of Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) in the world. In 2010, 22.9 million people were living with HIV in sub-Saharan Africa, accounting for two thirds of people living with HIV around the world. Worldwide 2.5 million children are infected with HIV and in 2010, 390 000 new infections occurred in children. South Africa has 5.6 million people infected with HIV, the largest population of people living with HIV in the world (UNAIDS, 2011; Department of Health South Africa, 2010). Huge strides have been made globally and especially in sub-Saharan Africa in the last few years in order to decrease new HIV infections and to increase coverage of prevention of mother to child transmission (PMTCT) and access to highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART). In sub - Saharan Africa new infections in children have been decreased by 32% (UNAIDS, 2011). Even though vertical transmission of HIV has decreased, children still become infected with HIV and this results not only in poor growth increased morbidity and mortality but also affects neuro-development (Van Rie et al, 2007).

HIV is able to enter the central nervous system (CNS) very early on in pregnancy resulting in neuronal injury (Van Rie et al, 2007; Epstein et al, 1999; Lyman et al, 1990). As the child's brain is still developing it is vulnerable to injury (Epstein et al, 1999; Lyman et al, 1990). HIV infects macrophages and monocytes are able to enter the CNS. Once in the CNS, monocytes and macrophages interact with astrocytes and cause the production and release of inflammatory products as well as neurotoxins that result in neuronal damage (Epstein et al, 1999; Wilfert et al 1994; Epstein et al, 1993).

This neuronal injury causes a progressive encephalopathy in children. The clinical signs of the encephalopathy include loss of developmental milestones, symmetrical pyramidal motor abnormalities, impaired brain growth and acquired microcephaly (Epstein et al, 1999). It also causes calcification in the

basal ganglia which may be correlated with progressive encephalopathy (Belman et al, 1986). Cognitive, behavioral and motor problems are also evident (Epstein et al, 1999; Epstein et al, 1987). Various studies have been conducted and clearly show that children infected with HIV experience neurodevelopmental delays (Bailleu and Potterton, 2008; Potterton et al, 2009b; Van Rie et al, 2007). The prevalence of neurodevelopmental delay may be as high as 60% in HIV positive children (Van Rie et al, 2007) and it may occur in infants as young as 4 months (Chase et al, 1995). A study conducted in South Africa by Bailleu and Potterton (2008) found that 97% of children infected with HIV were delayed in gross motor development and 82.5% were delayed with language development.

When comparing HIV positive children to sero-revertors and HIV negative children using the Bayley Scales of Infant Development (BSID) it has been found that motor, language and cognitive development are all delayed significantly in the children who are HIV positive (Van Rie et al, 2008; Drotar et al, 1997; Nozyce et al, 1994; Msellati et al, 1993). More severe delays in development are present in younger children (Van Rie et al, 2008). HIV positive children have a 30% chance of developing a motor delay compared to HIV negative children and also have a 60% chance of developing an abnormal neurological finding (Drotar et al, 1997). Blanchette et al (2001) found that 47% of HIV positive children present with abnormal brain scans.

All these studies were conducted on antiretroviral therapy (ART) naive children or were conducted before HAART became readily available. Various studies have shown a number of positive effects with the initiation of HAART in children.

HAART is able to decrease viral loads to undetectable levels and to increase CD4 percentages in children with HIV infection (Bracher et al, 2007; Janssens et al, 2007; Song et al, 2007; Resino et al, 2006;). HAART has also been shown to decrease viral RNA present in cerebrospinal fluid (McCoig et al, 2002). Growth parameters such as weight and height are positively affected with HAART (Buonoro et al, 2008; Guillen et al, 2007). HAART has been shown to decrease the incidence of opportunistic infections as well as hospital admissions (Violari et al, 2008; Chiappinni et al, 2007; Nesheim et al, 2007). Most importantly HAART is able to decrease mortality. A large study by Violari et al (2008) conducted in South Africa,

found that when antiretrovirals (ARV's) are initiated early on there can be a 76% reduction in mortality and a 75% reduction in disease progression. Resino et al (2006) also found that the earlier ARV's are initiated the better.

Very few high quality studies have looked at the effects of HAART on neurodevelopment. Most of the studies have been conducted in developed countries and on older children. Often in the studies the children have also initiated HAART throughout the study period.

Raskino et al (1999) found that combination therapy of ZDV and DDI significantly improves cognitive and motor function. However, a study on neuropsychological function and HAART found no significant improvements in neuropsychological function (Jeremy et al, 2007). Lindsey et al, (2007) found that HAART therapy containing protease inhibitors have positive effects on neurodevelopment, however, the effects are limited. This study's results need to be analysed carefully as the groups were not similar at baseline and the childrens' mothers had high IV drug usage throughout their pregnancies, this may have affected the results. Ferguson and Jelsma (2009) found no difference in motor performance in children on HAART and those ineligible for HAART. They also found no difference for motor function to not be influenced by length of time on HAART.

A debate persists about when it would be best for ARV's to be initiated. Early initiation may lead to children learning poor adherence habits, the virus becoming more resistant to drugs and the adverse effects of prolonged exposure of the drugs to children (Welch and Gibb, 2008). However, studies have shown decreased mortality as well as slower disease progression with the early initiation of HAART in children who are HIV positive (Violari et al, 2008; Resino et al 2006).

1.2. Problem Statement

Studies looking at the effects of HAART on neurodevelopment are often of poor quality and have taken place in developed countries. These are irrelevant in the South African setting as most of the population

live in poor socioeconomic circumstances. It would be useful to see the effects of HAART on neurodevelopment especially in sub-Saharan Africa as here there is the highest prevalence of HIV in the world. The South African government has now established new guidelines as to when HAART should be initiated in children. As of April 2010 HAART should be initiated in all children less than one year of age regardless of CD4 count or percentage (Department of Health South Africa, 2010). The effects on mortality and reduction of opportunistic infections have been discussed above but no study has been conducted in sub-Saharan Africa looking at the possible neuro protective effects of HAART if initiated at high CD4 counts. If HAART were to have a positive effect on neurodevelopment it would support its early initiation. A study of this nature would also help determine what services still need to be made available to children infected with HIV.

1.3. Aim of Study

The aim of this study was to determine the neurodevelopment of HIV positive infants initiating HAART and to compare them to HIV exposed but uninfected infants.

1.4. Objectives of the Study

- To compare neurodevelopment in HIV exposed uninfected infants and HIV positive infants on HAART.
- To compare the neurodevelopment in the HIV positive group starting HAART at a more advanced stage of disease and an earlier stage (or at higher and lower CD4 percentages).
- To compare weight, height and head circumference between the groups.
- To compare illnesses and hospital admissions between the HIV positive and HIV exposed uninfected infants.

• To compare maternal health between mothers of HIV positive infants and HIV exposed uninfected infants.

Chapter 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. Introduction

This chapter will briefly discuss the epidemiology of HIV, transmission and prevention of transmission of HIV, how HIV affects the child and the effects of highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) on HIV. An in depth discussion will be presented on normal central nervous system (CNS) development and neurodevelopment in the child as well as factors influencing development. The effects of HIV on the developing CNS and on neurodevelopment as well as the effects of HAART on neurodevelopment will be presented. The effects of HIV exposure on the uninfected child will be summarised briefly.

Articles discussed in this literature review were sourced from Pubmed, CINAHL, the Cochrane Collaboration, EBSCO Host and Science Direct. Keywords in the literature search included HIV, neurodevelopment, HAART, CNS development, normal development, HIV encephalopathy, HIV exposed uninfected child.

2.2. Epidemiology of HIV

Worldwide, there are 34 million people living with HIV. In 2010 there were 2.7 million new HIV infections and 1.8 million deaths due to acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS). Two and a half million children live with HIV and in 2010 there were 390 000 new infections in children. New HIV infections and AIDS related deaths have decreased dramatically since the peak of the epidemic in 1997. Infections in children have decreased by 15% since 2001 and AIDS related deaths in children have decreased by 20% (UNAIDS, 2011).

Coverage of prevention of mother to child transmission (PMTCT) has increased dramatically especially in the last two years. Worldwide, 48% of pregnant women are receiving effective treatment to prevent vertical transmission of HIV (UNAIDS, 2011). Access to treatment for HIV has also increased dramatically.

In 2010, 47% of people eligible for antiretrovirals (ARV's) were receiving them, however ten million adults and children are still in need of ARV treatment (UNAIDS, 2011).

Sixty eighty percent of people living with HIV reside in sub-Saharan Africa. Sub-Saharan Africa accounts for 70% of the new infections seen worldwide. There are 22.9 million people living with HIV in sub-Saharan Africa and in 2010 nearly two million new infections occurred in this region. Even though sub-Saharan Africa carries the burden of HIV infections, huge strides and accomplishments have been made in this region in terms of reducing transmission as well as decreasing mortality. The number of new infections has decreased by 26% since 1997. New infections in children have decreased by 32% since 2004 and AIDS related deaths in children have been decreased by 27%. Coverage for PMTCT has increased to more than 80% in most sub-Saharan African countries (UNAIDS, 2011).

South Africa continues to have the largest HIV epidemic worldwide (UNAIDS 2011; South Africa DoH, 2010). There are 5.6 million people living with HIV in South Africa (UNAIDS, 2011). This accounts for 17.9% of the population (South Africa DoH, 2010). There are also 330 000 children living with HIV in South Africa (UNAIDS, 2011). The main mode of transmission of HIV in South Africa is due to heterosexual sex followed by mother to child transmission (South Africa DoH, 2010). Huge strides have been made in the prevention and treatment of HIV in South Africa. The number of pregnant women with HIV has stabilised in the last three years and 30% of children are now receiving ARV's (South Africa DoH, 2010). Access to PMTCT has increased to 93%; however, mother to child transmission (MTCT) rates remain high at 16% (South Africa DoH, 2010)

Even though improvements are being seen in terms of decreases in new infections and decreases in HIV related deaths, a large number of children still live with HIV and have a variety of problems associated with the infection.

2.3. Vertical Transmission of HIV

The primary way in which HIV infection occurs in children is through mother to child transmission, however infection may occur due to exposure to infected blood products, through unsafe incision practices as well as through sexual abuse (Prendergast et al, 2007).

Children may become infected with HIV through transmission from their mothers during gestation or labour and delivery or through breastfeeding. This is termed mother to child transmission (MTCT) of HIV (Paintsil and Andiman, 2009; Volmink et al, 2008; Kourtis et al, 2006). Without any intervention the risk of MTCT of HIV may range from 12 - 40% (Paintsil and Andiman, 2009; Ogundele et al, 2003; Kourtis et al, 2001).

During gestation the risk for transmission is highest in the later stages of pregnancy (Volmink et al, 2008; Kourtis et al, 2006; Ogundele et al, 2003; Kourtis et al, 2001). Kourtis et al (2001) developed a model for the timing and distribution of MTCT of HIV. In 2006 she and her colleagues reviewed the literature again to determine the timing of HIV transmission. They found that a third of MTCT of HIV occurs during gestation and two thirds during labour and delivery. They found that less than five percent of transmission occurs early on in gestation and that 50% occurs between 36 weeks of gestation and labour. Volmink et al (2008) who also conducted a review had similar findings. They found that 80% of MTCT of HIV occurs in late pregnancy and labour.

Certain factors may increase the risk of MTCT of HIV during pregnancy. A high viral load and low CD4 count appear to be the most important risk factors for transmission (Fitzgerald et al, 2010; Garcia et al, 1999; Mofenson et al, 1999). Women with AIDS or an advanced disease stage, a CD4 count of less than 700 and a high viral load have a higher risk of transmitting infection to their infants (Fitzgerald et al, 2010; The European Collaborative Study, 1992;). Other risk factors include chorioamnionitis as well maternal co-infections with malaria and sexually transmitted illnesses (Paintsil and Andiman, 2009; Volmnink et al, 2008; Mofenson et al, 1999; The European Collobrative Study, 1992).

During labour there is a high chance of MTCT of HIV (Volmink et al, 2008). Transmission during delivery may be increased with instrumental deliveries, epsiotomies, perineal laceration, intrapartum haemorhage, foetal electrode monitoring and prolonged rupture of membranes (Paintsil and Andiman, 2009; Kourtis et al, 2001). Transmission may occur due to the high chance of direct contact of the foetus with the mother's blood and secretions (Kourtis et al, 2001).

Breastfeeding is also responsible for a high percentage of MTCT of HIV (Paintsil and Andiman, 2009; Volmink and Marais, 2008; Kourtis et al, 2006; Ogundele et al, 2003; The European Collaborative Study, 1992). Kourtis et al (2006) found that in 40% of HIV infected children, 15% of them may have become

infected due to breastfeeding. Cells, like macrophages, infected with HIV as well as free viral particles are present in breastmilk. When breastfeeding, the virus is able to cross the mucosal surface in an infant's mouth especially if damage is present and thus cause HIV infection in the child (Ogundele et al, 2003). Risk of transmission of HIV from breastfeeding is higher in the earlier stages of breastfeeding due to the high viral load present in colostrum (Kourtis et al, 2006; Ogundele et al, 2003). Factors that may increase the risk of transmission through breastfeeding include: advanced maternal illness, low CD4 counts, high viral loads, recent HIV infection, maternal disease progression, mastitis, breast fissures and breast abscesses as well as infant oral candidiasis (Paintsil and Andiman, 2009; Ogundele et al, 2003). Mixed feeding also increases the risk of transmission due to possible damage to the gut and the HI virus penetrating the gut (Paintsil and Andiman, 2009; Ogundele et al, 2003).

Therefore, in summary MTCT of HIV can occur during pregnancy, labour and delivery as well as through breastfeeding. Most transmission occurs later on in gestation and during labour and delivery. If the mother is breastfeeding there is a high chance of transmission due to the HI virus being present in breastmilk. Factors that may increase the risk of transmission include: high maternal viral load, low maternal CD4 counts, advanced illness, chorioamnionitis as well as associated maternal infections such as malaria and sexually transmitted diseases. Prolonged labour and rupture of membranes as well as the use of epsiotomies and instruments during delivery may also increase the chances of the infant coming into contact with the mother's infected blood and secretions and therefore increases the risk of transmission.

Interventions to prevent mother to child transmission of HIV are therefore essential and need to target decreasing viral load during pregnancy, helping the mother maintain a healthy pregnancy and preventing transmission through breastfeeding. The interventions available as well as their effectiveness will be discussed below.

2.4. Prevention of Mother to Child Transmission of HIV

Huge strides have been made in the last 15 – 20 years in reducing MTCT of HIV. In resource rich countries MTCT rates have been decreased to one to two percent (Volmink and Marais, 2008; Townsend et al, 2008). However, in poorer settings the prevention of mother to child transmission (PMTCT) of HIV remains a huge problem (Paintsil and Andiman, 2009). Various treatment interventions are available for PMTCT of HIV.

In 1994 a double blind, placebo controlled, randomised controlled trial by Connor et al found that a regimen of zidovudine (ZDV) from 14 weeks gestation, during labour and delivery and given to the infant for six weeks post delivery was effective in reducing MTCT rates by 67.5%. This study brought about huge improvements in the care of HIV positive pregnant women in the prevention of MTCT, however it was a complex regimen that was quite costly. The use of this regimen would not be feasible in poorer settings. Shaffer et al (1999) found that short course oral ZDV taken from 36 weeks of gestation onwards and then every three hours from the onset of labour decreases MTCT by 50%. This regimen is far simpler and more cost effective to administer (Shaffer et al, 1999). Several other studies have also shown that ARV's administered during pregnancy are effective in reducing MTCT rates (Fitzgerald et al, 2010; De Cock et al, 2000; Garcia et al, 1999). Large systematic reviews have shown that triple ARV regimens administered during pregnancy and labour and given to the child post birth are more effective in reducing MTCT rates compared to short courses of AZT (Siegfried et al, 2011; Chigwedere et al, 2008; Volmink and Marais, 2008). However, Garcia et al (1999) showed that any regimen of ZDV throughout pregnancy significantly decreases MTCT compared to no ZDV.

ARV's given as PMTCT help decrease maternal viral load and provide prophylaxis to the infant. It helps to decrease the exposure of the infant to the virus during pregnancy and delivery and in the infant provides prophylaxis against infection (Paintsil and Andiman, 2009; Connor et al, 1994; Chigwedere et al, 2008).

Transmission of HIV from breastfeeding still remains a problem and rates of transmission may be as high as 24 – 44% (Lehman et al, 2008). In resource poor settings breastfeeding remains the best option for most mothers as access to clean water and an adequate nutritional substitute is limited. Often there is a cultural stigma associated with formula feeding (Doherty et al, 2011; Palombi et al, 2007). Breastfeeding is effective in decreasing child mortality and morbidity, preventing pneumonia and diarrhoea and is an affordable way to provide adequate nutrition to the infant (Volmink and Marais, 2008; Ogundele and Coulter, 2003; De Cock et al, 2000). Formula feeding is an option but needs to be acceptable, feasible, affordable, sustainable and safe (Paintsil and Andiman, 2009; WHO, 2009; Ogundele and Coulter, 2003; De Cock et al, 2000). Palombi et al (2007) found that provision of formula feeds and water filters is extremely costly and being on HAART while breastfeeding is just as effective in decreasing MTCT rates. Hamsy et al (2010) found that HAART provides protection against transmission of HIV in the pre and postnatal periods but not against infant mortality. Breastfeeding was found to be the most effective means in improving child survival. If breastfeeding is the best option for the mother, breastfeeding practices should be modified in order to achieve low transmission rates. Studies have suggested that there should be exclusive breastfeeding for four to six months and then early cessation, prolonged breastfeeding should be avoided, there should be no mixed feeding and breastmilk could possibly be treated with heat or microbial agents to inactivate HIV (Doherty et al, 2011; Volmink and Marais, 2008; Ogundele and Coulter, 2003; De Cock et al, 2000). Care of the mother during breastfeeding is also important. Mastitis and sore and cracked nipples need to be prevented (Ogundele and Coulter, 2003). An ARV regimen as prophylaxis may also decrease the risk of MTCT from breastmilk (Doherty et al, 2011; Lehman et al, 2008). Mothers on HAART who breastfeed are at low risk for transmitting HIV to their infant (Hamsy et al, 2010; Palombi et al, 2007).

Other measures that have been studied for PMTCT include vitamin A supplementation, immunotherapy and vaginal cleansing, however, there is little or no evidence to support these interventions (WHO, 2011; Volmink and Marais, 2008; De Cock et al, 2000). Elective caesarian section at 38 weeks gestation may also decrease the risk of MTCT; however the feasibility of its use in lower income settings is questionable. There are high cost implications as well as surgical risks involved with this intervention (Volmink and Marais, 2008).

The World Health Organization (WHO) has developed clinical guidelines for the reduction of MTCT. They recommend that an HIV positive woman who is pregnant and has a CD4 count of less than or equal to 350 cells/mm³, or has stage three or four HIV disease be started on HAART. Post birth the infant should be placed on AZT or nevirapine (NVP) for the first four to six weeks of life regardless of method of feeding. If the woman is not eligible for HAART two options have been designed for ARV prophylaxis. The woman can be started on either AZT or triple ARV prophylaxis at 14 weeks gestation and this would continue throughout pregnancy. The infant should receive a single dose of NVP post birth and then either NVP or AZT for the first four to six weeks of life. If the mother is breastfeeding, NVP or AZT administered to the infant should continue until one week after cessation of breastfeeding (WHO, 2010).

South Africa has adopted these guidelines in their policy on PMTCT. All HIV positive women with a CD4 count of less than or equal to 350 cell/mm³ or with stage three or four disease or with TB co-infection will be initiated on lifelong ART. Post delivery the infant will receive NVP prophylaxis for six weeks.

Women not eligible for ART will be provided with ARV prophylaxis. AZT is provided from 14 weeks gestation, a single dose of NVP is administered at onset of labour, and three hourly AZT is provided throughout labour. Postnatally a single dose of Tenofovir and Emtracitabine will be administered to the mother. The infant will receive NVP prophylaxis for six weeks. If the child is breastfeeding and the mother is not on ART the child will continue taking NVP until one week after cessation of breastfeeding (South Africa, Department of Health 2010).

The South African Department of Health recommends that caesarian sections only be performed if indicated for obstetric complications and not to decrease MTCT. The use of safer delivery techniques is advocated. These include: preventing prolonged rupture of membranes, avoiding invasive monitoring procedures and assisted instrumental deliveries as well as episiotomies and also only suctioning the infant if meconium stained liquid is present. Mothers should be counselled on feeding choices and should make a decision based on maximizing child survival. If the mother chooses not to breastfeed commercial formula will be provided free of charge for six months (South Africa, Department of Health 2010).

Through PMTCT levels of MTCT have been reduced. However, access to services still remains a problem and children are still becoming infected with HIV which leads to catastrophic consequences later on in life if untreated (Chopra et al, 2010; Paintsil and Andiman, 2009). The effect of HIV on the child, especially the neurological and developmental consequences of HIV, will be discussed further in this literature review.

2.5. The Effects of HIV on the Child

Even though PMTCT is effective in reducing HIV infections in children, some infants still become infected with HIV. Without adequate treatment, the risk of developing a wide variety of medical complications is high. Risk of mortality is also greatly increased.

Children who are infected with HIV progress far quicker to AIDS compared to adults (Shetty, 2005). It has been shown that up to 20% of children may progress rapidly to AIDS within the first year of life, this ultimately leads to death. Other children may survive for many years before becoming symptomatic

(Prendergast et al, 2007; Newell et al, 2004; The European Collaborative Study, 1994). The median age of onset of HIV symptoms in children is five months (Shetty, 2005)

Due to immune suppression, HIV infected children may present with several conditions including recurrent fever, lymphadenopathy, chronic diarrhoea, vomiting, ear infections, various skin conditions, oral candidiasis as well as coughing (Shetty, 2005; Taha et al, 2000; Emodi and Okofor, 1998). They may also present with more severe conditions such as hepatosplenomegaly, pneumocystis jirovecii pneumonia, cytomegalovirus, tuberculosis, meningitis, lymphoid interstitial pneumonitis and recurrent bacterial infections (Prendergast et al, 2007; Shetty, 2005; Emodi and Okafor, 1998).

HIV positive children often have high rates of hospital admissions. In a South African study conducted before the rollout of ARV's it was found that hospital admissions in paediatric wards increased significantly, there were also increased numbers of readmissions (Zwi et al, 1999). The increase in hospital admissions was due to the HIV epidemic. Reasons for hospital admissions often include oral candidiasis, various respiratory infections, anemia, failure to thrive, diarrhoea, tuberculosis, malaria and meningitis (Kourtis et al, 2007; Zwi et al, 1999; Vetter et al, 1996).

HIV infected infants are at a high risk for growth failure. Poor growth is associated with poorer immune function and increased risk of disease progression (Isanaka et al, 2009). Incidence of failure to thrive has been reported to be as high as 70% in HIV positive children (Isanaka et al, 2009). Weight for age z scores and height for age z scores are often significantly lower when compared to HIV exposed uninfected children and healthy, unexposed children (Isanaka et al, 2009; Miller et al, 2001). Problems in growth can be detected from as early as three to four months of age (Isanaka et al, 2009).

The European Collaborative Study (2003) conducted a prospective comparative study on a large sample of HIV positive children and HIV exposed uninfected children and followed them from birth until ten years of age. The study monitored the participants' growth. They found that HIV exposed uninfected children are significantly taller and heavier when compared to HIV positive children. They also found that viral load as well as disease stage impacts upon growth. A similar study was performed in South Africa on a far smaller sample and for a shorter period of time (Bobat et al, 2001). In the South African study similar findings were reported. Bobat et al (2001) found that attainment of height was a far bigger problem and that stunting continued to persist in HIV positive children. Height may have been influenced more in this population as socioeconomic circumstances play a role in stunting (WHO, 1986). The population studied in the South African study would have come from poor socioeconomic circumstances. Potterton et al (2009b) also found that a population of HIV positive children from poor socioeconomic circumstances were underweight and stunted when compared to international norms. All the studies discussed above found that weight for age and height for age z scores were significantly lower and that HIV infected children were undernourished and stunted, however wasting was not noted (Potterton et al, 2009b; The European Collaborative Study, 2003; Bobat et al, 2001)

Various reasons may explain why HIV positive children are at risk for problems in gaining weight and height. Children with HIV often have increased metabolic requirements as well as disturbances in metabolism due to a chronic viral infection (Isanaka et al, 2009; Miller et al, 2001). HIV positive children often develop infections such as diarrhoea and oral candidiasis (Isanaka et al, 2009). Oral candidiasis would result in difficulty eating and with the intake of food, resulting in decreased caloric intake and therefore decreased growth (Isanaka et al, 2009). Persistent diarrhoea results in malabsorption of nutrients which would adversely influence growth (Isanaka et al, 2009; The European Collaborative Study, 2003; Bobat et al, 2001; Miller et al, 2001). Neuro endocrine abnormailities as well as growth hormone deficiencies have been reported in HIV positive children, this would in turn influence their growth (Isanaka et al, 2009; Prendergest et al, 2007; Bobat et al, 2001). High viral loads result in an altered immune response which in turn may affect metabolism (The European Collaborative Study, 2003). Often HIV infected children come from very poor socioeconomic backgrounds, this is associated with poor growth (Isanaka et al, 2009; The European Collaborative Study, 2003; WHO, 1986). Caregivers may not have enough money to buy adequate food for the child and social and emotional support for caregivers may be lacking (Isanaka et al, 2009). Growth is important to look at in HIV infected children as it may be indicative of morbidity and mortality and may affect neurodevelopment (Isanaka et al, 2009; Abubakar et al, 2009)

Mortality in HIV infected children is high. In a Sub-Saharan Africa study Taha et al (2000) found that by three years of age 89% of children with HIV die. In a review Prendergast et al (2007) found that in sub-Saharan Africa 45 – 59% of HIV Infants die by two years of age. Lallement et al (2010) found that 21% of paediatric deaths are due to HIV and HIV associated conditions. The peak for mortality is at two to three months of age (Bourne et al, 2009). Taha et al (2000) noted that once AIDS defining symptoms are

present the median length of survival is ten months. Death in HIV positive children is often caused by pneumonia, diarrhoea and wasting

HIV also results in various neurological manifestations in children and these will be discussed in depth later in this review.

2.6. Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy (HAART)

There is no cure for HIV; however, treatment through ARV's is possible. Treatment is in the form of highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) (Pozniak, 2007). With HAART a combination of three or more ARV's are used (Riordan and Bugembe, 2009; Pozniak, 2007). HAART is aimed at reducing viral loads and improving immune function. By doing this disease progression is slowed, opportunistic infections prevented and mortality reduced (Riordan and Bugembe, 2009; Pozniak, 2007).

Several ARV's are available and are divided into three classes according to their mode of action. Nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NRTIs) were the first ARV's to be developed (BIPAI, 2010). They prevent the formation of viral DNA by blocking reverse transcriptase (BIPAI, 2010). Non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTIs) also bind to the enzyme reverse transcriptase and in doing so prevents viral RNA from replicating (BIPAI, 2010; Riordan and Bugembe, 2009). Protease inhibitors (PIs) bind to protease enzymes and cause the formation of defective viral particles that are unable to replicate (BIPAI, 2010; Riordan and Bugembe, 2009). For HAART, it is usual for two NRTIs to be used in combination with either a NNRTI or PI (Riordan and Bugembe, 2009).

Unfortunately, there are several side effects that may occur with the use of ARV's. These include mitochondrial toxicity, lactic acidosis, neuropathies, cardiomyopathy, pancreatitis, hypersensitivity, rashes, gastrointestinal disturbances and lipodystrophy to name a few. Resistance to the drugs may also develop and therefore they may be less successful in decreasing viral replication and improving immune function (Riordan and Bugembe, 2009).

Due to resistance developing to the various classes of drugs and because some children do not tolerate the drugs well, new classes of drugs are being developed (BIPAI, 2010; Riordan and Bugembe, 2009). Second generation protease inhibitors have fewer complications than PIs currently being used and the risk of dyslipidemia appears to be far less (Riordan and Bugembe, 2009). Entry inhibitors include attachment inhibitors and fusion inhibitors, they prevent HIV from binding to the CD4 cells and entering the cells (BIPAI, 2010; Riordan and Bugembe, 2009; Pozniak, 2007). Integrase inhibitors as well as maturation inhibitors are also being studied (Riordan and Bugembe, 2009).

The use of HAART is able to significantly decrease viral loads in children infected with HIV. In many studies viral loads become undetectable in a large proportion of children (Peacock-Villada, 2012; Musoke et al, 2010; Sutcliffe et al, 2008; Bracher et al, 2007; Janssens et al, 2007; Song et al 2007; McKinney et al, 2007; Reddi et al, 2007; Resino et al, 2006). McKinney et al (2007) and Bracher et al (2007) showed that after twelve to sixteen weeks of HAART, viral loads in a population with a mean age of six years became undetectable. Jannsens et al (2007) had a similar finding, they found that after 12 months on HAART viral loads in 81% of children became undetectable. Musoke et al (2010) found that viral loads became undetectable in 50% of cases after 48 weeks of treatment in children aged less than a year. CD4 percentages as well as CD4 cell counts increase significantly with the initiation of HAART (Peacock-Villada, 2012; Sutcliffe et al, 2007; Resino et al, 2006), however it appears that after 12 – 18 months these numbers will stabilise and plateau and no further improvements will be seen (Sutcliffe et al, 2008; Resino et al, 2006). In a retrospective study Resino et al (2006) found that if children were initiated on HAART with CD4 percentages of less than 5% they would never gain CD4 percentage of more than 25 %.

Disease progression on HAART is also reduced. The progression to stage three and four and to AIDS is significantly decreased with the initiation of HAART (Sturt et al, 2012; Chiappini et al, 2007; Foster and Lyall, 2005). The incidence of opportunistic infections is reduced (Sutcliffe et al 2008; Nesheim et al, 2007) and there are fewer hospital admissions when a patient is receiving treatment (Violori et al, 2008; Sutcliffe et al, 2008; Foster and Lyall, 2005).

Growth parameters improve with the initiation of HAART. Often, prior to the initiation of HAART weight for age and height for age z scores are well below two standard deviations of the norm (Sutcliffe et al, 2008; Bolton-Moore et al, 2007). These scores seem to increase significantly with the use of HAART (Musoke et al, 2010; Buonora et al, 2008; Sutcliffe et al, 2008; Guillen et al, 2007; Song et al, 2007; Natu and Daga, 2007; Bolton-Moore, 2007; Reddi et al, 2007). Body mass index however appears to stay relatively stable (Musoke et al, 2010).

More importantly HAART is able to decrease mortality (Sturt et al, 2012; Peacock-Villada et al, 2011; Violori et al, 2008; Chiappini et al, 2007; Janssens et al, 2007; Song et al, 2007; Sutcliffe et al, 2008; Reddi et al, 2007; Foster and Lyall, 2005). With the use of HAART the likelihood of survival improves. In South Africa Violori et al (2008) and Reddi et al (2007) have shown significant reductions in mortality with the use of HAART. Risk factors associated with increased mortality even when on HAART include: low CD4 percentage at initiation, low weight for age z scores, younger age, WHO stage three and four, high viral loads at initiation, severe malnutrition and the presence of other infections such as pneumonia and tuberculosis (Peacock-Villada et al, 2011; Sutcliffe et al, 2008; Bolton-Moore et al, 2007; Reddi et al, 2007). It appears that most deaths occur shortly after treatment is initiated (Sturt et al, 2012; Sutcliffe et al, 2008; Bolton-Moore et al, 2007; Reddi et al, 2007), if children are able to survive for the first 90 days to six months after treatment initiation, outcomes are generally good (Sutcliffe et al, 2008; Bolton-Moore et al, 2007).

Although the benefits of HAART are clear, a debate still persists regarding the best time for its initiation in children. If HAART is started too early there may be poor adherence habits, risk of the virus becoming resistant to the drugs, increased risk of drug toxicities, and generally there is uncertainty about the effects of prolonged exposure to the drugs (Welsch and Gibb, 2008).

Guidelines have been established by the World Health Organization to assist clinicians in decision making. The WHO suggests that HAART be initiated in the following children:

- Children less than two years of age to start HAART immediately regardless of CD4 counts.
- Children between two to five years with a CD4 percentage of less than or equal to 25% or a CD4 count of less than or equal to 750cells/mm³.
- Children older than five years with a CD4 count of less than 350 cells/mm³.

(WHO, 2010)

In South Africa rollout of ARV's started in 2004. Since then changes have been made to clinical guidelines. HAART will now be initiated in the following circumstances:

• Children who are under one year of age regardless of their CD4 counts.

- Children aged one to five years who are symptomatic with WHO stage three or four disease or CD4% of less than 25% or CD4 count of less than 750cells/mm³.
- Children older than five years who present with WHO stage three or four disease or with a CD4 count of less than 350 cells/mm³.

(South Africa National Department of Health, 2010)

2.7. Normal Child Development

2.7.1. Development of the Central Nervous System

The development of the CNS is an extremely complex, intricate process starting at conception and continuing through adulthood (Hadders-Algra, 2010; Stiles and Jernigan, 2010; de Graaf-Peters & Hadders-Algra, 2006). It is a dynamic process that is both additive and regressive (Anderson et al, 2011). Knowledge of how the CNS develops assists in creating an understanding of how adverse events affect neurological function and of stages of vulnerability in the CNS (de Graaf-Peters & Hadders-Algra, 2006).

This section aims to create an understanding of how the CNS develops in order to identify periods of vulnerability and to develop an understanding of the neurological consequences of HIV.

The CNS starts developing at three weeks gestational age (Anderson et al, 2011, de Graaf-Peters & Hadders-Algra, 2006). Stem cells in the epiblast layer of the embryo give rise to neural progenitor cells through a cascade of molecular and genetic signaling (Stiles and Jernigan, 2010; de Graaf-Peters & Hadders-Algra, 2006). These neural progenitor cells form the neural plate (Stiles and Jernigan, 2010). The neural plate then forms the neural tube (Anderson et al, 2011; Stiles and Jernigan, 2010; Kramer and Allan, 2002).

Neural proliferation will commence at six weeks gestation and continues until midgestation (Anderson et al, 2011; Stiles and Jernigan, 2010; de Graaf-Peters & Hadders-Algra, 2006). As neurons are produced they begin to migrate in a radial fashion to various areas creating a six layered neocortex (Anderson et al, 2011; de Graaf-Peters & Hadders-Algra, 2006; Stiles and Jernigan, 2010). Migration starts early on and will peak at three to five months gestation (de Graaf-Peters & Hadders-Algra, 2006). Migration occurs in an "inside-out" manner whereby new born cells cross through earlier cells to the surface and

are therefore more superficial (de Graaf-Peters & Hadders-Algra, 2006; Stiles and Jernigan, 2010). The migration of the neurons is regulated by interactions between other neuronal and glial cells, glycoproteins, GABA and glutamate (de Graaf-Peters & Hadders-Algra, 2006). HIV is able to disrupt the function of glial cells and also affects the production of GABA in the central nervous system (Wilfert et al, 1994).

Once neurons are in their appropriate location neural networks need to be established (Stiles and Jernigan, 2010). The neurons begin to differentiate and form neuronal processes which are the axons and dendrites of the CNS (Hadders-Algra, 2010; Stiles and Jernigan, 2010; de Graaf-Peters & Hadders-Algra, 2006,). The formation of axons and dendrites allows for communication between neurons (Stiles and Jernigan, 2010). Neurotransmitters and neurotrophic factors as well as glial cells which include oligodendrocytes and astrocytes will also be produced (Stiles and Jernigan, 2010).

Axons and dendrites start to grow. Growth of axons and dendrites starts in the second trimester and accelerates in the third trimester, this process is highly active in the first year of life and will continue until five years of age (de Graaf Peters and Hadders-Algra, 2006). Axons are long and need to travel some distance to their final destinations (Stiles and Jernigan, 2010; Webb et al, 2001). The axons have growth cones at their tips to assist with elongation and finding their target location (Anderson et al, 2011; Stiles and Jernigan, 2010). Axonal path finding is controlled by contact attraction and repulsion as well as chemo attraction and repulsion (Webb et al, 2001). Dendrites start to branch (arborise) - initially this is a slow process but speeds up in the third trimester and remains active until five years of age (de Graaf-Peters & Hadders-Algra, 2006). The branching of dendrites is controlled by genetically determined signaling and incoming axons that induce dendrite formation (Webb et al, 2001). As the growth occurs, sulci and gyri start to form in order to accommodate the increased cortical mass (Anderson et al, 2011).

Along with dendritic growth, there is synaptogenesis (Anderson et al, 2011). Synaptogenesis is the process of the formation of increased synaptic density and starts at eight weeks gestation and continues postnatally up to three years of age. (Anderson et al, 2011; de Graaf-Peters & Hadders-Algra, 2006). A synapse is created when an axon makes contact with a dendrite (Webb et al, 2001). The formation of synapses is controlled by both spontaneous genetic inputs as well as environmental inputs which signal neurotransmitter release (Webb et al, 2001). It is thought that there is such an overproduction of synapses to allow for increased capacity for improved recovery if prenatal or post natal brain injuries

19

occur, to prepare the brain for environmental inputs and to assist with the onset of cognitive function (Anderson et al, 2011; Webb et al, 2001). Both Smith et al (2000) and McGarth et al (2006) have showed that HIV infection may occur early on and during gestation. HIV would impact the development of the CNS at different stages. HIV may affect the creation of neural networks through synaptogenesis and dendritic and axon growth. If it affects CNS formation at this stage, delays in cognitive, language and motor function will be seen (McGarth et al, 2006)

Myelination also has to occur. It is mainly a post natal process that starts at 12 weeks gestational age and peaks during the first two years of life, it then slowly continues until the age of 40 (Anderson et al, 2011; de Graaf-Peters & Hadders-Algra, 2006). Oligodendrocytes that are formed are responsible for myelin formation (de Graaf-Peters & Hadders-Algra 2006). Myelin is a fatty layer that acts as insulation around the axon and assists with rapid transmission of electrical impulses and ensures efficient impulse conduction (Anderson et al, 2011; de Graaf-Peters & Hadders-Algra, 2006; Webb et al, 2001). If any disruption in myelination occurs there will be decreased conduction velocity, increased refractory periods as well as conduction failures (Webb et al, 2001). Often myelination is decreased in children presenting with developmental delay (Webb et al, 2001). Myelination has been shown to be decreased in children infected with HIV. Decreased myelination may result in cognitive delays but would also cause global developmental delays. If myelination is affected early on in gestation, motor abnormalities will be present (McGarth et al, 2006). If myelination is affected later on in childhood, cognitive function will be more influenced (McGarth et al, 2006)

For brain re-organisation to take place and for effective functional neural networks to be created, structures made during brain development must be eliminated (Stiles and Jernigan, 2010; de Graaf-Peters & Hadders-Algra, 2006). Prenatally, apoptosis of neurons and neuroprogenitor cells occurs (Anderson et al, 2011; Stiles and Jernigan, 2010; de Graaf-Peters & Hadders-Algra, 2006). Apoptosis is an intrinsic form of programmed cell death and helps to control the number of neurons in the CNS (de Graaf-Peters & Hadders-Algra, 2006). Apoptosis will result in the loss of more than 50% of neurons initially produced (Anderson et al, 2011; Hadders-Algra, 2010; Stiles and Jernigan, 2010). The process ensures that cells with poor or unnecessary synaptic connections are eliminated (Anderson et al, 2011). Synaptic pruning also occurs (Anderson et al, 2011; Stiles and Jernigan, 2010; de Graaf-Peters & Hadders-Algra, 2006; Webb et al, 2001). Synaptic pruning is the loss of a synapse in the absence of cell death, the neuron is not lost, however, synaptic density decreases (de Graaf-Peters & Hadders-Algra, 2017).

2006; Webb et al, 2001). Approximately 40% of synapses seen during peak synaptogenesis will be eliminated by adulthood (Webb et al, 2001). Synaptic pruning is paired with synaptogenesis (de Graaf-Peters & Hadders-Algra, 2006). Many synapses are lost in the first two years of life and synaptic pruning continues from puberty to adulthood (Anderson et al, 2011; de Graaf-Peters & Hadders-Algra, 2006). Synaptic pruning will assist with neural development and plasticity (de Graaf-Peters & Hadders-Algra, 2006). Pruning is influenced by the competition for neurotrophic factors, by afferent inputs and by the decreased presence of GABA as well as the number of synapses that are active (Stiles and Jernigan, 2010; Webb et al, 2001). It may be regulated by environmental inputs (Webb et al, 2001). Pruning allows for the elimination of inappropriate synapses and allows arborisation of appropriate dendrites resulting in a complex neural network forming which ultimately assists with normal human development (Webb et al, 2001). A central feature of HIV infection in children is cortical atrophy (Belman et al 1986; Decarli et al 1993; Brouwers et al 1995). Neuronal loss in the white matter and subcortical regions has been documented in (Everall et al, 1991; Wiley et al, 1986). Neurotoxins released in the CNS by HIV infected monocytes cause neuronal death (Epstein and Gelbard 1999, Tardieu et al 1992, Epstein and Gendelman 1993). If this occurs early on in CNS development global developmental delays will be present (Van Rie, 2007; McGarth et al, 2006) and abnormal reflexes as well as hypotonia or hypertonia may become evident (Mitchell, 2001; Tardieu et al, 2000; Armstrong, 1993)

The development of well functioning neural circuits is dependent on appropriate genetic and molecular signaling as well as from inputs from the environment and experiences obtained (Hadders- Algra, 2010; Stiles and Jernigan, 2010; Webb et al, 2001). Initially genetic signaling is essential but later on environment and experience are important to ensure appropriate brain development (Hadders-Algra, 2010).

As can be seen brain development is a complicated process involving many steps. It starts in the third week of gestation with the formation of the neural tube. Neural proliferation occurs and migration takes place to develop the gross structures of the CNS. Neurons differentiate into axons and dendrites. Neurotrophic factors and neurotransmitters are also produced. The brain grows in size. Elimination of neural components through apoptosis and synaptic pruning needs to occur in order to establish complex, optimal functioning neural networks. All of these processes are initially dependent on genetic and molecular signalling and then later become dependent on environmental inputs. Development of the CNS will affect infant development later on. Infancy is a critical period in brain development as

21

structures are growing rapidly (Webb et al, 2001); an insult in a particular area or during a particular stage of development may have dire consequences for the child.

HIV is a neurotrophic virus and is able to enter the CNS early on. Infection of the CNS may even occur prior to birth (McGarth et al, 2006; Smith et al, 2000). The infection may result in catastrophic consequences in the developing brain. An understanding of the normal development of the CNS is essential in gaining an understanding of how HIV influences CNS development. An in depth discussion on the neuro pathophysiology of HIV will be presented later in this review.

2.7.2. Cognitive Development

As the brain develops and matures through neural re-oraganisation cognitive development occurs (Stiles, 2000; Von Hofsten, 2009; Johnson and Munakata, 2005). Cognition is the ability to process information from the environment, to adapt to the information and to make decisions; it involves the mechanisms of learning and memory (Cromwell and Panksepp, 2011). Piaget first described cognitive development as occurring in stages that are influenced by interaction from neural structures and the environment (Law et al, 2011; Campbell et al, 2000). Various other models to explain how cognitive development occurs have been developed and cognitive development is now thought to be more dynamic and occurring through interaction between genetic, neural structures and experiences and environment (Johnson and Munakata, 2005; Campbell et al, 2000; Stiles, 2000). Most recently Bayesian learning and Bayesian networks involved in cognitive development have received a lot of attention in the literature (Gopnik and Tenebaum, 2007).

The development of cognitive function is highly dependent on the plasticity of the nervous system (Stiles, 2000). Plasticity is a dynamic process whereby there are structural and functional changes in the nervous system in order to adapt to the environment (Stiles, 2000). During childhood the brain is still developing and maturing and there is continuous re-organisation of neural networks (Stiles, 2000; Johnson and Munakata, 2005). For cognitive development to occur there is interaction between the environment and the nervous system (Stiles, 2000). Cognitive development is dependent on synaptic activity as well as the maturation of the subcortical system, prefrontal cortex and temporal lobe region (Stiles, 2000). Cognition may arise from either error driven learning or from self organisational learning (Johnson and Munakata, 2005). With error driven learning infants learn a skill by making so called

mistakes, responding to them correctly and changing. They learn to expect certain things from making errors (Johnson and Munakata, 2005). Self organisational learning occurs when an input from the environment alters task performance and creates a neural representation to perform a particular task (Johnson and Munakata, 2005).

Cognition starts early on and will continue in childhood and throughout adolescence (Johnson and Munakata, 2005; Stiles, 2000). A crucial period for its development is between eight to twelve months of age (Law et al, 2011). Early on there is a large amount of synaptic activity in the frontal cortex (Law et al, 2011). The neonate begins to explore and cognitive development starts (Von Hofsten, 2009). The neonate is able to recognise sounds, can differentiate its mother's voice, some colour perception skills are present and the child will respond visually to moving or three dimensional stimuli (Law et al, 2011). As time passes the child develops a visual preference for faces and he or she is able to identify their mother's face (Law et al, 2011). At one month of age there is increased myelination in the nervous system and with this comes improved attention and visual focusing (Law et al, 2011). By two months of age the child is able to discriminate between colours and can follow a moving object (Law et al, 2011; von Hofsten 2009). Object permanence develops, this is the ability to know that an object continues to exist even though it is hidden (Baillaregeon, 2004). Piaget thought that this skill only develops from eight months of age, however, in various studies Baillaregeon and colleagues have shown that object permanence starts developing from as early as two and a half months and continues to become more advanced in the first year of life (Baillaregeon, 2004). From three months of age the cortical and subcortical structures develop, there is the development of depth perception, facial recognition and the development of preference to patterns (Law et al, 2011). The child starts to visually prefer novel objects at this stage (Shinskey and Munakata, 2010). The infant will then start to follow objects. From six months of age they will fixate on objects and will attempt to get hold of them, they will reach and try to grasp both stationary and moving objects and problem solving through exploration and movement begins (von Hofsten, 2009). From eight to nine months of age more novel seeking behaviors start to develop and children start to look for novel hidden objects rather than familiar objects (Shinskey and Munakata, 2010). This behavior is essential for problem solving and for higher cognitive functioning (Shinskey and Munakata, 2010). The development of problem solving skills continues into the second year of life due to increased activity in the cortex and cerebellum. Children start to relate objects to each other (von Hoften, 2009). Memory skills develop from about eight months of age and continue to mature (Catherwood, 1993).

Cognition can be seen in infants from a very early stage, it develops as neural structures mature and through experience and interaction with the environment (Baillargeon, 2004; Stiles, 2000). Environmental and neural structural constraints as well as the child's motivation play a role in the development of cognition (Cromwell and Panksepp, 2011; Johnson and Munukata, 2005; Baillargeon, 2004). In order for cognitive development to occur the child needs to be given the opportunity to explore and to be stimulated (Von Hofsten, 2009).

2.7.3. Motor Development

From infancy through to adulthood children pass through a sequence of events in order to gain specific motor milestones in terms of posture, dexterity as well as locomotion (Vereijken, 2010). Development of motor function is highly variable (Roze et al, 2010; Vereijken, 2010; Hadders-Algra, 2010). In attaining their motor milestones a child may skip a particular stage or take longer to achieve a particular milestone compared to other children (Vereijken, 2010). Therefore, it is important to note that there is a wide range in which children develop motor function (Edwards and Sarwark, 2005).

Various theories on how motor function develops exist. Initially the neural maturationist theory was developed by Gesell (Hadders-Algra, 2000a). In this theory it is believed that motor development comes about as a result of the increased cortical control over primitive reflexes over a certain period of time (Hadders-Algra, 2010; Hadders-Algra, 2000a, Hadders-Algra, 2000b; Forssberg, 1999). This theory does not consider that other factors contribute to motor development. The Dynamic Systems Theory was then developed. This theory states that motor behaviors develop from interactions between various sub systems such as the infant's strength, body weight, mood and environmental experiences (Forssberg, 1999; Hadders-Algra, 2000a; Hadders-Algra, 2000b; Kamm et al, 1990). The theory postulates that motor function arises from self organisation of various subsystems and not simply from the maturation of the CNS (Kamm et al, 1990; Hadders-Algra, 2000a). To address the nature versus nurture debate Edelman developed a new theory to explain the development of motor function (Hadders-Algra, 2010). This is the Neuronal Group Selection Theory. This theory states that motor development occurs in two phases - a phase of primary variability and a phase of secondary or adaptive variability (Hadders-Algra 2010; 2000a; 2000b). The phase of primary variability allows movement to occur through a central pattern generator (Hadders-Algra, 2000a) which is a neuronal network that can elicit movement without
any sensory or environmental input (Calancie et al, 1994). In this phase primary neuronal repertoires are formed from many different neuronal networks (Hadders-Algra 2000a; 2010; 2000b). The phase of secondary variability occurs as afferent information obtained from experience, changes synaptic connections and ultimately refines movement to make it more functional (Hadders-Algra, 2010; 2000a; 2000b; Forssberg, 1999). In this way a secondary repertoire is created (Hadders-Algra, 2000a). The secondary repertoire allows the child to adapt in various environmental conditions (Hadders-Algra, 2010; 2000a; 2000b). This theory emphasises that there is interaction between both the environment as well as the genes (Hadders-Algra, 2010; 2000a; 2000b; Forssberg, 1999), and development cannot occur appropriately if one of these factors is faulty (Hadders-Algra, 2000b; 2010). This theory has become very popular in discussing how development occurs.

Motor development starts in foetal life (Forssberg, 1999; Hadders-Algra, 2010); this can be attributed to the presence of general movements in the foetus from about seven weeks post menstrual age (Hadders-Algra, 2010). The general movements are created by the central pattern generator (Frossberg, 1999; Hadders-Algra, 2010). These movements continue to exist postnatally (Hadders-Algra, 2010; Forssberg, 1999). At two to four months of age the general movements start to disappear and more functional goal directed movements can be observed in the infant (Hadders-Algra, 2000a; 2010). The reasons for changes occurring in movement is that experience has influenced afferent information resulting in increased activity in the basal ganglia, cerebellum as well as the parietal, temporal and occipital regions of the cortex (Hadders-Algra, 2010), synaptic connectivity is also changing at this stage (Hadders-Algra, 2000a). As increasing afferent information occurs there is selection of more specific movement patterns (Hadders-Algra, 2010) which results in more goal directed activity and function (Hadders-Algra, 2000a).

The development of postural control begins. From early on infants are able to activate trunk muscles in response to external perturbations (Hadders-Algra, 2005). Postural control is essential as it assists in the child developing a vertical position for their head and trunk against gravity and to maintain a stable base for when more functional movements need to occur such as reaching and walking (Hadders-Algra, 2005; Forssberg, 1999). At two to four months of age the infant starts stabilising their head on their trunk in order to visually gaze and track objects (Hadders-Algra, 2010). Successful reaching is usually obtained by four months of age (Hadders-Algra, 2010) but is initially highly variable due to inefficiency in the coordination of the trunk, shoulder and neck muscles (Forssberg, 1999) as well as the fact that exploration is still occurring (Hadders-Algra, 2000a). By seven to eight months reaching is better sequenced and

more goal directed (Hadders-Algra, 2010). Reaching develops as the motor cortex and corticospinal tracts develop (Hadders-Algra, 2010).

Sitting will start to occur from six months of age and postural control develops even more (Hadders-Algra, 2005; 2010). At this age there is a high level of activity in the frontal cortices (Hadders-Algra, 2005). Locomotion will then start to occur in the third quarter of the first year of life (Hadders-Algra, 2005; Forssberg, 1999). At nine to ten months of age there is increased activity in the parietal and frontal regions of the brain and with this comes fine tuning of postural muscle contraction (Hadders-Algra, 2005). Antagonistic co-activation of muscles begins to occur (Hadders-Algra, 2005; Forssberg, 1999). Crawling will take place and then walking starts. Initially the gait cycle is very immature and no heel strike is present (Hadders-Algra, 2005; 2010; Forssberg, 1999). Gait at this stage is similar to the movement seen with neonatal stepping (Hadders-Algra, 2000a, Forssberg, 1999). It is believed that with initial locomotion the central pattern generator is responsible for the majority of the movement (Forssberg, 1999), as more experience is obtained the supraspinal structures start to influence the central pattern generator and a more mature gait with heel strike is established (Hadders-Algra, 2000a; 2010). After three to four months of walking experience a more mature pattern of walking can be seen (Forssberg, 1999; Hadders-Algra, 2000a).

From 13 to 14 months there is mastery in skills obtained (Hadders-Algra, 2000a; 2005; Heineman et al, 2010). Improvements are seen in agility, adaptability and the ability to make more complex movements (Hadders-Algra, 2000a, 2005). This is a result of interaction with the environment as well as synaptic reorganisation, feed forward neural planning also assists in the development of postural control at this age (Hadders-Algra, 2005; 2010).

For motor development to occur there is an interplay between genetics controlling the CNS as well as experience that is obtained by the infant. Experience allows for motor solutions to specific environments to be developed and the child learns to adapt to various situations. However, without the development of the CNS the experiences will not occur and may result in delayed or abnormal motor development (Hadders-Algra, 2000b).

2.7.4. Language Development

Language is the ability to use words and to understand them (Kuhl, 2010). It is the ability to make your thoughts and wants known (Kuhl, 2010) and allows for communication with others.

For language development to take place neural re-organisation through pruning and growth has to occur (Bishop, 2000). Various areas in the brain are responsible for the acquisition of language (Bishop, 2000; Mills et al, 1997). In infancy and childhood the right hemisphere of the brain is responsible for the initial development of language (Friederici et al, 2011; Bishop, 2000; Mills et al 1997). As the brain circuitry improves and neural reorganisation takes place the left frontal and posterior temporal hemispheres are largely responsible for language (Friederici et al, 2011; Bishop, 2000; Mills et al, 1997). Neural re-organisation takes place in response to various environmental inputs and experiences (Schjølberg et al, 2011; Kuhl 2010; Bishop, 2000). Only essential information for language is retained (Bishop, 2000).

For appropriate language to occur the child is required to learn a variety of phonemes and syntax. Phonemes are the groups of sounds that are the building blocks for words and syntax is the grammar used (Bishop, 2000). It appears that children will start to learn language by imitating words and sentences (Bishop, 2000). Initially they will not break down the words or sentences but as more vocabulary is obtained words need to be stored in a specific way. Words are stored according to their similar sounds (phonemes) to form a lexicon (Bishop, 2000). As this happens phonological awareness improves (Bishop, 2000). The development of syntax appears to occur in a similar way (Bishop, 2000). This process takes many years and is probably only fully developed when the child learns to read (Bishop, 2000). Learning of the phonemes will occur in the first year and syntax learning takes places between 18 and 36 months (Kuhl, 2010).

Speech and language starts developing from an early age. From one to two months of age the child makes comfort sounds (Oller and Eilers, 1988), by three months they are cooing and at four months squealing, trills and yells can be heard, they also start to form vowel sounds (Oller and Eilers, 1988). During the first six months of life the infant communicates through facial expressions, by gazing and gesturing and starting to vocalise and imitate (Wankoff, 2011). From six to 12 months of age the child is able to distinguish phonemes (Kuhl, 2010). This ability will affect the ability to read later on (Kuhl, 2010). From seven months of age the infant starts forming syllables such as mamama and dadada (Oller and

Eilers, 1988). From 8 months of age infants start to understand single words (Kuhl, 2010) and by 12 months they should understand at least 50 words, this triples in the next two to three months (Mills et al, 1997). From nine months of age joint attention develops as well as turn taking, the infant is gesturing more and is also requesting, the child is able to participate in social routines at this age (Wankoff, 2011). From 12 to 18 months the infant starts to understand concepts and is able to follow simple instructions (Wankoff, 2011). In this time vocabulary will increase dramatically and there will be a "speech explosion" (Kuhl, 2010; Mills et al 1997), by 18 months the child should have a vocabulary of at least 50 words that then increases on a daily basis (Mills et al, 1997). Syntactic learning starts to occur from 18 months (Kuhl, 2010). From two to three years the child is able to engage in simple conversation and from three to four years they are able to tell a story (Wankoff, 2011). Reading skills then develop once the child attends school (Wankoff, 2011).

For appropriate speech and language development to occur there needs to be maturation of the brain, inputs from the environment, experience as well as social interaction (Schjølberg et al, 2011; Kuhl, 2010; Bishop, 2000;). Social interaction appears to be vital in the learning of language as exposure to sounds influences how reorganisation in the brain occurs (Kuhl, 2010). Social interaction assists learning of language by possibly increasing arousal levels to create a better learning environment, increasing the amount of information received, improving the sense of a relationship with the caregiver and increasing the activation of networks in the brain (Kuhl, 2010).

It can be seen that the development of speech and language is a dynamic process occurring form early on in life and continuing throughout childhood. Skills obtained in infancy are essential for development of language at a later stage and various factors influence the development of language, it is not simply dependent on maturation of the brain (Kuhl, 2010; Bishop, 2000).

2.7.5. Factors Influencing Normal Development

Child development is a complex process that is dependent on the brain maturing as well as on environmental inputs (Kuhl, 2010; Grantham-McGregor, 2007; Walker et al, 2007; Bishop, 2000; Hadders Algra, 2000b). Early development of the brain and of certain motor, cognitive and language skills is crucial for success in adolescence and adulthood (Grantham-McGregor, 2007). Various factors are able to disrupt a child's normal development which would result in catastrophic consequences later on in life.

Grantham McGregor et al (2007) estimate that over 200 million children below the age of five years are not achieving their developmental potential. If children do not achieve their developmental potential their ability to receive education and enter the schooling system will be adversely affected, this will affect their ability to find a job and may affect their earnings later in life (Engle et al, 2011; Grantham-McGregor, 2007; Engle et al, 2007). Their ability to be productive members of society will be harmed and poverty will continue to remain a problem resulting in an increased financial burden to the country (Grantham-McGregor et al, 2007).

This section will briefly discuss the various risk factors that affect child development.

A systematic review by Walker et al (2007) divides risk factors into two areas, namely biological risk factors and psychosocial risk factors. The effects of these risk factors depend on their timing, the presence of multiple or co-occurring risks and the reactivity of the child to the risk factors (Walker et al, 2011). Biological risk factors include nutrition, infectious diseases, environmental hazards as well as prematurity and genetic factors (Vieira and Linhares, 2011; Walker et al, 2011; Walker et al, 2007; Mikkola et al, 2005).

Intrauterine growth restriction, child under-nutrition, iodine and iron deficiency are nutritional risk factors. (Walker et al, 2007). Intrauterine growth restriction occurs when the foetus is not receiving adequate nutrition due to poor maternal nutrition. This may be detrimental to the child as brain development is occurring in this time and may be adversely affected. The child may also be born with a low birth weight which contributes to developmental delay. In the long term intrauterine growth restriction results in children developing poorly, they are less active and are at increased risk for behavioral problems (Walker et al, 2007). Child under nutrition is a common problem and will result in stunting. This in turn results in poor cognitive outcomes that continue into the school years and result in increased drop out from school (Walker et al, 2007). Iodine deficiency is associated with mental retardation and affects CNS developmental scores. Salt iodisation has been effective in decreasing the adverse effects of iodine deficiency (Engle et al, 2011; Engle et al, 2007). Chronic iron deficiency may result in poor cognitive outcome. Improvements may be seen with iron supplementation (Engle et al, 2007)

Infectious diseases such as intestinal parasites, diarrhoea and malaria adversely affect neurodevelopment and attempts should be made to prevent these diseases (Walker et al, 2007). HIV has severe effects on neurodevelopment, but will be discussed later in this literature review. Environmental hazards such as exposure to water contaminated by lead, arsenic and increased levels of manganese may decrease IQ scores (Walker et al, 2007). Exposure to pesticides may affect analytical and memory skills (Walker et al, 2007).

Prematurity adversely affects neurodevelopment. In a systematic review by Vieira and Linhanes (2011) it was found that preterm infants perform worse in all developmental areas compared to full term children. Extremely preterm infants are the most vulnerable (Vieira and Linhanes, 2011). Children born prematurely may also have decreased quality of life as well as behavioral difficulties. Prematurity may lead to problems in the school going years as well as later in life (Vieira and Linhanes, 2011; Mikkola et al, 2005). Genetic abnormalities as well as the presence of disabilities influence normal development (Walker et al, 2007).

Psycho-social risk factors that may influence development include parents providing cognitive stimulation to their children, parental sensitivity and responsivity, maternal depression and exposure to violence (Walker et al, 2007). Institutionalised children are at risk for developmental delay (Walker et al, 2011). In their systematic reviews Walker et al (2007) and (2011) found that the provision of cognitive stimulation to children improves cognitive function. This improvement may last into adolescence. Cognitive stimulation given by parents improves task orientation, behavior and self confidence and is therefore vital in achieving normal development (Walker et al, 2007; Walker et al, 2011). Engle et al (2007) found that providing stimulation programs directed at children and providing caregivers with information and improving their interaction skills as well as giving nutritional and health support is effective in decreasing developmental delay.

Poverty has a huge effect on development, as it is associated with nearly all the risk factors discussed above. Poverty results in inadequate nutrition, poor sanitation, increased infections as well as increased maternal stress, depression, and a poor maternal level of education (Engle et al, 2011; de Paiva et al, 2010; Grantham-McGregor, 2007). This will all lead to decreased stimulation at home (Walker et al, 2011; Walker et al, 2007). This results in poor cognitive development and affects later life as the child will be unable to access appropriate education (Walker et al, 2007). Inequities in society will continue to

exist and the whole cycle is repeated again, resulting in the problems being handed down to the next generation (Grantham-McGregor et al, 2007).

All of the risk factors discussed above affect families affected by HIV and contributes to HIV positive infants being delayed.

By encouraging normal child development and by decreasing the risk factors associated with poor development education levels will improve, adults become more productive members of society, inequalities are reduced and the cycle of poverty is decreased (Walker et al, 2011).

2.8. Neurological and Developmental Consequences of HIV

2.8.1. Neuro-pathogenesis of HIV

HIV is able to enter the central nervous system early on in infection resulting in an encephalopathy in infants and children (Epstein and Gelbard, 1999; Epstein and Gendelman, 1993; Davis et al, 1992). Radiological studies as well as histopathological studies have shown that there are abnormalities in up to 86% of children with HIV presenting with signs of encephalopathy and in up to 76% of children with no encephalopathic signs (Decarli et al, 1993; Boni et al, 1993; Lenhardt and Wiley, 1989). Even when no signs and symptoms of neurological involvement are present, HIV is still detectable in the CNS (Wilfert et al, 1994).

Radiological findings indicate cortical atrophy, ventricular enlargement, white matter pallor and vacuolation of white matter and calcification of the basal ganglia (Brouwers et al, 1995; Decarli et al, 1993; Belman et al, 1986). Calcification of the basal ganglia appears to be unique in paediatric patients (Decarli et al, 1993; Belman et al, 1986).

Since the 1980's studies have been conducted on autopsied brains in both adults and children infected with HIV. It has been determined that endothelial cells and macrophages are the targets for HIV infection (Wiley et al, 1986). Pathological findings include presence of infected macrophages, monocytes, microglia, endothelial cells as well as formation of multinucleated giant cells (Epstein and

Gelbard, 1999; Luzar et al, 1999; Ioannidis et al, 1995; Sei et al, 1995; Tornatore et al, 1994; Wilfert et al, 1994; Boni et al, 1993; Epstein and Gendelman, 1993; Lenhardt and Wiley, 1989; Navia et al, 1986; Sharer et al, 1986; Wiley et al, 1986;). Perivascular inflammation is present and is often associated with the presence of lymphocytes as well as a reactive gliosis in the CNS (Lenhardt and Wiley, 1989; Sharer et al, 1986; Navia et al, 1985). Reactive astrogliosis is present and alterations in the neocortical dendritic processes have been detected (Wilfert et al, 1994; Epstein and Gendelman, 1993; Lenhardt and Wiley, 1989; Navia et al, 1985). There is no evidence to suggest that neurons are infected directly with HIV, however astrocytes have also been found to be infected with HIV (Tornatore et al, 1994).

Neuronal loss is evident in the central nervous systems of patients infected with HIV and is especially prominent in the white matter and subcortical regions (Everall et al, 1991; Wiley et al, 1986). Wiley et al (1991) detected a 30 – 50% loss of neurons in patients with HIV compared to HIV uninfected patients, and Everall et al (1991) detected a 38% loss of neurons in the superior frontal gyrus of patients with HIV. Although this neuronal loss is present there is no evidence to suggest that neurons are directly infected with HIV (Epstein and Gelbard, 1999, Sei et al, 1995; Wilfert et al, 1994). Authors have suggested that a latent infection may be present in neurons or techniques to detect HIV are not yet advanced enough to detect the presence of HIV in neurons (Ensoli et al, 1997; Tardieu et al, 1992; Lenhardt and Wiley, 1989; Wiley et al, 1986). It appears more likely that the neuronal damage is probably due to indirect effects from other cells in the central nervous system (Epstein and Gelbard, 1995; Wilfert et al, 1999; Sei et al, 1995; Wilfert et al, 1999; Sei et al, 1995; Wilfert et al, 1999; Sei et al, 1995; Wilfert et al, 1992; Lenhardt and Wiley, 1989; Wiley et al, 1986). It appears more likely that the neuronal damage is probably due to indirect effects from other cells in the central nervous system (Epstein and Gelbard, 1999; Sei et al, 1995; Wilfert et al, 1999).

HIV is neurotrophic and causes neural damage either through direct infection into the CNS or through opportunistic infections or both (Blumberg et al, 1994; Epstein et al, 1987; Sharer et al, 1986). In the HIV positive paediatric population it appears unlikely that the damage is due to opportunistic infection and invasion of HIV into the CNS is more likely (Tornatore et al, 1994). It also appears that in the paediatric population HIV infection of the CNS occurs much earlier on in infection compared to adults (Tornatore et al, 1994). Lyman et al (1990), Davis et al (1992), Tornatore et al (1994) and Ioannidis et al (1995) have shown that HIV is able to enter the CNS early on and that CNS invasion may even occur at seroconversion.

Although a lot of research has been conducted since 1985, the exact neuropathogenesis of HIV is still not well understood. Various theories have been developed to explain how neuronal damage occurs with HIV infection.

Research indicates that there are several ways in which HIV is able to enter the CNS.

Macrophages and monocytes are central to the entry of HIV into the CNS. Macrophages and monocytes are infected early on in infection and act as reservoirs for the infection in the CNS (Dunfee et al, 2009; Schmidtmayerova et al, 1996; Tornatore et al, 1994; Peudenier et al, 1991). There are specific binding sites on the macrophages and monocytes that the HI virus is attracted to, HIV attaches itself to these binding sites and enters the macrophages and monocytes (Dunfee et al, 2009). Early on in infection there is a large amount of trafficking of infected macrophages, monocytes and T lymphocytes into the CNS (Dunfee et al, 2009; Van Rie et al, 2007; Schmidtmayerova et al, 1996; Blumberg et al, 1994; Tornatore et al, 1994; Wilfert et al, 1994; Epstein and Gendelman, 1993). Once in the brain an inflammation centre is created and there is increased spread of HIV (Schmidtmayerova et al, 1996). HIV is now able to infect microglial cells, these cells then in turn act as reservoirs for HIV infection (Ioannidis et al, 1995).

The blood brain barrier may also play a role in the entry of HIV into the CNS. The blood brain barrier may be damaged from the HIV infection; this would then allow the entry of the virus directly into the brain (Banks et al, 2006; Blumberg et al, 1994; Epstein and Gendelman, 1993). It has however been reported that with HIV infection there is very limited disruption to the blood brain barrier (Banks et al, 2006). Free viral particles and proteins as well as peripheral cytokines are able to cross the blood brain barrier and result in increased infection in the CNS (Banks et al, 2006; Blumberg et al, 1994; Epstein and Gendelman, 1993).

Once HIV is inside the CNS a number of pathological processes begin to occur which ultimately results in neuronal loss and damage. Numerous studies have shown that there are not enough macrophages in the brain to account for the vast amount of damage with HIV infection (Wilfert et al, 1994). Therefore, it is believed that several indirect processes may be responsible for the damage in the CNS (Epstein and Gendelman, 1999; Wilfert et al, 1994; Blumberg et al, 1994; Wiley et al, 1991; Lenhardt and Wiley, 1989)

33

Once inside the CNS, infected monocytes are able to adhere to neuronal cells, once attached to the neuronal cells a cytopathic process is initiated which results in neuronal damage as well as increased release of viral particles (Tardieu et al, 1992). The HIV envelope glycoprotein gp120 is able to attach to macrophages and microglia, these cells then interact with neuronal cells to stimulate the release neurotoxins which also result in damage (Epstein and Gendelman, 1999; Schmidtmayerova et al, 1996; Tornatore et al, 1994; Wilfert et al, 1994; Blumberg et al, 1994; Epstein and Gendelman, 1993; Tardieu et al, 1992;).

The neurotoxins believed to be responsible for the damage are tumour necrosis factor α (TNF α) and various cytokines such as IL- β (Van Rie et al, 2007; Schmidtmayerova et al, 1996). High levels of nitric oxide and quinolinic acid have also been detected in brains of patients infected with HIV (Van Rie et al, 2007; Sei et al, 1995). The release of these neurotoxins results in neural damage but may also cause increased recruitment of infected monocytes into the brain (Schmidtmayerova et al, 1996). Infected macrophages also show altered antimicrobial activity (Schmidtmayerova et al, 1996)

More recently the role of astrocytes in the neuropathogenesis of HIV has been studied. It has been shown that astrocytes are infected with HIV (Blumberg et al, 1994; Tornatore et al, 1994; Wiley et al, 1986). There are several ways in which the astrocytes may cause neuronal damage. Infected microglia and monocytes may interact with infected astrocytes to produce neurotoxins (Wilfert et al, 1994; Blumberg et al, 1994; Epstein and Gendelman, 1993). Cytokines such as TNFα, ILβ and arachidonic acid are produced (Wilfert et al, 1994; Blumber et al, 1994; Epstein and Gendelman, 1993). These cytokines cause neuronal damage. TNF α may stimulate HIV transcription in macrophages and astrocytes and cause damage to myelin and oligodendrocytes (Wilfert et al, 1994; Blumberg et al, 1994; Epstein and Gendelman, 1993). TNF α that is secreted may result in dysregulation of glutamate uptake in astrocytes (Epstein and Gelbard, 1999). Glutamate is essential for the maturation of the developing CNS. Increased glutamate would enhance oxidative stress in the neurons which would lead to neuronal death (Epstein and Gelbard, 1999). ILB results in astrocyte proliferation this in turn amplifies the effects of macrophages and causes increased amounts of pro inflammatory cytokines which results in central nervous system damage (Wilfert et al, 1994) The normal functioning of the astrocytes may be affected by the HIV infection (Van Rie et al, 2007; Tornatore et al, 1994; Wilfert et al, 1994; Blumberg et al, 1994). The infected astrocytes may have difficulty with the uptake of glutamate in the central nervous system, therefore the secretion of anti-inflammatory cytokines is limited. Excess glutamate in the CNS would

also result in neural toxicity (Blumberg et al, 1994; Wilfert et al, 1994). This would lead to insufficient and impaired maturation of neuronal and glial cells in the CNS (Epstein and Gelbard, 1999; Tornatore et al, 1994). Astrocytes may also act as a reservoir for HIV infection, this may then result in increased infection of microglia which adds to the viral burden on the CNS and increased production of inflammatory products and neural toxins (Tornatore et al, 1994)

Zhou et al (2011) have recently postulated that in patients with HIV infection there is dysregualtion of autophagy in the CNS and this contributes to the neuropathogenesis. They found that in HIV positive patients there are significantly increased levels of autophagic proteins and autophagosomes in neuronal cells and this has led them to believe that in HIV there is dysregulation of autophagy which may contribute to neuropathogenis of HIV. Limited research has been done in this area.

Therefore in summary, HIV is neurotrophic and causes damage in the CNS. The hallmark signs of HIV infection in the CNS include cerebral or cortical atrophy, ventricular enlargement, white matter pallor, vacuolation of white matter, basal ganglia calcification, presence of infected macrophages, monocytes, microglia and astrocytes, formation of multinucleated giant cells, perivascular inflammation, reactive gliosis and neuronal loss. Early on in infection monocytes and macrophages become infected with the virus and are able to cross the blood brain barrier to enter the CNS and cause infection of microglia and astrocytes. Free viral particles as well as viral proteins may also cross a disrupted blood brain barrier. Once inside the CNS various pathological processes occur. Monocytes, macrophages and microglia create an inflammation centre where neurotoxins such as TNF α and IL β are released resulting in neuronal damage. Infected astrocytes interact with monocytes and microglia to produce more neurotoxins. Astrocytic function may be altered resulting in decreased uptake of glutamate, the increased glutamate then results in neural toxicity. Astrocytes may also act as a viral reservoir and increase the viral burden on the CNS. Most recently altered autophagy in the CNS had been implicated in the neuropathogenesis.

From this it can be seen that HIV causes severe damage in the CNS and results in an HIV encephalopathy. Therefore, antiretroviral drugs are required to cross the blood brain barrier and stop the various pathological processes occurring to aim to decrease the catastrophic consequences of HIV encephalopathy (Van Rie et al, 2007; Sei et al, 1995)

35

2.8.2. The Neurological Effects of HIV

Research has clearly shown that HIV adversely affects neurological function in children (Willen et al, 2006; Mitchell, 2001; Tardieu et al, 2000; Gay et al 1995; Armstrong et al, 1993; Msellati et al, 1993). HIV infected infants often have delays in gaining developmental milestones and may continue to experience delays in cognitive, language and motor function (Van Rie et al, 2007). Delays may occur from as early as four months of age and may worsen if no intervention is given (Chase et al, 1995). This is of major concern. HIV is becoming a chronic illness (Armstrong et al, 1993), due to the initiation of HAART children with HIV are living longer and reaching school going age, developmental delays will affect their academic performance as well as participation and independence later in life (Burns et al, 2008). An understanding of neurodevelopment and the effects that HIV has on it is required so that we can see the challenges facing these children as they grow older and so that appropriate interventions can be planned for them.

2.8.2.1. HIV Encephalopathy

HIV is able to enter the CNS and cause damage as discussed in the previous section. This damage will result in an HIV encephalopathy (Van Rie et al, 2007).

HIV encephalopathy is an AIDS defining illness (WHO, 2005) occurring in a large percentage of HIV infected children and may present itself even before the age of six months (Bruck et al, 2001; Belman et al, 1996). It can be defined as the failure to attain or the loss of developmental milestones (Tardieu et al, 2000). It is accompanied by impaired brain growth, a possible acquired microcephaly, loss of cognitive and motor function, abnormal tone and reflexes, decreased muscle strength, pyramidal tract signs, ataxia and seizures (Willen et al, 2006; Mitchell, 2001; Tardieu et al, 2000; Gay et al, 1995; Armstrong et al, 1993; Msellati et al, 1993). It may eventually lead to spastic quadriparesis (Tardieu et al, 2000). There are various types of encephalopathy.

A static encephalopathy is present when the child attains their various developmental milestones, but at a much slower rate than their healthy peers. There is no loss of function in this type of encephalopathy (Willen et al, 2006; Chase et al, 1995). A plateau progressive encephalopathy occurs when the child has attained certain developmental milestones but then stops developing, no new milestones are attained. Eventually the child may regress and lose previous function (Van Rie et al, 2007; Willen et al, 2006; Bruck et al, 2001; Chase et al, 1995; Gay et al, 1995). A sub-acute progressive encephalopathy occurs when there is sudden loss of previously attained milestones (Willen et al, 2006; Gay et al, 1995). The progressive encephalopathy may be associated with acquired microcephaly as well as pyramidal tract signs (Van Rie et al, 2007).

Various studies have shown varying rates of incidences for HIV encephalopathy. In a large study on a French cohort it was found that the incidence of encephalopathy in the first year of life is 9.9%, in the second year of life 4.2% and from the third year of life less than 1% (Van Rie et al, 2007; Tardieu et al, 2000). DeCarli et al (1993) found that 54/83 patients she and her colleagues were studying were encephalopathic. HIV encephalopathy presents with various neurological abnormalities and the incidences of these abnormalities are quite high. Msellati et al (1993) reported that 60 – 90% of HIV infected children present with neurological abnormalities, in a retrospective study Foster et al (2006) reported a much lower percentage of 22.5% of HIV positive children presenting with neurological abnormalities. Knight et al (2000) however, reported that 50% of the children in their study presented with neurological abnormalities, however, most of the children had been exposed to drugs during gestation. Brouwers et al (1995) on the other hand found that 73 /87 patients she was studying had neurological abnormalities on CTB. Tahan et al (1996) found that when comparing HIV positive children to serorevertors, the HIV positive group had a much greater percentage of neurological abnormalities.

The so called HIV encephalopathy often presents before other opportunistic infections and AIDS defining illnesses and may even present before the child becomes immune-compromised (Van Rie et al, 2007; Mitchell, 2001; Tardieu et al, 2000; Belman et al, 1996; Chase et al, 1995). In many cases it is the first sign of HIV infection in the child (Potterton and Van Aswegen, 2006; Chase et al, 1995). Once encephalopathy is present, the risk of mortality increases (Mitchell 2001; Tardieu et al, 2000) and the child often becomes more immune-compromised (Tardieu et al, 2000).There may also be increased number of hospitalisations (Potterton and Van Aswegen, 2006). Tardieu et al (2000) found that once HIV encephalopathy is present mean length of survival is 14 months. In this study the majority of children were on AZT and over 30% were on a combination of ARV's.

Several studies have shown risks predisposing the child to developing an encephalopathy.

37

Belman et al (1996) found that children who present with other AIDS opportunistic infections, greater immuno-suppression, lower CD4 count, poorer growth and have smaller head circumferences have worse neurological outcome. They deduced that disease severity will influence neurological outcome. Tardieu et al (2000) found that the risk of developing an encephalopathy is associated with the mother's CD4 count at birth as well as the child's CD4 count, in the child it may be related to the presence of an enlarged spleen or liver, adenopathy as well as decreased weight. Pollack et al (1996) showed that poor growth and higher viral loads contributed to worse neurological outcome. Van Rie et al (2007) in a review reported that the risk of developing an encephalopathy is related to the child's immune status, viral load, timing of infection, route of transmission as well as maternal health. It can be seen from these studies that the child's health as well as their growth contributes to the risk of developing encephalopathy

Interestingly, McGarth et al (2006) found that the timing of HIV infection plays a role in neurological outcome and functioning. The authors found that if a child was diagnosed in the first 21 days post birth they were 14.9 times more likely to have a delay compared to children without infection. If diagnosed after 21 days of life they were 3.2 times more likely to have a developmental delay when compared to uninfected peers. Neurodevelopment during the first 18 months of life among those who tested positive later on was less affected. Tardieu et al (2000) found that children with early encephalopathy were already different at birth when compared to peers without encephalopathy – they tended to have a smaller head circumference which could be attributed to decreased brain growth during gestation. This could indicate that they were infected earlier on and supports McGarth and colleagues' notion that timing of HIV infection plays a role in neurodevelopment.

The reason that timing of infection plays a role in the risk of developing an encephalopathy is that the brain develops in various stages (Anderson et al, 2011). HIV may attack the brain in a crucial stage of development. Early infection could result in interference with myelination and projection of fibers to various cortical regions, this would cause a global developmental delay. Infection that occurs later on i.e.: intrapartum or postnatally may cause interference in the development of neural networks in the prefrontal cortex, this region is responsible for mental capabilities therefore cognitive function would be affected more (McGarth et al, 2006).

Developmental delay is associated with HIV encephalopathy. Research has been conducted to determine the extent of delay experienced by children with HIV. Many studies have been conducted in first world countries and results may not pertain to the developing world where the majority of HIV infected children live. The various facets of development affected by HIV will be discussed below:

2.8.2.2. The Effects of HIV on Cognitive Development

Rates of cognitive delay may be as high as 90% in children infected with HIV (Armstrong et al, 1993). Newell et al (1995) found that 54% of HIV positive children of school going age had cognitive difficulties. Children who are infected with HIV experience cognitive delays and function below age expected norms (Potterton et al, 2009a; Potterton et al, 2009b; Van Rie et al, 2007; McGarth et al, 2006; Foster et al, 2006; Pearson et al, 2000; Armstrong et al, 1993).

Two systematic reviews have been conducted looking at the effects of HIV on development. Both studies found that HIV infection has a detrimental effect on cognitive development. Sherr et al (2009) found that 81% of studies examining cognitive development in HIV positive children showed that HIV adversely affects cognitive function. Sherr et al (2009) argued that although such a high percentage of studies showed that HIV adversely affects cognitive development the literature is inadequate. In their systematic review a large number of studies were reviewed, however most came from North America and very few of the studies analysed had control groups. There were very broad age ranges of children analysed in the various studies, making comparisons difficult. Abubaker et al (2008) reviewed literature pertaining to sub-Saharan Africa. They were only able to review seven articles and the age range of children studied was also broad in many of the studies. In both systematic reviews, various standardised assessment tools were used between different studies and both of the reviews failed to mention the type of care that the HIV positive groups received. It would have been useful to note if the children were receiving ARV's or not. In both systematic reviews it was difficult to compare studies, as often there was variation in the methodology and quality of the studies, various standardised tools were used and different age groups of children were studied. Very little literature is available pertaining to children in developing countries; this is of concern as the majority of children with HIV reside in sub-Saharan Africa. A number of studies assessing the effects of HIV on cognitive development have been conducted in developed countries. Pearson et al (2000) studied children aged three months to 16 years who were on ARV's and found that cognitive development is delayed in HIV positive children. In their study there was a large loss to follow up and a very wide age range of study participants. Due to the wide age range

various standardised tests including the Bayley Scales of Infant Development, McCarthy Scales of Children's Abilities and Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children, Revised had to be used. Different lengths of follow up also took place and children were not followed for the same amount of time. Smith et al (2000) in a USA study also found that HIV positive infants are delayed in cognitive function. The BSID was used to assess infants from birth until the age of 30 months. Not all the infants in this study were receiving ARV therapy.

In the above studies comparisons with healthy or uninfected children were not made and therefore the researchers could not control for other factors that may have influenced cognitive development. In studies comparing HIV positive children to HIV exposed uninfected and healthy uninfected, unexposed controls, the HIV positive children tend to score significantly lower for measures of cognitive function (Bruck et al, 2001; Blanchette et a, 2001; Knight et al, 2000; Pollack et al, 1996; Chase et al, 1995; Gay et al, 1995).

Studies have been conducted in North America on HIV positive infants less than two years of age, who were followed for an extended period of time and compared to HIV exposed uninfected infants. These studies found that HIV positive infants score significantly lower cognitive scores compared to HIV exposed uninfected infants (Blanchette et al, 2001; Knight et al, 2000; Pollack et al, 1996; Chase et al, 1995). Even though all the studies looked at infants and used the BSID, variations between the studies exist. Blanchette et al (2001) studied a group of healthy HIV positive Canadian children and compared them to HIV exposed uninfected children, in their study no mention was made of ARV usage among the study population. They also studied a slightly older population compared to the other studies which studied children from birth until 24 or 30 months of age. Knight et al (2000) also had no mention of ARV usage in their study and their study was retrospective in nature. Pollack et al (1996) reported the use of ZDV in some of the infected children and in Chase et al (1995) all children were aggressively treated with ARV's. In Knight et al (2000) and Chase et al (1995) there was a high percentage of maternal drug use which may have impacted upon results, however the authors do report that the groups studied were similar at baseline. Pollack et al (1996) did not control for maternal substance abuse in their study and mentioned that this could have had an impact on their results. Gay et al (1995) controlled for substance abuse in a sample of HIV positive Haitian women. The infants studied did not receive ARV therapy and it was found that their cognitive development was significantly lower when compared to HIV exposed uninfected children, however a language barrier may have resulted in poorer cognitive test scores and

these participants would have come from worse socioeconomic backgrounds compared to the participants in the other studies. Bruck et al (2001) studied HIV positive children and HIV exposed uninfected children in Brazil using the Child Adaptive Test and Denver Developmental Screen Test and also found that the HIV positive group scored significantly lower when compared to the HIV exposed uninfected group and healthy controls. However, a large percentage of the children in the HIV positive group became institutionalised over the course of the study and this may have impacted the results.

Even though methodology of the studies improved and comparisons were being made between groups of HIV infected and HIV uninfected children and the age range of children studied was narrower, differences still remained between different studies and factors other than HIV may have influenced the results. Many of the children studied had been exposed to drugs during gestation, some children were on ARV's and others were not and once again a variety of outcome measures were used. To draw conclusions from these studies is thus difficult.

More recently a number of studies have emerged from sub-Saharan Africa that indicate that children infected with HIV have severe cognitive delays (Kandawasvika et al 2011; Abubaker et al, 2009; Potterton et al, 2009b; Van Rie et al, 2009; Baillieu and Potterton, 2008; Van Rie, 2008)

Baillieu and Potterton (2008) and Potterton et al (2009b) both conducted studies in an urban South African setting. They both studied HAART naïve, HIV infected children aged less than 30 months using the BSID II. Baillieu and Potterton (2008) found that children infected with HIV functioned 7.63 months below chronological age for cognitive development. Potterton et al (2009b) found that 78% of the sample studied had a cognitive delay. Although power calculations were used to determine sample size in both studies and infants of a very similar age were studied, unfortunately the studies made no comparison with healthy or uninfected children. Abubaker et al (2009) studied ARV naïve HIV infected children and compared them to HIV exposed uninfected and healthy children in Kenya. The children were aged between six months and 35 months. The authors found the HIV positive children scored lower for cognitive developmental Inventory to assess development. Even though the validity and reliability of this tool was determined, the quality of the study would have been better had they used a more internationally recognised standardised tool such as the BSID. Van Rie et al (2009) used the BSID in HIV positive, HIV negative and HIV exposed uninfected children aged 18 to 71 months and followed

them for 12 months. Some of the children received HAART, others only medical care and nutritional support. The majority of children were quite ill suffering WHO stage III or IV disease and had very low CD4 percentages. Unfortunately once again a broad age range of children were studied and children had started HAART throughout the study period which may have impacted upon results. Kandawasvika et al (2011) studied 65 HIV infected Zimbabwean children and compared them to HIV exposed uninfected children using the Bayley Infant Neurodevelopmental Screener and found that HIV positive infants are at high risk for neurodevelopmental delay. Unfortunately very little detail was given on the exact facets of development as only a screening test was used and no mention was made of the use of ARV's in the study population.

It has been found that cognitive function in HIV positive children tends to decline with time (Pollack et al, 1996; Chase et al, 1995; Gay et al, 1995; Nozyce et al, 1994). Both Chase et al (1995) and Pollack et al (1996) found that initially when comparing HIV positive infants to uninfected infants cognitive scores between groups are similar. Pollack et al (1996) then found that at 12 months the HIV positive group had significantly lower scores and these scores remained low at 18 and 24 months of age. It is important to note that in Pollack et al (1996) there was a large percentage of drug exposure during gestation which could impact upon cognitive development. The decline seen in cognitive function may be due to a language barrier influencing test results as the child becomes older (Gay et al, 1995) or because the virus is now affecting areas of the brain responsible for cognitive function. Myelination of the frontal cortex and parietal areas occurs rapidly from this stage and may be affected by the neuro-pathological process of HIV (Fishkin et al, 2000; Gay et al, 1995). In a study conducted in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, baseline cognitive scores of the HIV positive group were significantly lower than those of the HIV exposed uninfected group and healthy controls. However, by 12 months of follow up the HIV positive group had similar cognitive scores when compared to the HIV exposed uninfected children but they were still functioning lower than the healthy controls (Van Rie et al, 2009). In this study they examined children of a very wide age range (18 to 71 months) and children had initiated HAART throughout the course of the study. Care between children also differed, as some received HAART, others only medical care and nutritional support and some received tips on how to stimulate the child. Various standardised tests were also used throughout the study period due to the wide age range of children and this makes comparisons over time difficult.

Some studies have found no differences in cognitive function between groups. Bagenda et al (2006) studied HIV positive Ugandan children aged six to 12 years who were HAART naïve and compared them to HIV exposed uninfected and HIV negative children using the Kaufman Assessment Battery for Children. They found no significant difference in standardised test scores for intelligence, reading and writing between the groups. Fishkin et al (2000) in a USA study compared cognitive functioning in asymptomatic HIV positive and HIV negative controls aged three to five years. They used the Wechsler Preschool and Primary Scale of Intelligence - Revised. In their study they also found no differences for frontal functioning skills when comparing HIV positive children to healthy controls. The age range in their study population was narrower than in Bagenda's study and a different standardised test was also used; therefore it is difficult to draw conclusions from these studies.

HIV positive children often experience learning difficulties and specific areas of cognitive development contribute to these difficulties (Burns et al, 2008; Armstrong et al 1993). Children infected with HIV often have visuo-spatial deficits and difficulties with perceptual tasks (Van Rie et al, 2007; Foster et al, 2006; Smith et al 2006; Fishkin et al 2000; Boivin et al, 1995; Newell et al 1995; Armstrong et al, 1993). There are problems with information processing (Foster et al, 2006; Fishkin et al, 2000; Boivin et al, 2008; Smith et al 2000; Boivin et al, 1995) as well as with memory skills (Burns et al, 2008; Smith et al 2006 Pearson et al, 2000; Boivin et al, 1995). The ability to sustain attention on a task is also affected (Foster et al, 2006; Fishkin et al, 2000; Pearson et al, 2000; Armstrong et al, 1993) Boivin et al (1995) found that visual recognition was also a problem. It appears that areas of cognitive development most affected are those areas reliant on adequate executive function (Van Rie et al, 2007) which depends on frontal cortex development (Fishkin et al, 2000)

Poor cognitive outcome in HIV infected children is associated with severity of the disease (Potterton et al 2009b; Bertou et al 2008; Burns et al, 2008; Foster et al, 2006, Smith et al, 2006; Pearson et al, 2000; Nozyce et al, 1994). The presence of an HIV associated condition predisposes the child to cognitive delay (Foster et al, 2006; Smith et al, 2006; Nozyce et al, 1994). CD4 counts and viral loads are predictive of neuro-cognitive outcome (Pearson et al 2000, Chase et al 1995 and Newell et al 1995). Growth failure also contributes to cognitive development (Potterton et al 2009b; Pollack et al 1996).

The presence of a neurological abnormality or an abnormality on brain scans contributes to worse cognitive function (Thomaidis et al, 2010; Blanchette et al, 2001; Knight et al, 2000; Brouwers et al, 1995). Thomaidis et al (2010) conducted a study in Greece on children aged three to 18 years who were

all on HAART and found that if a neurological abnormality is present, 40% of children have moderate mental retardation and 40% have severe mental retardation. Brouwers et al (1995) found that children with calcifications scored significantly lower on IQ tests. They hypothesize that cognitive dysfunction in HIV is due to structural brain changes caused by HIV rather than environmental influences. Other factors such as poverty, the poor socio-economic circumstances that the children live in and parental death may adversely affect cognitive outcome (Burns et al, 2008; Armstrong et al, 1993).

Studies on the effects of HIV on cognitive development have often looked at a wide age range of children, different standardised tests have been used and often children receive different types of care – some children are on ARV's and others are not. However, when all factors have been considered cognitive development appears to be adversely affected by HIV.

2.8.2.3. The effects of HIV on motor development

Motor development is often affected in children infected with HIV (Baillieu and Potterton, 2008; Foster et al, 2006; McGarth et al, 2006; Pearson et al, 2000; Armstrong et al, 1993). Motor development appears to be affected before cognitive and language function and also seems to be more severely affected than other facets of development (Baillieu and Potterton, 2008; Foster et al, 2006; Drotar et al, 1997). Motor developmental delay in HIV positive children may be present form early on (Abubakar et al, 2008). Chase et al (1995) detected motor developmental delay from as early as four months of age.

In various studies conducted in South Africa high levels of motor delay have been detected. Potterton and Eales (2001) found that 40% of an HIV infected sample of infants presented with motor delays. Unfortunately in this study only a screening assessment was performed. A few years later the standard of assessment tools used in South African HIV studies improved. Baillieu and Potterton (2008) used the BSID II and found that 97% of their sample had a motor delay and were functioning 9.65 months below their chronological age. In this study the infants were HAART naïve and came from very poor socioeconomic backgrounds. Unfortunately, a comparison group was not used in this study. Potterton et al (2009b) found that in a large sample of HIV infected children aged less than two and a half years, 87% presented with a motor delay with three quarters of the sample presenting with a severe delay. In this study the BSID II was also used and most of the children were HAART naïve. The study population also came from poor socioeconomic backgrounds and CD4 percentages at baseline were low. Once again there was no comparison group of uninfected children in the study. In two studies conducted in Cape Town, South Africa, motor development was also found to be worse in HIV positive children compared to HIV negative children. Ferguson and Jelsma (2009) studied children aged one to 33 months and used the BSID II as their assessment tools. Sixty one percent of their sample was on HAART. Jelsma et al (2011) studied an older population of institutionalised HIV positive children. The children were aged three to six years and were assessed using the Peabody Developmental Motor Scale II. They found that HIV positive children perform worse compared to HIV negative children. In this study all children had been on HAART for five months or more. Unfortunately the children in this study were institutionalised and this may have impacted on the results. Bruck et al (2001) also studied institutionalised children and questioned whether this affected their results. In Jelsma et al (2011) all children resided in institutions and a significant delay was still detected in the HIV positive population. Shead et al (2010) also studied South African institutonalised HIV infected children and compared them to HIV uninfected children . They used the BSID II for their assessment and had similar findings to that of Jelsma et al (2011). Shead et al (2010) also saw no improvement for motor function over time, however the majority of children in this study were not receiving HAART.

Other studies from developing countries have also detected a high incidence of motor delay in HIV infected children (Abubaker et al 2009, Abubaker et al, 2008; Van Rie et al, 2008). Msellati et al (1993) used an independently designed assessment tool to determine motor function in HIV positive Rwandan infants from birth to 24 months. She compared them to HIV exposed uninfected infants as well as healthy controls. The children were not receiving ARV's. Unfortunately no validity or reliability was determined for the assessment tool that was developed therefore results may be questionable. A study in Zaire then used screening tools to determine motor function in ARV naïve HIV positive infants. Although a more standardised assessment tool was used, there was no power calculation and the sample size was small, results were also not analysed by intention to treat (Boivin et al, 1995). Drotar et al (1997) assessed motor function in HIV positive infants from birth to 24 months using the BSID. The study was conducted in Uganda and children did not receive ARV therapy. No power calculation was reported in the study and there were very few HIV positive infants compared to HIV exposed uninfected infants and healthy controls. A large loss to follow up was also seen in this study. Abubaker et al (2009) used the Kiliffi Developmental Inventory to assess 49 HIV positive, HAART naïve children and compare them to HIV exposed uninfected and HIV unexposed uninfected children. They found that the HIV positive group was more delayed for motor development when compared to the other groups. In this study, the use of a more internationally recognised standardised tool would have allowed for better

comparisons with other studies. Van Rie et al (2008) used the BSID II and Peabody Developmental Motor Scales 2nd Edition in HIV positive children from the Democratic Republic of Congo with an age range of 18 – 71 months. They found motor development to be more affected than in the other groups. Unfortunately a wide age range was studied and children had started HAART throughout the course of the study period which may have influenced the results. Children from this study also came from poor socioeconomic backgrounds.

The variety of assessment tools used in studies from developing countries as well as the wide age ranges studied makes comparison between studies difficult. Also, in most studies, children initiate HAART throughout the study period and not all infants are always receiving HAART making it difficult to draw conclusions from the results.

In studies conducted in developed countries motor development has also been found to be adversely affected by HIV. The BSID has been used consistently in most of the studies and a narrower age range of children have been assessed making comparisons between studies easier. Chase et al (1995) compared motor function in HIV positive, HIV exposed uninfected and HIV unexposed uninfected infants aged three to 30 months. The HIV positive infants received aggressive ARV therapy throughout the course of the study and motor delay was detected early on and continued to persist. In this study a large percentage of children were exposed to drugs during pregnancy and this may have influenced the results. No power calculation was done in this study. Knight et al (2000) had similar findings in their retrospective study and also reported a high percentage of infants being exposed to drugs during pregnancy. No data was available on ARV use in this study. Blanchette et al (2001) compared motor development in clinically healthy Canadian HIV positive and HIV exposed uninfected infants and also made no mention of ARV use.

As with cognitive function, motor development seems to decline over time (Burns et al, 2008; Pollack et al, 1996; Nozyce et al, 1994). Gay et al (1995) did not find that motor function declined with time. They studied a group of HIV positive Haitian infants from three months of age and followed them until they turned two years old. The BSID was used in this study and comparisons with an HIV exposed group was made. Unfortunately there was no mention of ARV therapy or disease severity in this study.

Motor abnormalities found in HIV positive children may include increased tone or hypotonia, abnormal reflexes, ataxia and decreased strength (Willen et al, 2006; Tardieu et al, 2000; Mitchell, 2001; Gay et al, 1995; Armstrong et al, 1993; Msellati et al, 1993). It has been found that gross motor function is more delayed than fine motor function in children with HIV infection (Jelsma et al, 2011; Baillieu and Potterton, 2008; Van Rie et al 2007; Msellati et al 1993). Gross motor function may be more delayed due to the fact that often HIV positive children are stunted and lack of nutrition will affect motor outcome, strength is a problem in these children and tone abnormalities may contribute to the problem (Abubakar et al, 2009; Potterton et al, 2009b; Baillieu and Potterton, 2008). Function is often poor in activities requiring postural stability, motor co-ordination as well as a large amount of eccentric strength (Baillieu and Potterton, 2008; Potterton and Eales, 2001). The activities commonly affected include skipping, jumping, stair climbing and sit to stand (Baillieu and Potterton, 2008)

Motor developmental delay is also associated with severity of disease stage (Abubakar et al, 2009; Foster et al, 2006; Nozyce et al, 1994) as well as with CD4 counts and viral loads (Pearson et al 2000; Chase et al, 1995). Physical growth appears to play an important role in motor development (Abubakar et al, 2009; Potterton et al 2009b;; Boivin et al, 1995). Abubakar et al (2009) found that if the child has an advanced disease stage and is underweight, lower scores for motor development can be expected. Those children with abnormalities present on brain scans may perform worse with motor activities (Blanchette et al, 2001; Knight et al 2000; Drotar et al, 1997). There is also increased prevalence of motor delay with increasing age (Potterton et al 2009b; Van Rie et al, 2007).

A vast amount of research is available and shows that HIV affects motor development, however, it is often difficult to make comparisons between studies. Many studies have been conducted in the developed world where prenatal drug exposure is a problem, however care of HIV infected children is often better and participants often come from better socioeconomic backgrounds compared to participants in studies conducted in developing countries. Different studies often use a variety of different assessment tools making comparison difficult. Usually a wide age range of participants are also studied. Results and comparison are also influenced by the fact that ARV's are initiated at various intervals during the course of a study or children don't receive ARV's at all. Although this impacts upon analysis of the results, the evidence still strongly suggests that motor development is influenced by HIV.

2.8.2.4. The effects of HIV on language development

The understanding of how language is affected by HIV is important as language is an essential component of academic success. Appropriate speech and language skills are required for literacy, understanding, and reading capabilities as well as for independence later in life (Brackis-Cott et al, 2009). Considering that language plays such an important role in our lives, very limited research is available on how HIV affects language.

Speech and language is adversely affected by HIV (Baillieu and Potterton, 2008; Van Rie et al, 2007; Pearson et al, 2000; Newell et al, 1995). A number of studies have been done on HIV infected children without comparing them to uninfected children from similar socioeconomic backgrounds.

Baillieu and Potterton (2008) in a South African study found that 82.5% of HAART naïve HIV infected children aged 18 to 30 months had a language delay. Potterton et al (2009b) also used the BSID II in mainly HAART naïve children aged less than two and a half years and found that language was delayed. In both studies the BSID II was used and HAART naive children were assessed. The BSID as well as other standardised tests was also administered on HIV positive, ARV exposed children in the USA aged three months to 16 years and it was found that they were delayed (Pearson et al 2000). Newell et al (1995) also looked at language function in school aged children in the USA, receiving ARV therapy and found that most had speech and language difficulties. In their study they did not use the BSID to assess language. Wolters et al (1997) in the USA used the Reynell, Clinical evaluation of Language and FSIQ to assess language in HIV positive children aged one to 13 years who were HAART naïve at baseline and found that the group was delayed for language function. Only one assessor assessed all the children which would enhance the reliability of the study, however a very large age group of HIV symptomatic children were assessed and this may have adversely influenced the results. It is difficult to make comparisons between the two South African studies and the studies conducted in the USA. The age groups studied were completely different and in the USA studies children were receiving ARV therapy. Different assessment tools were also used in all the different studies, making comparisons difficult.

Language function appears to be significantly decreased in HIV positive children when they are compared to their uninfected peers (Boivin et al, 1995; Brackis-Cott et al, 2009; Coplan et al 1998; Van Rie et al, 2008). Van Rie et al (2008) and Coplan et al (1998) both used the BSID to compare language function in HIV positive infants and HIV exposed uninfected infants and found language scores to be

48

significantly lower in the HIV positive group. Comparisons between these two studies are difficult as in Van Rie et al (2008) children were not on ARV's and they came from very poor socioeconomic circumstance. Their study was conducted in the Democratic Republic of the Congo whereas Coplan et al (1998) conducted their study in the USA, therefore the socioeconomic situation between the participants in the two studies would have been very different. The age range of infants studied in Van Rie et al (2008) was also much wider than in Coplan et al (1998). Van Rie et al (2008) used the Rosetti Infant Language Scale compared to the ELM 2 used in Coplan et al (1998). This makes comparison between the two studies difficult. Brackis-Cott et al (2009) looked at language function in a HIV positive population that were on ARV's aged nine to sixteen years and compared them to HIV exposed uninfected children and found language to be delayed in the HIV positive group. Once again a far older age group was assessed.

The onset of speech and language delay occurs much later on than with cognitive and motor function. The delay often only becomes apparent once children start having difficulty with their academic performance and reading ability (Brackis-Cott et al, 2009). It appears that language function declines over time (Coplan et al, 1998; Wolters et al, 1997). Coplan et al (1998) in a small sampled, long term follow up study found that out of the nine participants they were studying, seven deteriorated in terms of language function. Wolters et al (1997) studied far more children and also found that language function declines over time, unfortunately no comparison was made with uninfected children in this study.

There appears to be a trend for expressive language to be more delayed than receptive language (Baillieu and Potterton 2008; Foster et al, 2006; Wolters et al, 1997). The discrepancy between expressive and receptive communication seems to persist. Wolters et al (1997) found that even at 24 months expressive language scores were significantly lower when compared to receptive language scores in HIV positive children. The reason for expressive language being more delayed than receptive language may be due to the influence of motor development. Expressive language is dependent on motor development (Coplan et al, 1998) and motor development is often delayed in HIV positive children (Baillieu and Potter ton, 2008; Foster et al, 2006; McGarth et al, 2006; Pearson et al, 2000; Armstrong et al, 1993). Verbal deficits as well as articulation problems are often present in HIV positive children (Boivin et al, 1995; Newell et al, 1995). Brackis-Cott et al 2009 also found that HIV positive

children have poor verbal ability, a limited vocabulary and lack prerequisite skills required for reading, word recognition was also of major concern.

Language development, as with cognitive and motor development in HIV, is related to severity of disease stage, CD4 counts and viral loads (Pearson et al, 2000; Newell et al, 1995). Wolters et al (1997) found that the presence of encephalopathy in the child also predisposes them to language delay especially in expressive language.

Limited research is available on language development in HIV positive children. Comparisons between studies are also difficult to make due studies being conducted in developed and developing countries, the use of HAART in the different studies, the wide age ranges studied as well as the different standardised tests used in the studies. Even though these barriers exist in the research, language development still appears to be adversely affected in HIV positive children.

2.8.3. The Effects of HAART on Neurodevelopment

HAART is clearly effective in reducing mortality and improving general health (Violori et al, 2008). However, its effects on neurodevelopment remain questionable. Very little good quality research has been done to assess the effects of HAART on neurodevelopment. Studies that have been done show contradictory results. Children on HAART are now living longer and if neurodevelopment is still affected in these children it will affect their quality of life later on (Burns et al, 2008).

Several studies have shown some benefit of HAART on neurological outcomes and HIV encephalopathy. Chiriboga et al (2005), Patel et al (2009) and Sanchez-Ramon et al (2005) all found that HAART decreased the incidence of HIV encephalopathy. Chiriboga et al (2005) had no long follow up of the children in their study and simply looked at the incidence of encephalopathy as well as school placement in children infected with HIV. They found that if viral load was undetectable and well controlled there was a decreased likelihood of developing progressive HIV encephalopathy. Patel et al (2009) studied a group of HIV positive children with existing neurological abnormalities who resided in the USA. They found that with the use of HAART the incidence of encephalopathy is reduced by 50%. Unfortunately in this study they observed patient records which resulted in various clinicians assessing neurological abnormalities and manifestations of encephalopathy. This may have affected the reliability of the study.

All the children in the study had to have an existing neurological abnormality and this may have influenced the results as not all HIV positive children present with neurological abnormalities that are easily detectable. Sanchez-Ramon et al (2005) conducted a retrospective study and had similar findings to Patel et al (2009) and Chiriboga et al (2005). They found that those children not receiving HAART progressed quicker to progressive encephalopathy compared to those receiving HAART. They found that 72% of the children they were studying showed neurological improvement with the initiation of HAART. McCoig et al (2002) performed a double blind randomised control trial on HIV positive children aged seven months to ten years and found that there was a significant decrease in neurological abnormalities after 48 weeks with the initiation of ARV's. Children receiving a triple regimen of ABC/3TC/ZDV performed even better compared to those receiving 3TC/ZDV. They deduced that ARV's should contain a drug that is able to cross the blood brain barrier. Tardieu et al (2000) found contradictory results. They found that even with the treatment of AZT, incidence of encephalopathy was similar in children receiving AZT to those not receiving AZT.

The above studies were conducted in developed countries; therefore the results may differ to that of children in developing countries. In the above studies, only neurological abnormalities were assessed and no tests measuring neurodevelopment were used. When looking at the effects of HAART on neurodevelopmental outcomes various results have been reported.

A number of studies conducted in developed countries have found improvements in neurodevelopment with HAART (Raskino et al, 1999; Wolters et al, 1997; Silva et al, 2009; Tepper et al, 1995). Raskino et al (1999) in a USA study found that a combination of ZDV and DDI was effective in significantly improving cognitive and motor function within 24 weeks of initiation. They studied a large sample of children aged three to 18 years. Due to the broad age range of children studied, a variety of assessment tools were used to determine cognitive and motor function. The assessment tools included the BSID, McCarthy Scales and Weschler tests. To be included in this study all the children had to be symptomatic with HIV and this may have influenced the improvements seen. The improvement seen in health may have resulted in improved neurodevelopmental outcomes instead of HAART influencing neurodevelopment directly. Wolters et al (1997) did not find that cognitive and language function improved with HAART, however they found that cognitive function remained stable over time in the two year follow up study that they conducted. Unfortunately in this study there was no comparison group. Two case studies, one on an adult and one on a child have reported that HAART is beneficial in decreasing neurological symptoms, reversing abnormalities detected on brain scans and improving cognitive and motor impairments associated with HIV (Silva et al, 2009; Tepper et al, 1998). The fact that the studies reported on two individual cases makes it difficult for results to be applied to the general population.

HAART may not be effective in improving neurodevelopmental functioning but may result in no significant deterioration in function. Foster et al (2006) in a retrospective study found that scores in the BSID, Griffiths and McCarthy Scales stayed the same and did not improve even though participants studied had suppressed viral loads. They reported that motor abnormalities continued to persist. This was a retrospective study and no comparisons were made with a control group, thus making the interpretation of the results difficult. Foster et al (2006) findings are similar to Jeremy et al (2005) who conducted a prospective study where children were followed for 48 weeks after initiating ARV's. They found that even though 44% of the sample studied had undetectable viral loads no significant changes were seen in neuropsychological functioning. In Jeremy et al (2005), no comparison group was assessed to control for environmental factors and a wide age range of children were assessed. Lindsey et al (2007) studied a far narrower age range of children. They compared HIV positive infants to HIV exposed uninfected infants using the BSID II over a 24 month period. They found that cognitive and motor scores remained low in the HIV positive group even though they were receiving HAART. In this study the two groups were not similar at baseline – a far higher percentage of children in the HIV positive group had been exposed to drugs during gestation compared to the HIV exposed uninfected group and this may have adversely affected the results.

All the studies discussed above were conducted in developed countries and most, except for Lindsey et al (2007) studied a very wide age range of children. There is a lack of research available from developing countries and the results from the studies discussed may not pertain to the effects of HAART on neurodevelopment in the developing world.

Two South African studies have also had similar findings. Jelsma et al (2011) and Ferguson et al (2009) both found that children on HAART continued to have motor delays and that being on ARV's did not improve motor development. Jelsma et al (2011) used the Peabody Developmental Motor Scale II to assess motor development in three to six year olds who were institutionalised or in foster care over a six month period. All the children were on HAART prior to the commencement of the study. The researchers found that being on HAART did not predict a better outcome in motor scores and that ARV's

did not result in normal motor development. Unfortunately only motor development was assessed. All the children in this study were on HAART prior to its commencement – improvements that may have occurred earlier on or shortly after the initiation of HAART could not be observed. In this study all the children were institutionalized or residing in foster care, therefore results may not pertain to children living with their biological caregivers. Fergson and Jelsma (2009) found that when studying motor development using the BSID II on HIV positive children there was no significant difference in motor function between children receiving HAART and those not receiving HAART. There were also no significant differences for children on HAART for more than six months or less than six months. Longitudinal follow up was not done in this study, therefore the long term effects of HAART are unknown. In this study the HIV positive group had a high number of hospital admissions and this would have adversely affected neurodevelopment. Comparisons between these two South African studies are difficult as two very different populations were studied and different assessment tools were used.

It appears that ARV's are effective in decreasing the incidence of encephalopathy and in reducing neurological abnormalities in children infected with HIV. However, HAART does not appear to improve development. This may be due to the fact that once damage has occurred in the CNS it is irreversible (Wolters et al, 1997). Due to the weakness in the studies discussed above results should be viewed with care. There is clearly a lack of research in developing countries regarding the effects of HAART on neurodevelopment. Thereofore, there is an urgent need for good quality research to be conducted in this area so as to determine what services are still required by HIV positive children.

2.9. The HIV Exposed Uninfected Child

Due to PMTCT, rates of transmission of HIV infection to children have decreased. This, however, has resulted in a large number of children being exposed to HIV as well as to ARV's in utero. This may place the children's health at risk.

It has been found that the HIV exposed uninfected child may be at risk for increased morbidity. In a case series of eight HIV exposed uninfected children Slogrove et al (2010) found that these children may experience an increased incidence of nosocomial sepsis, PCP as well as bacterial infections. These children also had a high rate of hospital admissions. Mussi-Pinhata et al (2007) also found that HIV exposed uninfected children experience a high number of skin infections, respiratory tract infections and hospitalisations. In a review Filteau (2009) found that HIV exposed uninfected children have an

increased incidence of diarrhoea and if they develop pneumonia they may be at higher risk for treatment failure compared to unexposed children. Koyanagi et al (2011) found that HIV exposed uninfected children have increased sick visits compared to unexposed children. Kuhn et al (2005) found hospital admissions to be due to pneumonia, sepsis and diarrhoea.

Morbidity in the HIV exposed uninfected infant appears to be associated with maternal health. A low maternal CD4 count seems to be predictive of increased morbidity in the HIV exposed uninfected infant (Koyanagi et al, 2011; Slogrove et al, 2010; Mussi-Pinhata et al, 2007; Kuhn et al, 2005,). The HIV exposed uninfected child may also be exposed to a greater number of infections in their household compared to an unexposed child, therefore morbidity may be increased (Filteau, 2009). Due to avoidance of breastfeeding to prevent MTCT of HIV, an increased number of infections may be seen in this population of children (Slogrove et al, 2010; Filteau, 2009; Kuhn et al, 2005).

HIV exposed uninfected children are also at risk of being born prematurely and this is due to the use of ARV's in pregnancy (Martin and Taylor, 2009; The European Collaborative Study, 2003). Some studies have suggested that with the use of ARV's in pregnancy there is increased risk of the child developing mitochondrial damage and toxicity (Poirier et al, 2003), however several large studies have not found similar results (The European Collaborative Study, 2003). Therefore, the use of ARV's in pregnancy at this stage appears to be safe.

Growth in the HIV exposed uninfected infant may be affected. It has been found that early growth especially length for age z scores are significantly lower than in unexposed children (Filteau, 2009; Arpadi et al, 2009). These scores tend to be lower even when corrected for gestational age (Filteau et al, 2009). HEU infants appear to be shorter than unexposed infants in the first six months of life, however they do catch up and anthropometric measurements for these children are within normal ranges. Due to the socio-economic circumstances that these children live in, malnutrition is also a common occurrence (Arpadi et al, 2009; Filteau, 2009).

Mortality in HEU infants is higher than in unexposed infants (Filteau, 2009; Kuhn et al, 2005). Kuhn et al (2005) found a mortality rate of 4.6 % in the first four months of life which then decreased to 1.8% after the neonatal period. Death seems to be due to pneumonia, failure to thrive and sepsis (Kuhn et al,

2005). Mortality is associated with maternal disease stage, maternal CD4 counts, maternal death as well as low birth weight (Filteau, 2009; Kuhn et al, 2005).

Neurodevelopment does not appear to be affected in HIV exposed uninfected children. Alimenti et al (2006) compared the neurodevelopment in HIV exposed uninfected children to HIV unexposed children from similar backgrounds and found that the HIV exposed uninfected children had lower mean scores. However, when they controlled for maternal substance abuse in the study, they found no difference between the groups. Williams et al (2010) found that HIV exposed uninfected children exposed to ARV's during pregnancy does not affect neurodevelopmental functioning. Several other studies have also shown that HIV exposed uninfected children have similar neurodevelopment to uninfected children and they also perform better than HIV positive children on measures of neurodevelopment (Van Rie et al, 2008; Blanchette et al, 2001; Bruck et al, 2001; Drotar et al, 1997; Gay et al, 1995; Boivin et al, 1995; Msellati et al, 1993). It appears that developmental delay in HIV exposed uninfected children is probably due to environmental input, rather than biological factors (Filteau, 2009).

Even though the HIV exposed uninfected child appears to be at higher risk for morbidity and mortality, this is far lower than in HIV positive children. It is therefore imperative that MTCT of HIV be prevented. However, follow up of this population of children would be beneficial to assist in decreasing mortality and morbidity and also to monitor the long term effects of exposure to ARV's (Hankin et al, 2009).

2.10. Developmental Assessment

Developmental assessment tools have been designed in order to detect developmental delays, to determine if children will have future developmental problems, to plan intervention strategies and to allow monitoring of progress over a period of time (Spittle et al, 2008; Heineman and Hadders-Algra, 2008; Tieman et al, 2005). A variety of standardised developmental tools have been designed.

Screening tools have been designed in order to provide a quick, inexpensive way of detecting infants at risk of developmental delays. Screening tools allow for early detection of delays and for appropriate and early referral to appropriate rehabilitative services (Tieman et al, 2005). An example of a screening tool is the Denver Developmental Screening Test. The information provided by a screening tool is limited. At times more in depth developmental assessment is required.

Choosing an appropriate standardised developmental assessment tool depends on a variety of factors.

When selecting an appropriate assessment tool, one needs to decide what the purpose of the assessment is for. Discriminative assessment tools are norm referenced tools that are able to identify children with atypical development and compare them to a normative sample (Spittle et al, 2008; Tieman et al, 2005). These tools are not ideal to use on children with disabilities such as cerebral palsy (Tieman et al, 2005). Examples of discriminative assessment tools include the Peabody Developmental Motor Scales, Bayley Scales of Infant Development, Toddler and Infant Motor Evaluation and Alberta Infant Motor Scale. All these tools have been normed on children from the USA and Canada (Spittle et al, 2008). Evaluative assessment tools measure individual progress over a period of time and are not norm referenced. An example of this type of tool is the Gross Motor Function Measure (Tieman et al, 2005).

A standardised assessment tool should be valid, reliable and responsive (Heineman and Hadders-Algra, 2008; Spittle et al, 2008; Tieman et al, 2005). Reliability refers to the ability of findings on the assessment to be repeated. Validity is the ability of the tool to measure what it reports to be measuring. Responsiveness is the ability of the tool to detect changes over time (Spittle et al, 2008; Tieman et al, 2005). Most standardised tools have been validated and reliability of these tools has been determined.

The clinical utility of the tool should also be considered (Tieman et al, 2005). Many of the standardised tools may be quite costly and may not be feasible to use in a government setting (Spittle et al, 2008). Some tools require the assessor to be trained and training may also be costly (Spittle et al, 2008; Tieman et al, 2005). However, most tools can be used by a variety of health professionals. It is recommended that the assessor be familiar with normal child development, should have experience in handling children and should be able to interpret the results of the test (Spittle et al, 2008; Tieman et al, 2005).

The BSID is considered to be the gold standard in developmental testing (Harris et al, 2005). The use of this tool, its reliability and validity as well as use in South Africa and on HIV positive infants will be discussed further.

2.10.1. The Bayley Scales of Infant and Toddler Development

The BSID is used all over the world to assess developmental functioning in children aged one to 42 months (Milne et al 2011). It is an individually administered, standardized, norm referenced tool that is both valid and reliable (Bayley, 2006). It is also sensitive to detecting developmental delay in children (Harcourt Assessment, 2007).

The Bayley-III was developed in 2006 and is a revision of the BSID II. The Bayley-III was developed so as to improve the quality of the instrument, to update normative data, to simplify administration and to allow for subsets to stand alone (Harcourt Assessment, 2007). Some differences in scores have been detected between the BSID II and Bayley-III, however this may be due to changes seen in the population used to obtain the normative data as well as the test becoming far more specific and precise (Harcourt Assessment, 2007). To obtain normative data 1 700 American children were assessed from different races, genders and geographical locations (Milne et al, 2011; Bayley 2006).

The Bayley-III is used to assess the three main areas of development: cognitive function, language function and motor function (Bayley, 2006). The language component assesses both receptive and expressive language. The motor component assesses both fine motor and gross motor function (Bayley, 2006). The assessment takes approximately 50 minutes to administer. It needs to be administered in a quiet room and one requires a small table and chair to administer certain items of the scale. The child receives a score of one if they are able to do the item administered or a score of zero if they are unable to perform the item. The item must be observed by the assessor. Total scores are added to give a raw score. The raw score is then used to determine scaled scores, composite scores and percentile ranks. The scale has a mean of 100 with a standard deviation of 15 (Bayley, 2006).

The BSID II has been normed on African and South African children (Aina and Morakinyo 2005; Richter et al, 1992). It has also been found to be effective in assessing medically fragile children (Harris et al, 2005; Nicolls and Latchman, 2002). The BSID II has also been used extensively in research to detect developmental delays in various populations including premature infants, infants exposed to alcohol and drugs during pregnancy (van Zwol et al, 2008; Wang et al, 2008; Wielenga et al, 2009) as well as in HIV positive infants (Bailleu and Potterton, 2008; Drotar et al, 1997; Msellati et al, 1993; Nozyce et al, 1994; Potterton et al, 2009; Van Rie et al, 2008).

From this it can be seen that the Bayley-III is a comprehensive assessment tool that assesses cognitive, language and motor function. It is sensitive in detecting developmental delay and is also valid and reliable. It is a widely used research tool and has been used in the HIV positive population.

2.11. Conclusion

Mother to child transmission rates of HIV in South Africa have decreased due to effective PMTCT programs. HIV positive children are now initiating HAART earlier than ever before, resulting in decreased morbidity and improved survival. Children infected with HIV are living much longer. Even though huge strides have been made to decrease new HIV infections, HIV continues to affect many thousands of children in South Africa. HIV adversely affects neurodevelopment and results in deficits in cognitive, language and motor function, it also causes a variety of neurological abnormalities. This in turn leads to poor academic performance and will ultimately affect quality of life later on which will affect the ability of the child to become a productive member of society and will place increased strain on the country.

Even though mortality and morbidity has decreased due to the effect of HAART, little is known about neurodevelopment in these children. Limited research is available on the effects of HAART on neurodevelopment. It would be useful to see the effects of HAART on neurodevelopment especially in sub-Saharan Africa as it has the highest prevalence of HIV in the world. No study has been conducted in sub-Saharan Africa looking at the possible neuro-protective effects of HAART if initiated at a high CD4 count. If HAART were to have a positive effect on neurodevelopment it would support its early initiation. It will also help determine what services still need to be made available to children infected with HIV. Therefore, the aim of this study is to determine the neurodevelopment of HIV positive infants initiating HAART and to compare them to HIV exposed but uninfected infants.

Chapter 3 METHODOLOGY

This chapter aims to discuss the methodology employed in this research project.

3.1. Research Design

This was a longitudinal comparative study.

3.2. Location of Study

The study was conducted at the HIV (Empilweni) Clinic at Rahima Moosa Mother and Child Hospital, Johannesburg. The clinic is serviced by doctors, nurses, counselors, a social worker and a dietician. The majority of children come from the surrounding area which includes Coronationville, Newclare and Westbury as well as from further lying areas including Soweto and Diepsloot. The social circumstances in these areas are poor.

3.3. Participants

To detect a difference of 15 on the Bayley Scales of Infant and Toddler Development III (Bayley III) when using a standard deviation of 15 and power of 90% it was found that the sample for each group was 27 participants. This allowed for a 20% drop out rate and had a confidence interval of \pm 4.63.

3.3.1. Inclusion Criteria

- Children aged less than 12 months
- Exposed to HIV but uninfected or
- HIV positive and starting HAART (i.e. not yet on HAART)

3.3.2. Exclusion Criteria

- Institutionalised children
- Premature infants (born before 37 weeks gestation)

- Infants receiving physiotherapy
- Clinically apparent congenital abnormalities

3.4 Outcome Measures

3.4.1 Bayley Scales of Infant and Toddler Development (3rd edition)

The Bayley Scales of Infant and Toddler Development Third Edition (Bayley-III) was used to assess neurodevelopment in the children.

The Bayley-III is a revision of the Bayley Scales of Infant Development 2nd Edition (BSID II). It is a standardized, norm referenced tool that is both valid and reliable (Bayley, 2006). The BSID II has been used in research to detect developmental delays in various populations including premature infants, infants exposed to alcohol and drugs during pregnancy (van Zwol et al, 2008; Wang et al, 2008; Wielenga et al, 2009) as well as in HIV positive infants (Bailleu and Potterton, 2008; Drotar et al, 1997; Msellati et al, 1993; Nozyce et al, 1994; Potterton et al, 2009; Van Rie et al, 2008).

The scale is used to assess development in children aged one month to 42 months. It tests three components of development, namely: cognitive development, language development and motor development. The language component assesses both receptive and expressive language. The motor component assesses both fine motor and gross motor function (Bayley, 2006).

The assessment takes approximately 50 minutes to administer. It needs to be administered in a quiet room and one requires a small table and chair to administer certain items of the scale. The child receives a score of one if they are able to do the item administered or a score of zero if they are unable to perform the item. The item must be observed by the assessor. Total scores are added to give a raw score. The raw score is then used to determine scaled scores, composite scores and percentile ranks. Normative data is available for the Bayley-III. The scale has a mean of 100 with a standard deviation of 15 (Bayley, 2006).

The scale was administered on all children who participated in the study in a small room in the clinic. The scale was administered at baseline, 3 months follow up and 6 months follow up.
Feedback regarding the scores was given to the parents at the final visit.

3.4.2 Anthropometric Measurements

Weight, height and head circumference were recorded at baseline, 3 months follow up and 6 months follow up.

Weight and height were measured by the nurses at the clinic. Head circumference was measured by the researcher using the tape measure provided in the Bayley III kit.

All anthropometric measurements were converted to z-scores using the WHO Anthro computer program.

3.4.3 Pregnancy History

At baseline information regarding the mother's pregnancy was collected. The researcher asked the mother several questions to determine her health during pregnancy, to determine if she received ARV's or AZT during pregnancy and to determine her CD4 count just prior to or just after birth. The researcher also screened the patient files for any relevant information. Data was recorded. The questionnaire can be viewed in Addendum 1.

3.4.4 Child Health

The researcher questioned the mothers and viewed the children's files to determine if they had any illnesses or hospital admissions in the last three months, if immunisations were up to date and if the child was receiving any medication. This data was collected at each visit and recorded. The questionnaire can be viewed in Addendum 2.

3.4.5 CD4 Counts, CD4 Percentages, Viral Loads and ARV's

The most recent CD4 counts, CD4 percentages and viral loads of all the children in the HIV positive group were recorded. This information was obtained from the participants' files.

Once the child had started HAART the names of the medications were recorded. Any changes in the medication were also recorded.

3.5. Procedure

3.5.1. Baseline

3.5.1.1. HIV Exposed Uninfected Infants

The Empilweni Clinic at Rahima Moosa Mother and Child Hospital runs a clinic on a Monday morning for HIV exposed infants. At this clinic PCR tests are done to determine if the child is HIV positive. This test is done at 6 weeks of age. The patients then return 2 weeks later to obtain the results of the test. If the child is HIV negative they are then followed up every 6 months until they are 18 months old.

The researcher attended this clinic on a Monday morning. After a support group was conducted the researcher spoke to the mothers in the waiting room and explained that she was conducting a study to determine if being exposed to HIV results in development problems and to compare this to children who are HIV positive. The researcher then invited anyone who was interested in taking part in the study to come and see her in the room that was made available for the assessments.

The mothers would come see the researcher. The study was explained to them again. The mothers then signed consent.

The mothers were then questioned on their pregnancy history as well as their child's health. Height and weight were recorded from the file and head circumference was measured by the researcher. The researcher then administered the Bayley III.

A follow up date was then given to the mothers.

3.5.1.2. HIV Positive Group

To recruit HIV positive infants the researcher would attend the Empilweni Clinic on a Tuesday and Thursday and screen the files for any new patients.

The researcher would approach the parents, explain the study to them and invite them to participate in the study.

If the parents agreed to take part in the study the informed consent form was signed. The mothers were questioned regarding their pregnancy history and their child's health (see Addendum 1 and 2). Weight and height were recorded and head circumference was measured. Blood results were obtained from the child's file. The Bayley III was then administered.

A follow up date for three months time was arranged with the parents to be on the same day as their next clinic visit.

3.5.2. Three Month Follow Up

At three months follow up both groups were assessed again. Weight, height and head circumference were taken. History regarding the child's health was recorded. The Bayley III was then administered. A follow up appointment was then arranged for 3 months time.

For the HIV positive group CD4 counts, percentages and viral loads were recorded. The HAART regimen that the child was on was also recorded.

3.5.3. Six Month Follow Up

Weight, height and head circumference were taken. History regarding the child's health was recorded. The Bayley III was then administered.

For the HIV positive group CD4 counts, CD4 percentages and viral loads were recorded from the file. The HAART regimen that the child was on was also recorded.

At the final assessment the parents were given feedback on their child's performance in the Bayley III. If the child was found to be delayed according to the Bayley III they were referred to appropriate therapists (i.e.: physiotherapist, occupational therapists or speech therapists). If it was deemed necessary the patient was also referred to a dietician or social worker.

3.5.4. Measures to ensure adequate follow up

Due to the poor socioeconomic circumstances that the participants live in, compliance with appointments is poor. To ensure that participants attended their appointments the researcher would

phone the participant one week prior to their appointment. A text message (SMS) was sent to the participant the day before their appointment to remind them to come.

If the participant did not attend their appointment they were phoned on the same day to rearrange for a new appointment.

3.6 Ethical Considerations

Approval for this study was obtained from the University of the Witwatersrand Human Research Ethics Committee (Medical). Clearance certificate M10535 (See Addendum 3).

Permission was also obtained from the CEO at Rahima Moosa Mother and Child Hospital to conduct the study at the clinic (Addendum 4).

Written informed consent was obtained from the caregivers of the infants (Addendum 5 and 6). Infants were assigned a study number and their names did not appear on any documentation in order to assure anonymity.

The caregivers were reimbursed for transport when they attended the visit at 3 months follow up and 6 months follow up.

Feedback on the results found from the assessment was given to all the mothers at the final assessment. If it was found that the child would benefit from rehabilitation, an appointment was arranged for them with a physiotherapist, occupational therapist or speech therapist. If the caregiver expressed other concerns they were referred to either a social worker or dietician.

3.7 Data Analysis

Data was analysed using Stata 10.0/IC for Windows in consultation with a statitistician from Health Research Unit at the University of the Witwatersrand. Twenty seven participants were required in each group in order to detect a difference of 15 on the Bayley Scales of Infant and Toddler Development III (Bayley III) when using a standard deviation of 15 and power of 90%. This allowed for a 20% drop out rate and had a confidence interval of \pm 4.63.

Descriptive statistics were used to condense the raw data. Means and standard deviations were used to describe the data. Comparisons between the HIV positive and HIV exposed uninfected groups were compared using two sampled t tests with equal variance. Level of significance was set at 0.05. Change over time was determined by using a student's t-test and significance was set at 0.05.

The HIV positive group was then stratified according to there CD4 percentages at baseline. They were stratified into a group with CD4 percentages less than 25% and CD4 percentages of greater than 25%. A CD4 percentage of less than 25% is considered to indicate severe immune suppression (WHO, 2010). Comparisons between these two groups were then made using descriptive statistics.

An intention to treat analysis was done and all available data was analysed at every time point. Intention to treat analysis is considered to be the analysis of choice for studies of a pragmatic nature such as this one (Herbert et al, 2005).

The results of this study will be presented in chapter four.

Chapter 4 RESULTS

This chapter aims to present the results of the study. An intention to treat analysis was used to analyse the data. All available data was analysed at every time point.

4.1. Loss to follow up

In this study 56 HIV exposed infants under the age of 12 months were recruited. Of these 27 were HIV positive and 29 were HIV exposed uninfected (HEU) infants. The positive group was then stratified according to their CD4 percentage at baseline. Twelve had a CD4% of less than 25% and 15 had a CD4% of more than 25% at baseline.

Due to the nature of HIV as well as the poor socio-economic circumstances that many of the families face, a high loss to follow up was expected. The figure below represents the loss to follow up seen during the study period.



Figure 4.1 Loss to follow up

In this study 17 participants were lost to follow up. Loss to follow up occurred due to a variety of reasons.

The researcher was unable to trace five participants. Contact numbers for these participants no longer worked and the participants did not return to the Empilweni clinic and had defaulted on their treatment.

Eight participants relocated to different provinces during the course of the study. A far higher percentage of participants in the uninfected group relocated compared to the HIV positive group.

Four participants died during the course of the study. All four deaths occurred in the HIV positive group and prior to the 3 month follow up. This means that the infants died shortly after they had initiated HAART.

The total loss to follow up for this study was 30.36%.

4.2. Demographic Data

Demographic data was obtained from the demographic questionnaire that was administered as well as the questionnaire regarding pregnancy history. The data is presented in Table 4.1. The data is presented as means and standard deviations or numbers and percentages. Data between the HIV positive and HEU groups is compared using two sampled t-tests.

	HIV Positive	HIV Exposed Uninfected	
Variable	n = 27	n = 29	p value
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	
Age (months)	4.87 (2.8)	3.35 (2.87)	0.05
Gestational Age (weeks)	39.93 (0.38)	40 (0)	0.30
Birth Weight (kg)	2.69 (0.57)	3.27 (0.53)	0.00*
Variable	Number (%)	Number (%)	P value
Gender	Male: 11 (39.29%)	Male: 17 (60.71%)	0.18
Gender	Female: 16 (57.14%)	Female: 12 (42.86%)	
NVP received	Yes: 17 (62.96%)	Yes: 29 (100%)	0.00*
	No: 10 (37.04%)	No: 0 (0%)	
Feeding	Breastmilk: 11 (40.74%)	Breastmilk: 2 (6.90%)	0.00*
	Formula: 16 (59.26%)	Formula: 27 (93.10%)	
Hospital Born at	RMH: 20 (74.07%)	RMH: 28 (96.55%)	0.02*
nospital born at	Other: 7 (25.93%)	Other: 1 (3.45%)	

Table 4.1 Demographic information for the HIV positive and HIV exposed uninfected groups.

The study population was young. Infants in the HIV positive group had a mean age of 4.87 (\pm 2.8) and infants in the HIV exposed uninfected group had a mean age of 3.35 months (\pm 2.87). There was a significant difference for birth weight between the two groups (p = 0.00). The HIV positive group had a significantly lower birth weight when compared to the HIV exposed uninfected group. There was no significant difference in terms of males and females in the two groups (p = 0.18). A significant difference was seen in terms of infants who received NVP between the two groups. A hundred percent of the participants in the HIV exposed uninfected group received NVP compared to 62.96% of the participants in the HIV positive group (p = 0.00). Significantly more infants were breastfed in the HIV positive group compared to the HEU group (p=0.00). More of the HEU infants were born at Rahima Moosa Hospital compared to the HIV positive group (p = 0.02).

4.3. Maternal Characteristics

The maternal characteristics of the participants are presented in table 4.2. Data is presented as numbers and percentages.

Table 4.2 Maternal characteristics of mothers of HIV positive infants and HIV Exposed Uninfectedinfants

		HIV P	ositive	HIV Expose	d Uninfected	
Variable		n = 27		n = 29		p value
		Number	Percentage	Number	Percentage	
ANC	Booked	20	74.07	28	96.55	0.02*
	Unbooked	7	25.93	1	3.45	
AZT during	Yes	9	33.33	20	68.97	0.01*
pregnancy	No	18	66.67	9	31.03	0.01
HAART during	Yes	6	22.22	7	24.14	0.87
pregnancy	No	21	77.78	22	75.86	0.07
NVP at onset of	Yes	16	59.26	23	79.31	0.10
labour	No	11	40.74	6	20.69	0.10
Illnesses during	Yes	7	25.93	4	13.79	0.25
pregnancy	No	20	74.07	25	86.21	0.23
Hospital Admissions	Yes	4	14.81	4	13.79	0.91
during pregnancy	No	23	85.19	25	86.21	0.01
Variab	le	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	p value
CD4 Count Prior	to delivery	461.58	187.66	412.71	232.83	0.44

Significantly more mothers who had uninfected infants received antenatal care compared to the mothers of infected infants (p = 0.02). Significantly more mothers of uninfected infants received AZT during pregnancy compared to mothers of infected infants (p=0.01). In both groups mothers had a similar number of hospital admissions and illnesses during pregnancy. There was similar use of HAART and NVP at onset of labour in both groups. CD4 counts of the mothers prior to delivery were similar in both groups.

4.4. Blood Results – HIV Positive Group

4.4.1. CD4 counts and CD4 Percentages at each visit

CD4 counts and CD4 percentages over the course of the study are presented in table 4.3. Data is presented as means and standard deviations. It is important to note that blood results were not always available for all the children at each visit. The researcher was reliant on information in the medical records of the children.

	Baseline	Visit 1	Visit 2	
Variable	n = 26	n = 9	n = 17	
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	
CD4 count	1322.96 (946.94)	1669.44 (906.91)	2328.53 (770.63)	
CD4 %	27.51 (11.23)	26.48 (9.7)	33.01 (7.14)	

Table 4.3 CD4 counts and CD4 percentages at each visit

The mean CD4 percentage at baseline was more than 25% and increased by the 6 month follow up to over 30%. Mean CD4 counts also increased over the study period

Table 4.4 depicts the change seen over time in CD4 counts and percentages in terms of p-values.

Table 4.4 Change in CD4 count and C	04 percentages over time presented by p-values.
-------------------------------------	---

Time Frame	CD4 Count	CD4 %
Baseline to Visit 1	0.35	0.81
Visit 1 to Visit 2	0.06	0.06
Baseline to Visit 2	0.00*	0.08

There was a significant increase in CD4 count from baseline to Visit 2 (p = 0.00). No significant change over time was seen for CD4 percentage (p = 0.08).

4.4.2. Viral Loads

Table 4.5 shows the percentage of undetectable viral loads over time. Due to there being such a high variability in viral loads and due to the viral load numbers being so high, data is more understandable if presented in this format.

Time Frame	n	Undetectable Viral Load VL < 50 copies/mL	
		Number	Percentage
Baseline	26	0	0
Visit 1	21	1	4.76
Visit 2	17	4	23.53

Table 4.5 Undetectable viral loads in HIV	positive group over time
---	--------------------------

Only one child had an undetectable viral load at visit 1. At visit 2 four infants (23.53%) had an undetectable viral load.

4.5. Medical Information

Data in terms of illnesses, hospital admissions, medications and if immunisations were up to date were extracted from the questionnaire administered at each visit. This data is presented in table 4.6. Data is presented in terms of numbers and percentages. T-tests were used to compare the two groups.

Variable	Vec/No	HIV	Positive	HIV Exposed	Uninfected	D value
Vallable	163/100	Number	Percentage	Number	Percentage	r value
Baseli	ne	n	= 27	n = 29		
Illnossos	Yes	20	74.07	5	17.24	0.00*
milesses	No	7	25.93	24	82.76	
Hospital	Yes	12	44.44	2	6.9	0.00*
Admissions	No	15	55.56	27	93.1	
Medication	Yes	8	29.63	8	27.59	0.87
Wedleation	No	19	70.37	21	72.41	
Immunisations	Yes	27	100	27	93.10	0.17
mmumsations	No	0	0	2	6.90	
Visit	1	n	= 22	n =	24	
	Yes	9	33.33	9	31.03	0.97
Illnesses	No	13	48.15	15	51.72	
	Loss to f/u	5	18.52	5	17.24	
Lloopitol	Yes	2	7.41	0	0	0.32
Admissions	No	20	74.07	24	82.76	
Aumissions	Loss to f/u	5	18.52	5	17.24	
	Yes	6	22.22	5	17.24	0.87
Medication	No	16	59.26	19	65.52	
	Loss to f/u	5	18.52	5	17.24	
	Yes	20	74.07	24	82.76	0.32
Immunisations	No	2	7.41	0	0	
	Loss to f/u	5	18.52	5	17.24	
Visit	2	n	= 20	n =	19	
	Yes	3	11.11	10	34.48	0.04*
Illnesses	No	17	62.96	9	31.03	
	Loss to f/u	7	25.93	10	34.48	
lleenitel	Yes	1	3.70	1	3.45	0.78
Hospital	No	19	70.37	18	62.07	
Aumissions	Loss to f/u	7	25.93	10	34.48	
	Yes	1	3.70	1	3.45	0.78
Medication	No	19	70.37	18	62.07	
	Loss to f/u	7	25.93	10	34.48	
	Yes	20	74.07	19	65.52	0.49
Immunisations	No	0	0	0	0	
	Loss to f/u	7	25.93	10	34.48	

Table 4.6 Medical information at each visit for HIV positive and HIV exposed uninfected groups

At baseline the HIV positive group had significantly more illnesses (p = 0.00) and hospital admissions (p = 0.00) compared to the HIV exposed uninfected group. The illnesses included meningitis, bronchopneumonia, tuberculosis and gastroenteritis. At visit 2 the HIV exposed uninfected group had significantly more illnesses compared to the HIV positive group (p = 0.04). However, these were more common illnesses like a rhinitis or cough and were not as serious as the illnesses experienced by the HIV positive group.

4.6. HAART

All the children were initiated on the same regimen of HAART which included a combination of 3TC/ABC/Kaletra. All the children remained on this regimen except for one child who was started on 3TC/ABC/D4T at visit 2.

4.7. Anthropometric Data

Weights, heights and head circumference are presented in terms of z scores. Table 4.7 shows the mean z scores for both groups at baseline, visit 1 and visit 2. Comparisons between the groups were made using two sampled t-tests.

 Table 4.7 Anthropometric Measurements at each visit for HIV Positive and HIV Exposed Uninfected

 Infants

		HIV Exposed	p value			
Variable		Uninfected				
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)				
	Baseline					
	n = 27	n = 29				
Weight for age z score	-2.47 (1.93)	-0.002 (0.73)	0.00*			
Height for age z score	-3.19 (2.8)	-2.94 (1.60)	0.67			
Weight for Height z score	-0.16 (2.75)	3.5 (2.44)	0.00*			
Head Circumference for age z score	-1.05 (1.32)	-0.86 (1.59)	0.62			
	Visit 1					
	n = 22	n = 24				
Weight for age z score	-1.15 (1.42)	0.18 (1.5)	0.00*			
Height for age z score	-2.07 (1.81)	-2.21 (1.72)	0.79			
Weight for Height z score	0.27 (2.02)	2.22 (1.62)	0.00*			
Head Circumference for age z score	-0.36 (1.56)	0.21 (1.12)	0.16			
	Visit 2					
	n = 20	n = 19				
Weight for age z score	-0.35 (1.42)	0 (1.42)	0.45			
Height for age z score	-0.82 (1.21)	-0.52 (1.58)	0.51			
Weight for Height z score	0.12 (1.67)	0.14 (2.06)	0.98			
HC for age z score	0.45 (1.46)	0.21 (1.07)	0.57			

At baseline the HIV positive group had very low z scores for weight and height. The HIV positive group had significantly lower weight for age z scores when compared to the HIV exposed uninfected group (p=0.00). Weight for height z scores at baseline were also significantly different between the two groups (p=0.00).

Height for both groups at baseline was similar (p = 0.67), however it was below 2SD of the norm.

At visit 1 weight for age and weight for height z scores were still significantly lower in the HIV positive group when compared to the HEU group. Height for age z scores were still 2SD below the norm for both groups.

By visit 2 anthropometric measurements had improved in both and the HIV positive and HEU groups had normal anthropometric measurements, with no significant differences between the two groups.

Table 4.8 presents the changes that occurred over time for mean weight for age z scores, mean height for age z-scores, mean weight for height z scores and mean head circumference for age z scores for the HIV positive group.

Table 4.8 Changes over time in anthropometric measurements for the HIV positive group (p-values)

	Baseline to Visit 1	Visit 1 to Visit 2	Baseline to Visit 2
Weight for Age	0.01*	0.08	0.00*
Height for Age	0.11	0.01*	0.01*
Weight for Height	0.55	0.79	0.70
Head Circumference for Age	0.10	0.09	0.00*

In the HIV positive group a significant increase in weight for age and height for age z scores was seen over the course of the study.

Weight for age from baseline to visit 1 and baseline to visit 2 increased significantly (p= 0.01 and p = 0.00 respectively). Height for age started increasing significantly from visit 1 to visit 2 and from baseline to visit 2 (p = 0.01 and p = 0.01 respectively). Head circumference for age z scores increased significantly from baseline to visit 2 (p = 0.00).

Table 4.9 presents the changes that occurred over time for mean weight for age z scores, mean height for age z scores, mean weight for height z scores and mean head circumference for age z scores for the HEU group.

 Table 4.9 Changes over time in anthropometric measurements for the HIV Exposed Uninfected group

 (p-values)

	Baseline to Visit 1	Visit 1 to Visit 2	Baseline to Visit 2
Weight for Age	0.56	0.69	0.99
Height for Age	0.12	0.00*	0.00*
Weight for Height	0.03*	0.00*	0.00*
Head Circumference for Age	0.01*	0.99	0.01*

A significant increase in height for age and weight for height z scores were seen over time in the HEU group. Head circumference for age z scores in the HIV exposed uninfected group increased significantly from baseline to visit 1 (p = 0.01) and from baseline to visit 2 (p = 0.01).

4.8. Developmental Scores

The developmental scores for cognitive development, language development and motor development over time are presented in table 4.10. The data is presented as means and standard deviations. A score of less than 89 places the child in the below average category on the Bayley III and depicts a delay in the particular area of development.

Variable	HIV POSITIVE	HIV Exposed Uninfected	p - value
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	
	Baseline		
	n = 27	n = 29	
Cognitive Composite	86.11 (16.37)	93.97 (9.29)	0.03*
Language Composite	87.85 (12.81)	100.26 (7.80)	0.00*
Motor Composite	93.15 (19.32)	106.48 (11.63)	0.00*
	Visit 1		
	n=22	n = 24	
Cognitive Composite	82.5 (17.17)	97.08 (12.42)	0.00*
Language Composite	85.45 (10.97)	97.25 (10.02)	0.00*
Motor Composite	91.27 (15.91)	108.08 (13.13)	0.00*
	Visit 2		
	n = 20	n = 19	
Cognitive Composite	94.75 (14.09)	98.95 (10.61)	0.30
Language Composite	90.3 (1.93)	100.21 (10.06)	0.00*
Motor Composite	93.7 (10.89)	105.58 (10.88)	0.00*

Table 4.10 Developmental Scores for HIV Positive and HIV Exposed Uninfected Groups over time

At baseline the cognitive, language and motor composite scores in the HIV positive group were all significantly lower when compared to the HEU group. Similar results were found at visit 1. At visit 2 the HEU group had significantly higher scores for language and motor composite scores. There was no significant difference in cognitive composite scores between the groups at the second visit.

In the HIV exposed uninfected groups no mean composite scores indicated a delay. The HIV positive group had scores depicting a delay at baseline and visit 1 for cognitive and language development. At visit 2 no delay was detected in mean composite scores for cognitive, language and motor development, however language and motor composite scores were significantly lower in the HIV positive group when compared to the HEU group (p = 0.00 and p = 0.00 respectively).

Table 4.11 presents the receptive and expressive language scaled scores for the HIV positive and HEU. Data is presented as means and standard deviations.

Variable	HIV POSITIVE	HIV Exposed Uninfected	p - value		
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)			
	Baseline				
	n = 27	n = 29			
Receptive Language	8.11 (2.62)	10.03 (1.5)	0.00*		
Expressive Language	7.67 (2.24)	10.03 (1.72)	0.00*		
	Visit 1				
	n = 22	n = 24			
Receptive Language	8.09 (2.22)	10 (2.48)	0.09		
Expressive Language	7.36 (1.53)	9.04 (1.81)	0.00*		
	Visit 2				
	n = 20	n = 19			
Receptive Language	9.15 (2.73)	10.37(2.19)	0.13		
Expressive Language	7.5(1.64)	9.68 (1.89)	0.00*		

 Table 4.11 Receptive and Expressive Language Scaled Scores for the HIV Positive and HIV exposed

 uninfected groups over time

Infants in the HIV positive group had lower scaled scores for expressive language when compared to receptive language at baseline, visit 1 and visit 2.

The HIV exposed uninfected group continuously had significantly higher scores for both receptive and expressive language at all visits.

Table 4.12 presents the fine and gross motor scaled scores for the HIV positive and HEU groups. Data is presented as means and standard deviations.

 Table 4.12 Fine and Gross Motor Scaled Scores for the HIV Positive and HIV exposed uninfected

 groups over time

Variable	HIV POSITIVE		HIV Exposed Uninfected		p - value
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	
		Baseline			
	n =	27	n =	29	
Fine Motor	8.89	3.41	11.24	1.98	0.00*
Gross Motor	8.56	3.88	10.86	2.25	0.01*
		Visit 1			
	n =	n = 22 n= 24		24	
Fine Motor	9.18	3.2	11.42	2.83	0.02*
Gross Motor	8.36	4.14	11.58	2.12	0.00*
		Visit 2			
	n =	n = 20		19	
Fine Motor	9.75	1.62	11.21	1.81	0.01*
Gross Motor	8.1	2.45	10.58	2.32	0.00*

Infants in the HIV positive group had lower scaled scores for gross motor function when compared to fine motor function at baseline, visit 1 and visit 2. The HEU group had significantly higher scaled scores for gross motor and fine motor function at all visits when compared to the HIV positive group.

Table 4.13 presents the changes in composite score for each facet of development over the course of the study in the HIV positive group. P-values are used to indicate the change.

Table 4.13 Develo	pmental Changes over	time for HIV positive	e group represented	by p-values

	Baseline to Visit 1	Visit 1 to Visit 2	Baseline to Visit 2
Cognitive Composite Score	0.46	0.02*	0.06
Language Composite Score	0.49	0.11	0.46
Motor Composite Score	0.72	0.57	0.91

No significant changes were seen over time for mean language composite scores and mean motor composite scores in the HIV positive group. A significant improvement was seen for the cognitive composite scores from visit 1 to visit 2 (p = 0.02) and the improvement approached significance from baseline to visit 2 (p = 0.06).

Table 4.13 presents the changes in composite score for each facet of development over the course of the study in the HIV exposed uninfected group. P-values are used to indicate the change.

Table 4.14 Developmental Changes over time for HIV exposed uninfected group represented by	p-
values	

	Baseline to Visit 1	Visit 1 to Visit 2	Baseline to Visit 2
Cognitive Composite Score	0.30	0.61	0.09
Language Composite Score	0.22	0.34	0.98
Motor Composite Score	0.64	0.51	0.79

No significant changes were seen over the course of the study for mean cognitive, language and motor composite scores in the HIV exposed uninfected group.

Table 4.15 presents the percentage of infants with a delay at each time period for the HIV positive and HIV exposed uninfected groups. The infants were considered to be delayed if they fell in the low average, borderline and extremely low categories on the Bayley III.

Table 4.15 Percentage of infants delayed at each visit for developmental outcomes

	Baseline		Visit 1		Visit 2	
Outcome Measure	HIV Positive n = 27	HIV Exposed Uninfected n = 29	HIV Positive n = 22	HIV Exposed Uninfected n = 24	HIV Positive n = 20	HIV Exposed Uninfected n = 19
Cognitive Function	48.15	31.03	59.09	16.67	30	10.53
Language Function	51.85	10.34	63.34	12.50	45	5.26
Motor Function	29.63	10.34	40.91	8.33	40	0

At all time periods, there were a greater percentage of infants with delay for cognitive, language and motor function in the HIV positive group.

The percentage of children delayed for cognitive, language and motor function increased from baseline to visit 1. At visit 2 the percentage of children delayed for cognitive and language development had decreased in the HIV positive group, however motor delay still remained high when compared to baseline.

At visit 2 no HIV exposed uninfected infants had a motor delay, whereas 40% of the infants in the HIV positive group had a motor delay.

4.9. Results for infants in HIV Positive group after stratifying according to CD4

percentage at baseline

In order to analyse the results more closely in the HIV positive group, the infants in this group were stratified according to their CD4 percentages at baseline. They were either in a group who had a CD4% of less than 25% or a CD4% greater than 25%. These results should be viewed with care as the sample sizes are small and only general observations can be made.

4.9.1. Blood Results

Table 4.16 presents the blood results for the stratified sample of HIV positive infants.

	CD4% < 25%	CD4% > 25%	n value	
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	pvalue	
	Baseline			
	n = 12	n = 14		
CD4 Count	696.42 (709.52)	1860 (797.76)	0.00*	
CD4%	18.15 (5.2)	35.53 (8.34)	0.00*	
	Visit 1			
	n = 6	n = 3		
CD4 Count	1704.33 (495.43)	1599.67 (1632.59)	0.44	
CD4 %	31.10 (6.84)	17.25 (8.23)	0.02*	
Visit 2				
	n = 7	n = 10		
CD4 Count	2418.43 (774.71)	2265.6 (803.1)	0.35	
CD4 %	31.17 (4.65)	34.3 (8.46)	0.20	

Table 4.16 CD4 counts and CD4 percentages at each visit for stratified groups

At baseline the CD4% < 25% group had significantly lower CD4 counts and CD4 percentages when compared to the CD4% > 25% group. At Visit 1 the CD4% > 25% group had a significantly lower CD4% compared to the CD4% < 25% group. At Visit 2 there were no significant differences between the groups for CD4 counts and CD4 percentages. Over the course of the study CD4 counts in the CD4% < 25% group increased.

These results should be viewed with care as blood results at each visit were not available for all the children especially at visit 1. The sample with available blood results was small.

Table 4.17 presents the change over time in CD4 counts and CD4 percentages for the HIV positive group with CD4% < 25% at baseline.

Table 4.17 Change in CD4 count and CD4 percentages over time presented by p-values for HIV positiveinfants with CD4% of < 25% (p-values)</td>

Time Frame	CD4 Count	CD4 %
Baseline to Visit 1	0.03*	0.01*
Visit 1 to Visit 2	0.07	0.44
Baseline to Visit 2	0.00*	0.00*

There was a significant increase in CD4 count and CD4 percentage over time for the CD4% < 25% group. No significant change was seen from visit 1 to visit 2 for CD4 percentage (p = 0.44) and CD4 Count (p = 0.07).

Table 4.17 presents the change over time in CD4 counts and CD4 percentages for the HIV positive group with CD4% > 25% at baseline.

Table 4.18 Change in CD4 count and CD4 percentages over time presented by p-values for HIV positive infants with CD4% of > 25% (p-values)

Time Frame	CD4 Count	CD4 %
Baseline to Visit 1	0.34	0.11
Visit 1 to Visit 2	0.19	0.25
Baseline to Visit 2	0.13	0.11

No significant changes were seen for CD4 count and CD4 percentage over the course of the study for the CD4% > 25% group.

4.9.2. Anthropometric Measurements

Weights, heights and head circumference are presented in terms of z-scores. Table 4.19 shows the mean z scores for HIV positive group that was stratified according to CD4% at baseline over time. Comparisons between the groups were made using two sampled t-tests.

Table 4.19 Anthropometric Measurements at each visit for HIV Positive with CD4% < 25% and CD4%</th>>25%

	HIV Positive	HIV Positive		
Variable	CD4% < 25%	CD4% > 25%	P value	
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)		
	Baseline			
	n = 12	n = 15		
Weight for age z score	-3.19 (2.19)	-1.90 (1.52)	0.04*	
Height for age z score	-3.68 (3.5)	-2.80 (2.14)	0.21	
Wt for Ht z score	-1.28 (2.85)	0.66 (2.45)	0.04*	
HC for age z score	-1.01 (1.54)	-1.08 (1.17)	0.45	
Visit 1				
	n = 9	n = 13		
Weight for age z score	-1.28 (1.2)	-0.16 (1.61)	0.36	
Height for age z score	-2.34 (1.1)	1.89 (2.21)	0.29	
Wt for Ht z score	0.15 (1.53)	0.36 (2.4)	0.41	
HC for age z score	-0.45 (1.52)	-0.31 (1.65)	0.42	
	Visit 2			
	n = 8	n = 12		
Weight for age z score	-0.7 (1.33)	-0.12 (1.59)	0.19	
Height for age z score	-0.92 (1.28)	-0.76 (1.21)	0.39	
Wt for Ht z score	-0.3 (1.01)	0.41 (1.99)	0.18	
HC for age z score	0.65 (1.67)	0.31 (1.36)	0.31	

At baseline the CD4% < 25% group had low weight for age z scores. Weight for age z scores were significantly lower in the CD4% < 25% group compared to those in the CD4% > 25% group (p = 0.04). Weight for height z scores for the CD4% < 25% group were significantly lower compared to the CD4% > 25% group (p = 0.04).

Z-Scores improved in both groups for all anthropometric measurements over the course of the study.

At visit 1 and visit 2 no significant differences were seen between the groups for anthropometric measurements.

Table 4.20 presents the change over time for anthropometric measurements for the HIV Positive group with CD4% < 25%.

Table 4.20 Changes over time in anthropometric measurements for the HIV positive with CD4% < 2	25%
(p-values)	

	Baseline to Visit 1	Visit 1 to Visit 2	Baseline to Visit 2
Weight for Age	0.06	0.20	0.03*
Height for Age	0.20	0.04*	0.02*
Weight for Height	0.18	0.10	0.27
Head Circumference for Age	0.08	0.00*	0.00*

Significant improvements were seen in the CD4% < 25% group for weight for age z scores, height for age z scores and head circumference for age z scores over the course of the study. No significant changes were seen for weight for height z scores.

Table 4.20 presents the change over time for anthropometric measurements for the HIV Positive group with CD4% < 25%.

Table 4.21 Changes over time in anthropometric measurements for the HIV Positive with CD4% > 25% (p-values)

	Baseline to Visit 1	Visit 1 to Visit 2	Baseline to Visit 2	
Weight for Age	0.04*	0.01*	0.01*	
Height for Age	0.21	0.06	0.01*	
Weight for Height	0.04*	0.49	0.41	
Head Circumference for Age	0.45	0.15	0.00*	

Significant improvements for weight for age z scores were seen for the CD4% > 25% group from baseline to visit 1 (p= 0.04), visit 1 to visit 2 (p = 0.01) and baseline to visit 2 (p = 0.01). Significant increases were

seen for height for age from visit 1 to visit 2 (p = 0.06) and baseline to visit 2 (p = 0.01). Weight for height significantly increased from baseline to visit 1 (p = 0.04). Head circumference for age z scores significantly increased from baseline to visit 2 (p = 0.00).

In general all anthropometric measurements improved significantly over the course of the study.

4.9.3. Developmental Scores

The developmental scores for cognitive development, language development and motor development over time are presented in table 4.22. The data is presented as means and standard deviations. A score of less than 89 places the child in the low average, borderline or extremely low category on the Bayley III and depicts a delay in the particular area of development.

	HIV POSITIVE	HIV Positive		
Variable	CD4% < 25%	CD4% > 25%	p - value	
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	1	
	Baseline			
	n = 12	n = 15		
Cognitive Composite77.08 (17.64)		93.33 (11.27)	0.00*	
Language Composite 80.25 (13.59)		93.93 (10.33)	0.00*	
Motor Composite 82.08 (20.85)		102 (12.76)	0.03*	
	Visit 1	•		
	n = 9	n = 13		
Cognitive Composite	80 (12.75)	84.23 (19.98)	0.29	
Language Composite	82.11 (11.2)	87.77 (10.64)	0.12	
Motor Composite	88.44 (10.79)	93.23 (18.84)	0.25	
Visit 2				
	n = 8	n = 12		
Cognitive Composite	Cognitive Composite88.75 (15.29)		0.06	
Language Composite	Language Composite85.88 (8.79)		0.03*	
Motor Composite 90.25 (8.45)		96 (12.05)	0.13	

Table 4.22 Developmental Scores for HIV Positive infants with CD4% < 25% and CD4% > 25	%
--	---

Throughout the course of the study the CD4% < 25% group had very low scores for all developmental outcomes.

The trend was that children with higher CD4 percentages had better scores for all facets of development.

At baseline the CD4% < 25% group had significantly lower scores for cognitive (p = 0.00), language (p=0.00), and motor (p = 0.03) development compared to the CD4% > 25% group.

At visit 1 there were no significant differences between the groups for developmental scores.

At visit 2 the CD4% > 25% group had significantly higher scores for language development (p = 0.03).

Table 4.23 presents the changes that occurred over time for mean cognitive, language and motor composite scores in the HIV Positive group with CD4% < 25%.

Table 4.23 Developmental Changes over time for HIV positive with CD4% < 25% represented by pvalues

	Baseline to Visit 1	Visit 1 to Visit 2	Baseline to Visit 2
Cognitive Composite Score	0.38	0.05	0.05
Language Composite Score	0.36	0.15	0.39
Motor Composite Score	0.21	0.41	0.14

Significant improvements were seen in the CD4% < 25% group for cognitive composite scores from visit 1 to visit 2 (p = 0.05) and from baseline to visit 2 (p = 0.05). No significant changes were seen for language and motor composite scores over time in this group.

Table 4.24 presents the changes that occurred over time for mean cognitive, language and motor composite scores in the HIV Positive group with CD4% > 25%.

Table 4.24 Developmental Changes over time for HIV Positive group with CD4% > 25% represented byp-values

	Baseline to Visit 1	Visit 1 to Visit 2	Baseline to Visit 2	
Cognitive Composite Score	0.03*	0.01*	0.25	
Language Composite Score	0.07	0.07	0.44	
Motor Composite Score	0.04*	0.35	0.05	

A significant decrease in cognitive composite score was seen from baseline to visit 1 (p= 0.03) in the CD4% > 25% group. This score then significantly increased from visit 1 to visit 2 (p= 0.01). A significant decrease was also seen in the motor composite score from baseline to visit 1 (p=0.04), this score did not increase significantly from visit 1 to visit 2 (p = 0.35).

Table 4.25 presents the percentage of infants with a delay at each time period for the HIV positive and HIV exposed uninfected groups. The infant was considered to be delayed if they fell in the low average, borderline and extremely low categories on the Bayley III.

Outcome Measure	Baseline		Visit 1		Visit 2	
	HIV Positive	HIV Positive	HIV Positive	HIV Positive	HIV Positive	HIV Positive
	CD4% < 25%	CD4% > 25%	CD4% < 25%	CD4% > 25%	CD4% < 25%	CD4% > 25%
Cognitive	66.67	33.33	66.67	53.85	50	16.67
Function						
Language	75	33.33	77.78	53.85	62.5	33.33
Function						
Motor	50	13.33	55.56	30.77	50	33.33
Function						

Table 4.25 Percentage of infants delayed at each visit for developmental outcomes

The CD4% < 25% group consistently had a greater percentage of infants with delay in all facets of development compared to the CD4% < 25% group.

The percentage of infants in the CD4% > 25% group with delay increased from baseline to visit 1 in all facets of development. The percentage of infants in the CD4% > 25% group with delay then decreased from visit 1 to visit 2 for cognitive and language function.

4.10. Conclusion

The results for this study show that children with HIV are at more risk for delay in all facets of development when compared to HIV exposed uninfected infants. Even when children initiate HAART, developmental scores do not improve significantly. HIV positive infants who have CD4 percentages of less than 25% have significantly lower developmental scores when compared to HIV positive infants with CD4 percentages of more than 25%.

HIV positive infants have lower weight for age and height for age z scores when compared to HIV exposed uninfected infants. Over time anthropometric scores improved significantly and by six months of follow up there were no significant differences seen between the HIV positive group and HEU group.

At baseline the HIV positive group had significantly more illnesses and hospital admissions when compared to the HIV exposed uninfected group. By six months follow up no significant differences were seen between the two groups.

The results of this study will be discussed in chapter five.

Chapter 5 DISCUSSION

The results of the study will be discussed in detail in this chapter. The limitations of the study will be discussed. Recommendations for changes in clinical practice and for future research will also be made.

5.1. Neurodevelopment of HIV positive infants

5.1.1. Cognitive Development

The HIV positive group had significantly lower scores for cognitive development at baseline and visit one when compared to the HIV exposed uninfected group. This is depicted in Figure 5.1. Several other studies have showed that HIV positive children tend to score significantly lower for cognitive function when compared to HIV exposed uninfected infants and healthy controls (Burns et al, 2008; Van Rie et al, 2008; Tahan et al, 2006; Blanchette et al, 2001; Bruck et al, 2001; Knight et al, 2000; Drotar et al, 1997; Pollack et al, 1996; Boivin et al, 1995; Chase et al, 1995; Gay et al, 1995; Nozyce et al, 1994).



Figure 5.1. Bar graph depicting cognitive composite scores for HIV positive and HIV Exposed Uninfected groups over time

When looking at two South African studies that used an earlier edition of the Bayley Scales of Infant Development, the percentage of infants presenting with cognitive delay is far higher than in this study (Potterton et al 2009b; Ballieu and Potterton 2008). In Potterton et al (2009b) 78% of the sample had delayed cognitive development, Baillieu and Potterton (2008) showed that 97.5% of HIV infected children had a cognitive delay. In the current study at baseline 48.15% of the HIV positive infants had a cognitive delay and at six months follow up 30% of the HIV positive infants had a cognitive delay. Mean composite scores for cognitive development were also higher in this study. This may indicate that care for HIV children is improving and appears to be having a positive impact on cognitive development. When Potterton et al (2009b) and Ballieu and Potterton (2008) conducted their studies very few of their participants were receiving HAART. Criteria for initiating HAART changed in 2010. All children under the age of one year are initiated on HAART regardless of their CD4 count. Therefore, all the HIV infected children in this study were receiving HAART.

At visit two there were no significant differences between the two groups for mean cognitive composite scores. Van Rie et al (2009) found that at baseline their HIV positive group scored significantly lower for cognitive function when compared to the HIV exposed uninfected infants, but by 12 months of followup the HIV positive group had similar scores to the HIV exposed uninfected group. A similar finding can be noted in this study - no significant differences were seen between the two groups by six months follow-up.

Over the course of the study cognitive composite scores increased significantly from visit one to visit two (p = 0.0161) and the scores fell within normal ranges. The children had been on HAART for at least 6 months at this stage and this may explain the increase in scores seen. From baseline to visit one there was a slight decrease in the mean cognitive composite score that was not significant, however this could be related to high viral loads continuing to persist and high viral loads still being present in the central nervous system (CNS). Other studies have noted that cognitive function tends to decline over time (Pollack et al, 1996; Chase et al, 1995; Gay et al, 1995; Nozyce et al, 1994). This was not noted in this study. The authors of the various studies hypothesized that a decline was seen in cognitive scores due to a language barrier being present as cognitive items became more difficult and as they relied more heavily on language (Gay et al, 1995). Due to this study's population being so young the decline in scores from baseline to visit one could not be attributed to a language barrier. Wolters et al (1997) found that cognitive function stayed stable over time with no significant changes even if the child was on ARV's.

Two case studies reported improvement in cognitive function after HAART was initiated (Silva et al, 2009; Tepper et al, 1998). Thomaidis et al (2010) also found that cognitive deficits continue to persist even with HAART. Two reviews have reported that cognitive deficits continue to persist even when children are initiated on HAART (Burns et al, 2008; Van Rie et al, 2007).

The severity of delay of cognitive function has been associated with lower CD4 counts and higher viral loads as well as with growth failure (Potterton et al, 2009b; Pearson et al, 2000; Pollack et al, 1996; Chase et al, 1995; Newell et al 1995). During the course of this study growth as well as immune function in the HIV positive group improved and this may have resulted in the increase seen in mean cognitive composite scores.

There was a far higher percentage of infants delayed for cognitive development at baseline (48.15%), visit one (59.09%) and visit two (30%) compared to the HIV exposed uninfected group. From baseline to visit one the percentage of infants that were delayed in the HIV positive group increased. Once again this may be related to viral loads were not yet being adequately suppressed and a high viral loads still bring present in the CNS.

When the HIV positive group was stratified according to CD4 percentages at baseline it was found that the group with CD4% < 25% (n = 12) had significantly lower mean cognitive composite scores at baseline compared to the group with CD4% > 25% (n= 15). At visit one and visit two there was no significant difference for mean cognitive composite scores between the two groups. At each visit there was a higher percentage of children with cognitive delay in the CD4% < 25% group compared to the CD4% > 25% group. The percentage of children delayed in both groups had decreased by visit two and only 16.67% of children in the CD4% > 25% group had a cognitive delay.

Significant improvements were seen in the group with CD4% < 25% from visit one to visit two and baseline to visit two. In the CD4% > 25% group a significant decrease in cognitive composite score was seen from baseline to visit 1 but the score improved significantly from visit one to visit two.

It appears that CD4 percentage plays a role in cognitive development. The higher the CD4 percentage when initiating HAART the better the cognitive outcome. Cognitive outcome has been associated with CD4 counts as well as viral loads (Potterton et al 2009b; Pearson et al, 2000; Pollack et al 1996; Chase et

al, 1995; Newell et al, 1995). Poorer CD4 counts are related to worse the cognitive outcome. Therefore, it is essential that infants who are HIV positive are detected early in order for HAART to be initiated and to prevent further immune compromise so that cognitive function is maintained and improved upon.

It appears that HAART may have a positive effect on improving cognitive function in children with HIV. This result is positive when compared to other results that have not shown a significant improvement in cognitive function over time in children with HIV on HAART. Children with lower CD4 percentages tend to function worse cognitively; therefore, the early initiation of HAART is essential in order to preserve cognitive function. If cognitive function is not preserved early on, myelination in the CNS may be affected and the brain may not be protected from an early stage. This may lead to catastrophic consequences as the child ages.

5.1.2. Language Development

Mean language composite scores were significantly lower at baseline, visit one and visit two for the HIV positive group when compared to the HIV exposed uninfected group. This is depicted in figure 5.2 below. At each visit there was always a higher percentage of HIV positive infants with language delay compared to the HIV exposed uninfected infants.



Figure 5.2. Bar graph depicting language composite scores for HIV positive and HIV Exposed Uninfected groups over time

Several studies have shown that language is delayed in HIV positive infants (Brackis-Cott et al, 2009; Van Rie et al, 2008; Coplan et al, 1998; Wolters et al, 1997; Boivin et al, 1995). Baillieu and Potterton (2008) found that 82.5% of their sample had a language delay. In this study, at baseline, 51.85% of the sample had a language delay. In this study, at baseline, 51.85% of the sample had a language delay. This is far lower than in Baillieu and Potterton's study. In their study very few infants had access to ARV's and their sample was older. In the current study all the children were on HAART at visit two, therefore improved care may be resulting in fewer HIV positive children with a language delay.

In the HIV positive group the percentage of infants with a language delay increased from baseline (51.85%) to visit one (63.34%) and then decreased from visit one (63.34%) to visit two (45%). This may be due to the fact that from baseline to visit one only a period of three months had elapsed, high viral loads may still be present especially in the CNS which would contribute to the language delay. At visit two the percentage of infants with a language delay had decreased and this may indicate that HAART is starting to take effect, however it is important to note that no significant increases were seen in the mean language composite scores over this time period. The HIV positive group's scores remained significantly lower when compared to the HIV exposed uninfected group. Therefore, HAART may not be effective in improving language function but may prevent it from deteriorating as no significant decrease in scores was seen over time. This finding is similar to that of Wolters et al (1997) who found no significant changes over time for language function.

Other studies have shown that as HIV positive children get older language function tends to decline (Coplan et al, 1998; Wolters et al 1997). This however was not seen in this study; therefore HAART may be effective in preventing a decline in language function.

It has been found that language development is related to the severity of disease stage as well as CD4 counts and viral loads (Pearson et al, 2000; Newell et al, 1995). Over time in this study CD4 counts improved and may have contributed to stabilisation of language function being detected.

Language development is also dependent on motor function and cognitive development (Coplan et al, 1998). In this study both cognitive and motor function were delayed and may have contributed to the language delay seen.

A lower percentage of children with delay were seen in this study at baseline, visit one and visit two when compared to other South African studies (Potterton et al, 2009b). This is a positive finding. It may mean that care of HIV infected infants is slowly improving and this may be contributing to improved language performance. However, this finding should be viewed with care as the study population was far younger in this study.

At each assessment in this study the HIV positive group had lower expressive language scaled scores compared to receptive language scaled scores. This is similar to findings from other studies (Baillieu and Potterton, 2008; Foster et al, 2006; Wolters et al, 1997). The reason for expressive language being more delayed than receptive language may be due to the fact that expressive language development relies on motor development (Coplan et al, 1998). Motor development in the HIV positive group in this study was delayed and therefore may have contributed to the delay seen in expressive language.

When the HIV positive group was stratified according to CD4 percentages at baseline it was found that the group with CD4% < 25% had significantly lower mean language composite scores at baseline and visit two compared to the group with CD4% > 25%. At visit one there were no significant differences for mean language composite scores between the two groups. The language composite score in the CD4% > 25% group had decreased. This decrease may be related to high viral loads still being present in the CNS and HAART may not yet have fully taken effect.

At each visit there was a higher percentage of children with language delay in the CD4% < 25% group compared to the CD4% > 25% group. The percentage of children delayed in the CD4% < 25% group had decreased by visit two. The percentage of children delayed in the CD4% > 25% group had increased at visit one but then by visit two had decreased again to what it was at baseline.

No significant improvements were seen throughout the course of the study in both groups. Therefore, HAART may not be effective in improving language function. However, scores did not decrease significantly either, so HAART may be effective in maintaining language function.

It appears that CD4 percentage plays a role in language development. The higher the CD4 percentage when initiating HAART the better the language outcome. Language function is associated with disease severity, CD4 counts and viral loads (Potterton et al 2009b; Pearson et al, 2000; Pollack et al 1996; Chase
et al, 1995; Newell et al, 1995). This has been shown in this study as well. In this study the higher the CD4 percentage at baseline the better the language function. Therefore, it is essential that infants who are HIV positive are detected early in order for HAART to be initiated and to prevent further immune compromise so that language function can be maintained.

It appears that HAART does not result in significant improvements in language function over time. However, language did not deteriorate in this study; therefore HAART may be effective in preventing further declines in language. It is still important to note that even though no significant declines were seen in language function, language scores were still significantly lower when compared to the HIV exposed uninfected group, therefore HIV results in language delay that continues to persist despite the use of HAART. Other intervention is required in order for language function to improve.

5.1.3. Motor Development

At baseline, visit one and visit two mean motor composite scores were significantly lower in the HIV positive group when compared to the HIV exposed uninfected group. This is depicted in figure 5.3. Several studies have shown that motor development is affected in HIV positive children (Baillieu and Potterton, 2008; Foster et al, 2006; McGarth et al, 2006; Pearson et al, 2000; Armstrong et al, 1993).



Figure 5.3. Bar graph depicting motor composite scores for HIV positive and HIV Exposed Uninfected groups over time

In two South African studies the frequency of motor delay was found to be higher than 80% (Potterton et al, 2009b; Baillieu and Potterton, 2008) and in another study 66% of HIV positive infants had a motor delay (Ferguson and Jelsma, 2009). In the current study at baseline there were 29.63% of children with a motor delay and at visit two 40% of HIV positive infants had a motor delay. This is far lower than reported in other studies however, similar to the results reported in Potterton and Eales (2001). This study also had very young infants.

Motor development appears to decline over time (Burns et al, 2008; Pollack et al, 1996; Nozyce et al, 1994). In this study no significant changes were seen over time for mean motor composite scores in the HIV positive group. No improvement was seen in mean motor composite scores and this may indicate that HAART has no effect on motor development. However, no decline was seen in scores, therefore HAART may prevent motor function from deteriorating in HIV positive infants.

At baseline, visit one and visit two there was a higher percentage of HIV infected children presenting with delay compared to the HIV exposed uninfected group. The percentage of delay increased from baseline (29.63%) to visit one (40.91%) and did not decrease from visit one to visit two as seen with cognitive and language development. This may indicate that motor development is more severely affected than cognitive and language development. Several studies have reported that motor development appears to be more severely affected than other facets of development (Baillieu and Potterton 2008; Foster et al, 2006; Drotar et al, 1997). The reason that motor development declines over time may be explained by the requirements in the standardised tests that are administered. As the child gets older the test items in the Bayley III become more challenging. More proximal stability is required as well as more strength. Many of the items are now performed against gravity. It has been postulated that often function is poor in HIV positive children in activities that require postural stability, motor co-ordination and eccentric strength (Baillieu and Potterton, 2008; Potterton and Eales, 2001). It is important to note that the test has been normed on healthy children, therefore a decline in scores may be related to a deterioration in motor function. Also the HIV exposed uninfected group did not deteriorate in terms of motor function, thus HIV appears to influence motor development.

Motor developmental delay is also associated with severity of disease stage; CD4 counts and viral loads as well as growth (Potterton et al 2009b; Abubaker et al, 2009; Foster et al 2006; Pearson et al, 2000; Boivin et al, 1995; Chase et al, 1995; Nozyce et al, 1994) At each assessment in the HIV positive group, gross motor scaled scores were lower than fine motor scaled scores. Several studies have also shown this (Jelsma et al, 2011; Baillieu and Potterton, 2008; Van Rie et al, 2007; Msellati et al, 1993). The reason for gross motor function being more delayed than fine motor function is because HIV positive children are often stunted which impacts on gross motor performance, they have decreased strength as well as tone abnormalities which contribute to gross motor delay (Abubaker et al, 2009; Potterton et al, 2009b; Baillieu and Potterton, 2008).

When the HIV positive group was stratified according to CD4 percentages at baseline it was found that the group with CD4% < 25% had significantly lower mean motor composite scores at baseline compared to the group with CD4% > 25%. At visit one and visit two there were no significant differences for mean motor composite scores between the two groups. At each visit there was a higher percentage of children with motor delay in the CD4% < 25% group compared to the CD4% > 25% group. The percentage of children delayed in both groups had not decreased by visit two. The percentage of children with motor delay in the CD4% > 25% group had increased to 33.33% from baseline percentage of 13.33%. This may indicate that motor function is more severely affected than language and cognitive function in infants with HIV. This finding has been reported in several other studies (Baillieu and Potterton 2008; Foster et al, 2006; Drotar et al, 1997).

No significant improvements were seen in the CD4% < 25% for motor function through the course of the study. In the CD4% > 25% group a significant decrease in motor composite scores were seen from baseline to visit one and baseline to visit two. Once again motor function may be more severely affected than language function in HIV positive infants.

It appears that CD4 percentage does not play such a huge role in motor development. Initially infants with higher CD4 percentages perform better, but once initiated on HAART motor performance is similar regardless of CD4 percentage.

It appears that HAART does not have an effect in improving mean motor composite scores in HIV positive infants. No significant improvements or declines were seen over time therefore it may protect the child from regressing in terms of motor development. However, infants with a CD4% > 25% had a significant decline in motor scores. This result should be viewed with care as the sample was extremely

small. As time passed a higher percentage of infants became delayed in motor development. Clearly there is a need for a different sort of intervention.

5.2. HAART Regimens and HIV Encephalopathy

The children in this study were initiated on a regimen which included a combination of 3TC/ABC/Kaletra. The children remained on this regimen except for one child who was started on 3TC/ABC/D4T at visit 2. Patel et al (2009) discuss the various CNS penetrating ARVs in their study. According to them 3TC has a medium CNS penetration scale. ABC and Kaletra (Lopinavir/Ritonavir)r has a high CNS peneratiom scale. This means that the ARV's the children in this study were receiving were able to cross the blood brain barrier and should therefore help to decrease viral loads present in the CNS thereby minimising damage from HIV.

5.3. Development of the HIV Exposed Uninfected Child

The HIV exposed uninfected group had normal composite scores for cognitive, language and motor development at all time points in the study. There were no significant changes in development over time in the HIV positive group and fewer HIV exposed uninfected infants had delays compared to the HIV positive group.

Several studies have shown that development is normal in HIV exposed uninfected infants (Van Rie et al, 2008; Blanchette et al, 2001; Bruck et al, 2001; Boivin et al, 1995). Alimenti et al (2006) compared neurodevelopment in HIV exposed and HIV unexposed children and when controlling for substance abuse found no significant differences between the two groups. The data in this study shows that HIV exposed uninfected infants obtain normal scores on the Bayley III and are not as delayed as HIV positive infants.

5.4. Anthropometric outcomes in HIV positive infants

HIV infected children have problems with growth (Isanaka et al, 2009). Growth failure often becomes apparent early on and may continue to persist without adequate intervention (Isanaka et al, 2009; Miller

et al, 2001). Growth failure in HIV positive infants is often due to increased energy requirements, gastrointestinal disturbances and infections, mal-absorption problems and endocrine changes (Isanaka et al, 2009; Miller et al, 2001). Growth failure is often associated with poorer immune function, disease progression and increased mortality (Isanaka et al, 2009).

5.4.1. Weight

In this study the HIV positive group had very low weight for age z scores at baseline and scores were well below two standard deviations of the norm. Therefore, the infants in this group were malnourished. At baseline and at visit one the HIV positive group had significantly lower weight for age z scores when compared to the HIV exposed uninfected group. By visit two significant increases in weight for age z scores had occurred, and scores were within normal ranges. There were no significant differences in mean weight for age z scores between the HIV positive and HIV exposed uninfected group at visit two.

This study appears to indicate that HIV may influence weight in infected infants. Several other studies from both developed and developing countries have shown that HIV infected children are malnourished (Abubaker et al, 2009; Potterton et al, 2009b; Van Rie et al, 2008; The European Collaborative Study, 2003; Bobat et al, 2001; Miller et al, 2001). In a South African study by Bobat et al (2001), HIV infected infants were underweight when compared to HIV exposed uninfected infants, weight for age z scores were 2SD below the norm and being underweight continued to persist. In their study infants did not yet have access to ARV's. In another South African study, Potterton et al (2009a) also showed that HIV infected infants were malnourished and weight for age z scores were 2SD below the international standard.

Significant increases in mean weight for age z scores were seen over the course of this study. The increase seen may be attributed to the effects of HAART. At the clinic caregivers are also able to consult with a dietician and receive education regarding good nutrition. This could also explain the improvements seen in weight for age z scores. Several other studies have also shown improvements in weight with the initiation of HAART as well as with improved care of HIV positive infants. Potterton et al (2009a) showed that infants receiving care at an HIV clinic in South Africa had increases in weight for age z scores over a 12 month period. In this study not all infants were receiving HAART. Foster et al (2006) showed significant improvements over time in weight, in their study all infants were receiving ARV's.

Guillen et al (2007) and Song et al (2007) also showed significant increases in weight for age z scores over time with HAART in HIV infected infants. In a review on the effectiveness of ARV treatment in Sub-Saharan Africa, Sutcliffe et al (2008) reported that in the first year of receiving ARV treatment, HIV positive children have significant gains in weight that are maintained over a long period of time. Musoke et al (2010) in a Ugandan study showed that the younger the children are when initiating HAART the more significant increases in weight will be seen. Reddi et al (2007) showed that after one month of being on HAART, significant increases in weight are present. In the current study children were followed for 6 months and significant improvements in weight for age were seen. This result is similar to that of other studies.

After stratifying the HIV positive group according to CD4 percentages at baseline it was found that the group with CD4% < 25% had significantly lower weight for age z scores at baseline compared to the CD4% > 25% group. A significant improvement was seen for both groups for weight for age by visit 2. This result may show that CD4 percentage may affect weight. The more immune compromised the child is the more malnourished they are. Foster et al (2006) showed that HIV positive children with a more advanced disease stage had significantly lower growth parameters. Bobat et al (2001) and The European Collaborative Study (2003) also found that there is an association between viral load, disease stage and growth. They postulate those children with a more severe disease stage and who are more immune compromised are at higher risk for problems with nutrient absorption and therefore have worse growth. This may have been the case in this study. At baseline many of the HIV positive infants had severe illnesses including gastroenteritis; this may have affected weight for age z scores. Once on HAART weight for age z scores in both groups improved and therefore HAART may have influenced the increase seen in weight in infants infected with HIV.

5.4.2. Height

The HIV positive group in this study was very short. At baseline and visit 1 height for age z scores were two standard deviations below the norm. However, there were no significant differences between the HIV positive and HIV exposed uninfected groups at any visit. Over time height for age z scores increased significantly and by visit 2 scores were within normal ranges.

Clearly infants infected with HIV are stunted. Several other studies have shown that children infected with HIV are stunted (Van Rie et al , 2009; Potterton et al, 2009a; The European Collaborative Study,

2003; Bobat et al, 2001;). Bobat et al (2001) showed that South African infants are significantly shorter when compared to HIV exposed uninfected infants. They found that stunting occurs from early on and continues to persist. In Bobat et al's study children did not have access to ARV's which may have contributed to the fact that stunting continued to persist. The European Collaborative Study (2003) had similar findings to Bobat et al (2001). Potterton et al (2009a) also found that South African infants infected with HIV were stunted.

There was a significant increase in mean height for age z scores over the course of this study. This increase may be due to the effects of HAART as well as nutritional advice that was given at the HIV clinic. Potterton et al (2009a) showed an increase in height over a 12 month period in South African HIV infected infants but infants still remained quite short. In their study there was no comparison group with HIV uninfected children. These children received care at an HIV clinic similar to the one in this study and some of the infants also received HAART. Foster et al (2006) also showed a significant increase in height over time in HIV infected children, however their study was retrospective and once again there was no comparison group. Guillen et al (2007) showed significant increases in weight for age z scores for HIV positive children with the use of HAART. In a review by Sutcliffe et al (2008), improvements in height were noted; however the increase in height was not as significant as with weight.

After stratifying the HIV positive group according to CD4 percentages at baseline no significant differences were found between the groups at any time point, however significant improvements for height were seen in both groups. The European Collaborative Study (2003) and Bobat et al (2001) reported that stunting may be attributed to severity of disease stage, however in this study no differences were seen when the HIV positive group was stratified according to CD4 percentages prior to initiation of HAART. Stunting is generally related to poor socioeconomic circumstances (WHO, 1986).

5.4.3. Weight for Height

Weight for height z scores are indicative of wasting in a child. Low weight for height z scores may result from a failure to gain weight or from weight loss (WHO, 1986).

In this study weight for height z scores were significantly lower for the HIV positive group at baseline and visit one when compared to the HIV exposed uninfected group. By visit two, no significant differences were seen between the two groups for weight for height z scores and scores had improved but not significantly. Mean weight for height z scores in the HIV positive group did not indicate that wasting was present and this is similar to findings in several other studies (Potterton et al, 2009a; The European Collaborative Study, 2003; Bobat et al, 2001). No significant differences occurred over time for weight for height z scores in the study.

The CD4% < 25% group had significantly lower weight for height z scores compared to the CD4 % > 25% group. No significant differences were seen by visit 2. Because both weight and height increased in the HIV positive infants, less of an effect may have been seen for weight for height z scores.

5.4.4. Head Circumference

Head circumference is considered to be a part of general growth and is therefore not a widely used measure. Research concerning head circumference in HIV positive infants is fairly limited.

There were no significant differences between the HIV positive and HIV exposed uninfected group at baseline, visit one and visit two for head circumference. Pollack et al (1996) had a similar finding when comparing HIV positive infants, HIV exposed uninfected infants and HIV unexposed, unaffected infants. Initially head circumference was low in the HIV positive group. Both Van Rie et al (2008) and Chase et al (1995) have reported a decreased head circumference as well as microcephaly in HIV positive children. A significant increase in head circumference was seen by visit two in the HIV positive group. There were no significant differences between the two stratified groups for head circumference at any time point in the study. However, significant increases in head circumference that had improved over time. Potterton et al (2009a) also showed low z scores for head circumference in HIV positive infants receiving a combination of ZDV and DDI.

The increases seen in head circumference may be related to the effects of HAART. The increases could indicate good brain growth and development. It is important to note that increases in head circumference were not significant and there were no significant differences between the HIV positive and HIV exposed uninfected groups.

5.4.5. General Growth

It is important to consider growth when looking at development. Poor growth is often associated with poor development. Abubaker et al (2009) showed that HIV positive children who are underweight and malnourished perform significantly worse for psychomotor development. Pollack et al (1996) also showed that HIV positive children with poor weight and height have poorer scores on the BSID II. They found that severe growth failure results in severe cognitive and motor delays and that growth failure often precedes onset of neuro developmental delay. Potterton et al (2009a) also shows that weight influences development.

By the end of this study growth parameters were within normal ranges in the HIV positive group and therefore should not have impacted too severely on developmental outcomes by visit two. Even though children in this study were not wasted, muscle atrophy may have started to occur when the children were underweight and stunted and this may not have yet resolved by visit two. Therefore, there may have been a loss of muscle strength which would have impacted on certain test items for motor development especially those requiring muscle activity against gravity and proximal stability.

It appears that HAART has an important effect on growth in HIV positive infants. In this study significant increases were seen for weight for age, height for age and head circumference for age in the HIV positive group. The improvements seen in growth parameters may also be explained by the nutritional advice that caregivers received at the HIV clinic.

It is encouraging to note that growth parameters improved after a fairly short period on HAART. The increases seen in growth may have positive effects on immune function as well as on overall development in the HIV infected child.

5.5. Growth in the HIV Exposed Uninfected Infant

Children in the HIV exposed uninfected group had good weight for age z-scores at all time points in the study. Height for age z scores were low and below 2SD of the norm at baseline and visit 1. By visit two, the mean height for age z score was within normal range and had increased significantly over the course of the study.

Several other studies have shown that HIV exposed uninfected infants are stunted (Arpadi et al, 2009; Filteau, 2009). Height has been found to be influenced by socioeconomic circumstances (WHO, 1986). Children living in poor socioeconomic circumstances are stunted (WHO, 1986). The height gain seen in the study may be attributed to the fact that the majority of HIV exposed infants were formula fed. Formula was being provided to the caregivers free of charge for the first 6 months of the child's life and caregivers were given continuous dietary advice. This may have impacted the results.

5.6. Medical Information

The presence of severity of HIV, the presence of illness as well as CD4 counts, CD4 percentages and viral loads have been shown to impact on cognitive, language and motor development (Potterton et al 2009b; Bertou et al, 2008; Burns et al, 2008; Foster et al, 2006; Smith et al, 2006; Pearson et al, 2000; Chase et al, 1995; Nozyce et al, 1994;).

At baseline the HIV positive group had significantly more illnesses and hospital admissions compared to the HIV exposed uninfected group. At visit one there were no significant differences between the two groups for hospital admissions and illnesses. At visit two, the HIV exposed uninfected group had significantly more illnesses compared to the HIV positive group. These illnesses were things like a cough or rhinitis and were not as severe as the illnesses experienced by the HIV positive group.

By visit two far fewer HIV positive infants were ill and were being admitted to hospital. This may be due to the effects of HAART.

Zwi et al (1999) and Kourtis et al (2007) showed that HIV positive infants have high numbers of hospital admissions. Hospital admissions are often due to oral candidiasis, respiratory infections, anemia, failure to thrive, diarrhea, TB, malaria and meningitis (Kourtis et al, 2007; Zwi et al, 1999). Nesheim et al (2007) and Sutcliffe et al (2008) showed that with HAART the incidence of opportunistic infections is reduced. Hospital admissions in infants receiving HAART is also decreased (Sutcliffe et al 2008; Violori et al, 2008; Foster and Lyall, 2005). This study also showed a decrease in hospital admissions as well as illnesses over time, this decrease is may be related to the effects of HAART.

In the HIV positive groups CD4 counts and CD4 percentages increased over time. There was a significant increase in CD4 counts from baseline to visit two and the increase in CD4 percentage approached significance. During the course of the study viral load decreased and by visit two 23.53% of the infants had an undetectable viral load. HAART may have a positive effect on CD4 counts, CD4 percentages and viral loads. Various studies have reported significant decreases in viral loads and increases in CD4 counts and CD4 percentages (Musoke et al, 2010; Bracher et al, 2007; Janssens et al, 2007; Resino et al, 2006). In a review Sutcliffe et al (2008) reported that CD4 percentages increased and viral load decreased in the first year of life. Reddi et al (2007) reported similar findings in a South African study. McKinney et al (2007) showed that after 96 weeks on HAART, 86% of infants had a suppressed viral load.

5.7. Pregnancy History

Prevention of mother to child transmission is effective in reducing vertical transmission of HIV (Connor et al, 1994; Sharer et al, 1999). This was also seen in the current study. In this study significantly more mothers of HIV exposed uninfected infants received antenatal care and AZT during pregnancy compared to mothers of HIV positive infants.

There were no significant differences between the two groups for the mothers having illness and hospital admissions during pregnancy. CD4 counts prior to delivery in the mothers were also not significantly different. Therefore, these factors may not have impacted on developmental outcomes in the two groups.

5.8. Demographic Information

The HIV exposed uninfected group was younger than the HIV positive group. The main reason for this may be that HIV exposed uninfected infants were detected far sooner than the HIV positive group and were often detected at six to eight weeks of age as the caregivers were attending the follow-up clinic at that time. The HIV positive infants often presented to the clinic at a later stage. Even though a difference was seen in age, both groups were still very young at baseline. Anthropometric measurements and developmental scores are corrected for age therefore the age difference would not have impacted upon the results.

It is encouraging to note that the HIV positive infants are being detected at such an early age so that treatment can start early on.

The HIV positive group had significantly lower birth weights when compared to the HIV exposed uninfected group. Even though there was a difference in birth weights in the two groups, the HIV positive group did not have a mean low birth weight. Therefore, there should not have been any adverse effects on developmental outcomes.

5.9. Loss to follow-up

Loss to follow-up in this study was high at 30.36%. Loss to follow-up occurred for a variety of reasons. The reasons included death, participants relocating and participants being untraceable.

In the HIV positive group four participants had died during the course of the study and deaths had occurred prior to visit one (three month follow-up). This may have meant that these children were rapid progressors and therefore had died sooner. The researcher was unable to trace five participants; three from the HIV exposed uninfected group and two from the HIV positive group. Contact numbers for these participants no longer worked and they had defaulted on their appointments at the Empilweni clinic. The clinic was also unable to trace them. Due to poor socioeconomic circumstances, participants often do not have access to cell phones, or cell phones get stolen and their numbers change. In the HIV positive group one patient relocated. Seven participants relocated in the HIV exposed uninfected group. Most of the relocations occurred after visit one. This may be explained by the fact that free formula was no longer being dispensed to the HIV exposed uninfected infants and the infants were no longer in need of medical care or follow-up from the clinic. Therefore, caregivers could relocate to areas where they were able to find work or children were sent to live with their grandparents in rural areas so that their parents could work.

In this study every effort was made to prevent loss to follow-up. Participants were reimbursed for their transport costs. Appointments for the study were made on the same day as the participant's clinic visit and participants were phoned to remind them about their appointments. If they did not arrive for their appointment they were phoned again to reschedule.

High loss to follow-up is often anticipated in studies conducted in South Africa. Participants often live in very poor social circumstances and this may result in poor follow-up (Rosen et al, 2007; Mills et al, 2006; Jones et al, 2005). Participants often live far away from the hospitals where they receive treatment and therefore transport costs to get to the clinic are high (Meyers et al, 2007, Mills et al, 2006; Jones et al, 2005). South Africa has a high unemployment rate and often participants simply do not have money for taxi fares (Mills et al, 2006; Jones et al, 2005). Death in this study population also results in high loss to follow-up (Rosen et al, 2007).

5.10. Challenges of the Study

- There was a high loss to follow-up in this study. This has been explained in depth above.
- A longer follow-up would have been useful and would have given more insight into neurodevelopment in HIV positive infants receiving HAART. However, this study showed improvements in growth parameters, morbidity as well as blood results over the six month period which was similar to results from other studies. Developmental scores did not change significantly over time but once again this was similar to findings from several other studies. A longer follow-up would have resulted in a far higher loss to follow-up and would not have been feasible.
- The Bayley III has not been normed on South African infants, however the BSID I was (Richter et al, 1992). The BSID I was found to be a valuable and reliable tool in assessing black South African infants. The Bayley III has also been used in several other developmental studies (Hilburn, 2010; Brown, 2009; Kigara, 2008). The fact that the HIV exposed uninfected children had normal scores indicate that the norms of the Bayley III are appropriate for children in South Africa.
- Once the HIV positive group was stratified according to CD4 percentages at baseline, sample size was very small in each group. Therefore it is difficult to draw conclusions from these results. Results need to be viewed with care and only general observations can be made.
- The assessor was not blinded to the HIV status of the children in the study.

5.11. Clinical Recommendations based on the Results

- HAART may prevent delay occurring in HIV positive infants and may preserve neuro-developmental function, therefore it is essential that HIV positive infants are detected early and that HAART is started as soon as possible.
- HIV positive infants are clearly delayed for cognitive, language and motor development. HAART appears to prevent further delay, however does not reverse delay already present. This means that it is essential for therapists to become an integral part of HIV clinics in South Africa. Policies need to be changed in order to include therapists in the staff establishments of HIV clinics.
- Potterton et al (2009a) showed that a basic home stimulation programme provided to HIV positive infants is effective in improving developmental outcomes. Programmes such as these need to be given to all caregivers of HIV infected infants. Therapists need to be present in the HIV clinics in order to administer these programmes.
- Due to budgetary constraints in the Department of Health a therapist in each HIV clinic may not be a feasible option. Counsellors and nurses should therefore be educated on the effects of HIV development and be encouraged to educate parents regarding development and how to stimulate their children appropriately.
- In order for early intervention to occur, all HIV positive infants should be screened for developmental delay.
- Doctors in HIV clinics need to be provided with screening tools so that they can easily detect developmental delays and refer patients early on for adequate rehabilitation.
- HIV exposed uninfected infants do not have severe delays in cognitive, motor and language development. Efforts need to continue in order to reduce MTCT of HIV in South Africa so that children are not put at increased risk for developmental delays which adversely affect school performance and work opportunities later in life.

• Efforts to detect HIV early on in infants should continue and be improved. The earlier an infant is initiated on HAART and before severe immune compromise the better for their development and growth.

5.12. Recommendations for future research

- Studies of a similar nature with longer follow-up should be considered.
- Studies of a similar nature should be undertaken in older children in order to determine effects of HIV on school performance and to determine rehabilitation needs
- Randomised controlled trials on intervention strategies for rehabilitation in HIV positive infants and children need to be conducted in order to establish protocols for rehabilitation needs and to determine the best possible rehabilitation in HIV positive children.

Children in this study who were HIV positive scored significantly lower for all facets of development when compared to an HIV exposed uninfected group. Their growth parameters were also significantly worse at baseline compared to the HIV exposed uninfected group. Developmental scores did not improve over time with the initiation of HAART however, growth parameters did improved significantly. The conclusions of this study will be presented in the next chapter.

Chapter 6 CONCLUSION

The main aim of this study was to compare neurodevelopment in HIV positive infants on HAART to HIV exposed uninfected infants. Part of this study was to also compare anthropometric data, hospital admissions, illnesses and maternal health between the groups. Subjects all attended the HIV clinic (Empilweni Clinic) at Rahima Moosa Mother and Child hospital and came from similar socioeconomic backgrounds. The conclusions of this study are summarised below.

- Infants infected with HIV are significantly more delayed in cognitive, language and motor function when compared to HIV exposed uninfected infants. This is similar to findings from other studies and indicates that HIV positive infants should be screened for developmental delay when attending their clinic appointments.
- Despite the use of HAART, delays continued to persist, therefore there is a need for further intervention and rehabilitation in HIV infected infants.
- Although no significant improvements were seen in developmental scores, no significant decline occurred. Therefore, HAART may prevent further neurological damage and be neuro-protective. It was not, however in the scope of this study to observe brain abnormalities.
- There was a trend for infants with lower CD4 percentages to score lower on the Bayley III compared to infants with higher CD4 percentages. Therefore, it is of utmost important that children infected with HIV are detected early on and that treatment is initiated prior to severe immune compromise.
- During the course of the study anthropometric measurements in the children increased significantly. HAART as well as nutritional advice and support received at the clinic may be effective in preventing stunting and malnourishment in children infected with HIV.

- HIV positive infants had significantly more illnesses and hospital admissions compared to HIV exposed uninfected infants. However, with the use of HAART, hospital admissions and illnesses decreased in the HIV group and by six months follow up there were no significant differences between the two groups.
- In this study maternal health between the two groups were similar, with no significant differences between the groups for maternal illnesses, hospital admissions and CD4 counts prior to delivery. A significant difference was seen in use of AZT during pregnancy. The mothers of the HIV exposed uninfected infants used significantly more AZT than the mothers of the HIV positive infants. This suggests that PMTCT is effective in reducing vertical transmission of HIV.

This study suggests that HAART is effective in reducing illnesses and hospital admissions in HIV positive infants as well as improving growth parameters. HAART does not appear to be effective in improving neurodevelopment, however it may prevent further delay occurring. The HIV positive infants still scored significantly lower on the Bayley III compared to HIV exposed uninfected infants even after being on HAART for six months. Therefore, there is a need for HIV infected infants and children to have improved access to developmental screening services as well as to rehabilitative services. Therapists need to become more involved in HIV clinics and research in the area of rehabilitation in HIV infected children is urgently required.

Chapter 7 REFERENCES

Abubakar A, Holding P, Newton CRJC, Van Baar A, Van de Vijver FJR 2009 The role of weight for age and disease stage in poor psychomotor outcome of HIV-infected children in Kilifi, Kenya. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology* 51: 968 – 973.

Abubakar A, Van Baar A, Van de Vijver FJR, Holding P, Newton CRJC 2008 Paediatric HIV and neurodevelopment in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review. *Tropical Medicine and International Health* 13 (7): 880 – 887.

Aina OF, Morakinyo O 2005 Normative data on mental and motor development in Nigerian children. Journal of Tropical Pediatrics 24 (2): 151 - 156

Alimenti A, Fornes JC, Oberlander TF, Money DM, Grunau RE, Papsdorf MP, Maan E, Cole LJ, Burdhe DR 2006 A Prospective Controlled Study of Neurodevelopment in HIV-Uninfected Children Exposed to Combination Antiretroviral Drugs in Pregnancy. *Pediatrics* 118 (4): e1139 – 1145. http://www.pediatrics.org.cgi/content/full/118/4/e1139 (accessed: 14 August 2010).

Anderson V, Spencer-Smith M, Wood A 2011 Do children really recover better? Neurobehavioral plasticity after early brain insult. *Brain* 134: 2197 – 2221.

Armstrong FD, Seidel JF, Swales TP 1993 Pediatric HIV Infection: A Neuropsychological and Educational Challenge. *Journal of Learning Disabilities* 26 (2): 92 – 103.

Arpadi S, Fawzy A, Aldrovandi GM, Kankasa C, Sinkala M, Mwiya M, Thea DM, Kuhn L 2009 Growth faltering due to breastfeeding cessation in uninfected children born to HIV-infected mothers in Zambia. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 90: 344 – 353.

Bagenda D, Nassali A, Kalyesubula I, Sherman B, Drotar D, Boivin MJ, Olness K 2006 Health, Neurologic, and Cognitive Status of HIV-Infected, Long-Surviving, and Antiretriviral-Naïve Ugandan Children. *Pediatrics* 117 (3): 729 – 740.

Baillargeon R 2004 Infants' reasoning about hidden objects: evidence for event-general and event-specific expectations. *Developmental Science* 7(4): 391 – 424.

Baillieu N, Potter ton J 2008 The Extent of Delay of Language, Motor and Cognitive Development in HIV-Positive Infants. *Journal of Neurologic Physical Therapy* 32: 118 – 121.

Banks WA, Ercal N, Price TO 2006 The Blood-Brain Barrier in NeuroAIDS. *Current HIV Research* 4: 259 – 266.

Bayley N, 2006 Bayley Scales of Infant and Toddler Development Third Edition – Administration Manual. USA: The Psychological Corporation

Belman AL, Lantos G, Horoupian D, Novik BE, Ultmann MH, Dickson DW, Rubinstein A 1986 AIDS: Calcification of the Basal Ganglia in Infants and Children. *Neurology* 36: 1192 – 1199.

Belman AL, Muenz LR, Marcus JC, Goedert JJ, Landesman S, Rubinstein A, Goodwin S, Durakot S, Willoughby A 1996 Neurologic Status of Human Immunodeficiency Virus 1-Infected Infants and Their Controls: A Prospective Study From Birth to 2 Years. *Pediatrics* 98 (6): 1109 – 1118.

Bertou G, Thomaidis L, Spoulou V, Theodoridou M 2008 Cognitive and Behavioral Abilities of Children with HIV Infection in Greece. *Pediatrics* 121: S100.

BIPAI (Baylor International Pediatric Initiative) 2010 HIV Curriculum for the Health Professional Houston Texas, USA.

Bishop DVM 2000 How does the brain learn language? Insights from the study of children with and without language impairment. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology* 42: 133 – 142.

Blanchette N, Smith ML, Fernandes-Penney A, King S, Read S 2001 Cognitive and Motor Development in Children with Vertically Transmitted HIV Infection. *Brain and Cognition* 46: 46 – 49.

Blumberg BM, Gelbard HA, Epstein LG 1994 HIV-1 infection of the developing nervous system: central role of astrocytes in pathogenesis. *Virus Research* 32: 253 – 267.

Bobat R, Coovadia H, Moodley D, Coutsoudis A, Gouws E 2001 Growth in early childhood in a cohort of children born to HIV-1-infected women from Durban, South Africa. *Annals of Tropical Paediatrics* 21: 203 – 210.

Boivin MJ, Green SDR, Davies AG, Giordani B, Mokili JKL, Cutting WAM 1995 A Preliminary Evaluation of the Cognitive and Motor Effects of Pediatric HIV Infection in Zairian Children. *Health Psychology* 14 (1): 13 – 21.

Bolton-Moore C, Mubiana – Mbewe M, Cantrell RA, Chintu N, Stringer EM, Chi BH, Sinkala M, Kankasa C, Wilson CM, Wilfert CM, Mwango A, Levy J, Abrams EJ, Bulterys M, Stringer JSA 2007 Clinical outcomes and CD4 cell response in children receiving antiretroviral therapy at primary health care facilities in Zambia. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 298 (16): 1888 – 1899.

Böni J, Emmerich BS, Leib SL, Wiestler OD, Schüpbach J, Kleihues P 1993 PCR Identification of the HIV -1 DNA Sequences in Brain Tissue of Patients with AIDS Encephalopathy. *Neurology* 43: 1813 – 1817.

Bourne DE, Thompson M, Brody LL, Cotton M, Draper B, Laubscher R, Abdullah MF, Myers JE 2009 Emergence of a peak in early infant mortality due to HIV/AIDS in South Africa. *AIDS* 23: 101 – 106.

Bracher L, Valerius NH, Rosenfeldt V, Herlin T, Fisker N, Nielsen H, Obel N 2007 Long term effectiveness of highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) in perinatally HIV-infected children in Denmark. *Scandinavian Journal of Infectious Diseases* 39: 799 – 804.

Brackis-Cott E, Kang E, Dolezal C, Abrams EJ, Melins CA 2009 The Impact of Perinatal HIV Infection on Older School-Aged Children's and Adolescents' Receptive Language and Word Recognition Skills. *Aids Patient Care and STDs* 23 (6): 415 – 421.

Brouwers P, Decarli C, Civitello L, Moss H, Wolters P, Pizzo P 1995 Correlation between Computed Tomographic Brain Scan Abnormalities and Neuropsychological Function in Children with Symptomatic Human Immunodeficiency Virus Disease. *Archives of Neurology* 52: 39 – 44.

Brown D 2009 Developmental Differences between Preterm and Full Term 18 Month Olds. Unpublished MSc Thesis. University of the Witwatersrand.

Bruck I, Tahan TT, da Cruz CR, Martins LTF, Antoniuk SA, Rodrigues M, de Souza SM, de Bruyn LR 2001 Developmental Milestones of Vertically HIV Infected and Serorevertors Children. *Arq Neuropsiquiatr* 59 (3B): 691 – 695.

Buonora S, Nogueira S, Pone MV, Aloé M, Oliveira RH, Hofer C 2008 Growth Parameters in HIVvertically-infected adolescents on antiretroviral therapy in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. *Annals of Tropical Paediatrics* 28: 59 – 64.

Burns S, Hernandez M, Jessee P 2008 A Review of Pediatric HIV Effects on Neurocognitive Development. *Issues in Comprehensive Pediatric Nursing* 31: 107 – 121.

Calancie B, Needham-Shropshire B, Jacobs P, Willer K, Zych G, Green BA 1994 Involuntary stepping after chronic spinal cord injury. Evidence for a central rhythm generator for locomotion in man. *Brain* 117: 1143 – 1159.

Campbell SK, Van der Linden DW, Palisano RJ 2000 Physical Therapy for children 2^{nd} Ed. Chpt 1 The Child's Development of functional movement 5 – 19. WB Saunders Company; Philadelphia.

Catherwood D 1993 The Robustness of Infant Haptic Memory: Testing Its Caoacity to Withstand Delay and Haptic Interference. *Child Development* 64: 702 – 710.

Chase C, Vibbert M, Pelton SI, Coulter DL, Cabral H, 1995 Early Neurodevelopmental Growth in Children With Vertically Transmitted Human Immunodeficiency Virus Infection. *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine* 149 (8): 850 – 855

Chiappini E, Galli L, Tovo PA, Gabiano C, Lisi C, Gattinara GC, Esposito S, Viganò A, Giaquinto C, Rosso R, Guarino A, de Martino M 2007 Changing Patterns of clinical events in perinatally HIV-1-infected children during the era of HAART. *AIDS* 21: 1607 – 1615.

Chigwedere P, Seage III GR, Lee TH, Essex M 2008 Efficacy of Antiretroviral Drugs in Reducing Mother-to-Child Transmission of HIV in Africa: A Meta-Analysis of Published Clinical Trials. *Aids Research and Human Retroviruses* 24 (6): 827 – 837.

Chiriboga CA 2005 Incidence and prevalence of HIV encephalopathy in children with HIV infection receiving highly active anti-retroviral therapy. *Journal of Pediatrics* 146 (3): 402 – 407.

Chopra M, Doherty T, Goga A, Jackson D, Persson LA 2010 Survival of Infants in the context of prevention of mother to child HIV transmission in South Africa. *Acta Paediatrica* 99: 694 – 698.

Connor EM, Sperling RS, Gelber R, Kiselev P, Scott G, O'Sullvan MJ, Van Dyke R, Bey M, Shearer W, Jacobson RL, Jimenez E, O'Neill E, Bazin B, Delfraissy JF, Culnane M, Coombs R, Elkins M, Moye J, Stratton P, Balsley J 1994 Reduction of maternal-infant transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 with Zidovudine Treatment. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 331 (18): 1173 – 1180.

Coplan J, Contello KA, Cunningham CK, Weiner LB, Dye TD, Roberge L, Wojtowycz MA, Kirkwood K 1998 Early Language Development in Children Exposed to or Infected With Human Immunodeficiency Virus. *Pediatrics* 102 (1): e8 <u>http://www.pediatrics.org/cgi/content/full/102/1/e8</u> (accessed: 12 September 2010)

Cromwell HC, Panksepp J 2011 Rethinking the cognitive revolution from a neural perspective: How overuse /misuse of the term 'cognition' and the neglect of affective controls in behavioral neuroscience could be delaying progress in understanding the BrainMind. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews* 35: 2026 – 2035.

Davis LE, Hjelle BL, Miller VE, Palmer DL, Llewellyn AL, Merlin TL, Young SA, Mill RG, Wachsman W, Wiley CA 1992 Early Viral Brain Invasion in latrogenic Human Immunodeficiency Virus Infection. *Neurology* 42: 1736 – 1739.

De Cock KM, Fowler MG, Mercier E, de Vincenzi I, Saba J, Hoff E, Alnwick DJ, Rogers M, Shaffer N 2000 Prevention of Mother-to-Child HIV Transmission in Resource-Poor Countries: Translating Research into Policy and Practice. *The Journal of the American Medical Association* 283: 1175 – 1182.

De Graaf-Peters VB, Hadders-Algra M 2006 Ontogeny of the human central nervous system: What is happening when? *Early Human Development* 82: 257 – 266.

De Paiva GS, de Couza Lima ACM, de Carvalho Lima M, Eickmann SH 2010 The effect of poverty on developmetal screening scores among infants. *Sao Paulo Medicine* 128 (5): 276 – 283.

Decarli C, Civitello LA, Brouwers P, Pizzo PA 1993 The Prevalence of Computed Tomographic Abnormalities of the cerebrum in 100 Consecutive Children Symptomatic with the Human Immune Deficiency Virus. *Annals of Neurology* 34: 198 – 205.

Doherty T, Sanders D, Goga A, Jackson D 2011 Implications of the new WHO guidelines on HIV and infant feeding for child survival in South Africa. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 89: 62 – 67.

Drotar D, Olness K, Wiznitzer M, Guay L, Marum L, Svilar G, Hom D, Fagan JF, Ndugwa C, Kiziri Mayengo R, 1997 Neurodevelopment Outcomes of Ugandan Infants With Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Infection. *Pediatrics* 100: e5.

Dunfee RL, Thomas ER, Gabuzda D 2009 Enhanced macrophage tropism of HIV in brain and lymphoid tissues in associated with sensitivity to the broadly neutralizing CD4 binding site antibody b12. *Retrovirology* 6: 69 – 75.

Edwards SL, Sarwark JF 2005 Infant and Child Motor Development. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research* 434: 33 – 39.

Emodi IJ, Okafor GO 1998 Clinical Manifestations of HIV Infection in Children at Enugu, Nigeria. *Journal of Tropical Pediatrics* 44: 73 – 76.

Engle PL, Black MM, Behrman JR, Cabral de Mello M, Gertler PJ, Kapiriri L, Martorell R, Eming Young M, International Child Development Screening Group 2007 Strategies to avoid the loss of developmental potential in more than 200 million children in the developing world. *The Lancet* 369: 229 – 242.

Engle PL, Fernald LCH, Alderman H, Behrman J, O'Gara C, Yousafzai A, de Mello C, Hidrobo M, Ulkuer N, Ertem I, Iltus S, Global Child Development Steering Group 2011 Strategies for reducing inequalities and improving developmental outcomes for young children in low-income and middle-income countries. *The Lancet* 378: 1339 – 1353.

Ensoli F, Wang H, Fiorelli V, Zeichner SL, De Cristofaro MR, Luzi G, Thiele CJ 1997 HIV-1 Infection and the Developing Nervous System: Lineage Specific Regualation of Viral Gene Expression And Replication in Distinct Neuronal Precursors. *Journal of Neurovirology* 3: 290 – 298.

Epstein LG, Gelbard HA 1999 HIV-1 Induced neuronal injury in the developing brain. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* 65: 453 – 457.

Epstein LG, Gendelman HE 1993 Human Immunodeficiency virus type1 Infection of the Nervous System: Pathogenetic Mechanisms. *Annals of Neurology* 33 (5): 429 – 436.

Epstein LG, Goudsmit J, Paul DA, Morrison SH, Connor EM, Oleske J, Holland B 1987 Expression of Human Immunodeficiency Virus in Cerebrospinal Fluid of Children with Progressive Encehalopathy. *Annals of Neurology* 21: 397 – 401.

Everall IP, Luthert PJ, Lantos PL 1991 Neuronal Loss in the Frontal Cortex in HIV Infection. *The Lancet* 337:1119 – 1121.

Ferguson G, Jelsma J 2009 The prevalence of motor delay among HIV infected children living Cape Town, South Africa. *International Journal of Rehabilitation Research* 32 (2): 108 – 114.

Filteau S 2009 The HIV-exposed, uninfected African child. *Tropical Medicine and International Health* 14 (3): 276 – 287.

Fishkin PE, Armstrong FD, Routh DK, Harris L, Thompson W, Miloslavich K, Levy JD, Johnson A, Morrow C, Bandstra ES, Mason GA, Scott G 2000 Brief Report: Relationship Between HIV Infection and WPPSI-R Performance in Preschool-Age Children. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology* 25 (5): 347 – 351.

Fitzgerald FC, Bekker LG, Kaplan R, Myer L, Lawn SD, Wood R 2010 Mother-to-child transmission of HIV in a community-based antiretroviral clinic in South Africa. *South African Medical Journal* 100 (12): 827 – 831.

Forssberg H 1999 Neural Control of human motor development. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 9: 676 – 682.

Foster C, Lyall EGH 2005 Children with HIV: Improved mortality and morbidity with combination antiretroviral therapy. *Current Opinion in Infectious Diseases* 18: 253 – 259.

Foster CJ, Biggs RL, Melvin D, Walters MDS, Tudor-Williams G, Lyall EGH 2006 Neurodevelopmental outcomes in children with HIV Infection under 3 years of age. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neruology* 48 (8): 677 – 682.

Friederici AD, Brauer J, Lohmann G 2011 Maturation of the Language Network: From Inter- to Intrahemispheric Connectivities. *PLoS One* 6(6): e20726. <u>www.plosone.org</u> (accessed November 2011).

Garcia PM, Kalish LA, Pitt J, Minkoff H, Quinn TC, Burchett SK, Kornegay J, Jackson B, Moye J, Hanson C, Zorilla C, Lew JF 1999 Maternal Levels of Plasma Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 RNA and the Risk of Perinatal Transmission. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 341: 394 – 402.

Gay CL, Armstrong FD, Cohen D, Lain S, Hardy MD, Swales TP, Morrow CJ, Scott GB 1995 The Effects of HIV in Cognitive and Motor Development in Children Born to HIV-Seropositive Women With No Reported Drug Use: Birth to 24 Months. *Pediatrics* 96 (6): 1078 – 1082.

Gopnik A, Tenenbaum JB 2007 Bayesian networks, Bayesian learning and cognitive development. *Developmental Science* 10 (3): 281 – 287.

Grantham-McGregor S, Cheung S, Glewwe P, Richter L, Strupp B, International Child Development Steering Group 2007 Developmental potential in the first 5 years for children in developing countries. *The Lancet* 369: 60 – 70.

Guillén S, Ramos JT, Resino R, Bellón JM, Muñoz MA 2007 Impact on weight and height with the use of HAART in HIV-Infected children. *The Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 26 (4): 334 – 338.

Hadders-Algra M 2000a The Neuronal Group Selection Theory: a framework to explain variation in normal motor development. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology* 42: 566 – 572.

Hadders-Algra M 2000b The neuronal group selection theory: promising principles for understanding and treating developmental motor disorders. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology* 42: 707 – 715.

Hadders-Algra M 2005 Development of Postural Control During the First 18 months of life. *Neural Plasticity* 17 (2-3): 99 – 108.

Hadders-Algra M 2010 Variation and Variability: Key Word in Human Motor Development. *Physical Therapy* 90 (12): 1823 – 1837.

Hamsy J, Moore D, Barasa A, Were W, Likicho C, Waiswa B, Downing R, Malamba S, Tappero J, Mermin J 2010 Breastfeeding, Mother-to-Child HIV Transmission, and Mortality Among Infants Born to HIV-Infected Women on Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy in Rural Uganda. *Journal Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome* 53 (1) 28 – 35.

Hankin C, Lyall H, Willey B, Peckham C, Masters J, Tookey P 2009 In utero exposure to antiviral therapy: feasibility of long term follow-up. AIDS Care 21 (7): 809 – 816.

Harcourt Assessment 2007 Bayley-III Technical Report 2

Harris SR, Megens AM, Backman CL, Hayes VE 2005 Stability of the Bayley II Scales of Infant Development in a sample of low-risk and high-risk infants. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology* 47: 830 – 823.

Heineman KR, Hadders-Algra M 2008 Evaluation of Neuromotor Function in Infancy – A Systematic Review of Available Methods. *Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics* 29 (4): 315 – 323.

Heineman KR, Middelburg KJ, Hadders-Algra M 2010 Development of adaptive motor behavior in typically developing infants. *Acta Paediatrica* 99: 618 – 624.

Herbert R, Janvedt G, Mead J, Hagem K 2005 Practical Evidence based Physiotherapy. Elsevier Butterworth Heineman.

Hilburn N, Potterton J, Stewart A, Becker P 2011 The development of a screening tool to evaluate gross motor function in HIV infected infants. *AIDS Care: Psychological and Sociomedical Aspects of AIDS/HIV* 23 (12): 1619 – 1625.

Ioannidis JPA, Reichlin S, Skolnik PR 1995 Long-Term Productive Human Immunodeficiency Virus-1 Infection in Human Infant Microglia. *American Journal of Pathology* 147 (5): 1200 – 1206.

Isanaka S, Duggan C, Fawzi WW 2009 Patterns of postnatal growth in HIV-infected and HIV-exposed children. *Nutrition Reviews* 67 (6): 343 – 359.

Janssens B, Raleigh B, Soeung S, Akao K, Te V, Gupta J, Vun MC, Ford N, Nouhin J, Nerrienet E 2007 Effectiveness of highly active antiretroviral therapy in HIV positive children: Evaluation at 12 months in a routine program in Cambodia. *Pediatrics* 120 (5): 1134 – 1140.

Jelsma J, Davids N, Ferguson G 2011 The motor development of orphaned children with and without HIV: Pilot exploration of foster care and residential placement. *BMC Pediatrics* 11: 11 - 17. <u>http://www.biomdcentral.com/1471-2431/11/11</u> (Accessed: November 2011)

Jeremy RJ, Kim S, Nozyce M, Nachman S, McIntosh K, Pelton SI, Yogev R, Wiznia A, Johnson GM, Krogstad P, Stanley K 2005 Neuropsychological Functioning and Viral Load in Stable Antiretroviral Therapy Experiences HIV Infected Children. *Pediatrics* 115 (2): 380 – 387.

Johnson MH, Munakata Y 2005 Process of change in brain and cognitive development. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences* 9(3): 152 – 158.

Jones SA, Sherman G, Varga CA 2005 Exploring socio-economic conditions and poor follow-up rates of HIV-exposed infants in Johannesburg, South Africa. *AIDS Care* 17 (4): 466 – 470.

Kamm K, Thelen E, Jensen JL 1990 A Dynamical Systems Approach to Motor Development . *Physical Therapy* 70 (12): 763 – 775.

Kandawasvika G, Ogundipe E, Gumbo FZ, Kurewa EN, Mapingure MP, Stray-Pedersen B 2011 Neurodevelopment Impairment among infants born to mothers infected with human immunodeficiency virus and uninfected mothers from three peri-urban care clinics in Harare, Zimbabwe. Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8749.2011.04126x</u> (accessed: January 2012)

Kigara MMM 2008 The neurodevelopmental status of Kenyan children infected with the human immunodeficiency virus. Unpublished MSc Thesis. University of the Witwatersrand.

Knight WG, Mellins CA, Levenson RL, Arpadi SM, Kairman R 2000 Brief Report: Effects of Pediatric HIV Infection on Mental and Psychomotor Development. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology* 25 (8): 583 – 587.

Kourtis AP, Bansil P, Posner SF, Johnson C, Jamieson DJ 2007 Trends in Hospitalizations of HIV-Infected Children and Adolescents in the United States: Analysis of Data From the 1994 to 2003 Nationwide Inpatient Sample. *Pediatrics* 120 (2): 236 – 243.

Kourtis AP, Bulterys M, Nesheim S, Lee FK 2001 Understanding the Timing of HIV Transmission From Mother to Infant. *The Journal of the American Medical Association* 285 (6): 709 – 712.

Kourtis AP, Lee FK, Jamieson DJ, Bulterys M 2006 Mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1: timing and implications for prevention. The *Lancet Infectious Dis*eases 6: 726 – 732.

Koyanagi A, Humphrey JH, Ntozini R, Nathoo K, Moulton LH, Iliff P, Mutasa K, Ruff A, Ward B 2011 Morbidity Among Human Immunodeficiency Virus-exposed But Uninfected, Human Immunodeficiency Virus-infected, and Human Immunodeficiency Virus-unexposed Infants in Zimbabwe Before Availability of Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy. *The Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 30 (1): 45 - 51.

Kramer B, Allan J 2002 The Fundamentals of human embryology chapter- development of the central nervous system. Witwatersrand university press; Johannesburg

Kuhl PK 2010 Brain Mechanisms in Early Language Acquisition. Neuron 67 (5): 713 – 727.

Kuhn L, Kasonde P, Sinkale M, Kankasa C, Semrau K, Scott N, Tsai WY, Vermund SH, Aldrovandi GM, Thea DM 2005 Does Severity of HIV Disease in HIV-Infected Mothers Affect Mortality and Morbidity among Their Uninfected Infants. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 41: 1654 – 1661.

Lallement C, Halembokaka G, Baty G, Ngo-Giang-Huong N, Barin F, Le Coeur S 2010 Impact of HIV/Aids on Child Mortality before the Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy Era: A Study in Pointe-Noire, Republic of Congo. *Journal of Tropical Medicine* 2010.

Law J, Lee M, Hülse M, Tomassetti A 2011 The infant development timeline and its application to robot shaping. *Adaptive Behavior* 19 (5)335 – 358. <u>http://adb.sagepub.com/content/19/5/335</u> (accessed 12 November 2011)

Lehman DA, Chung MH, John-Stewart GC, Richardson BA, Kiarie J, Kinuthia J, Overbaugh J 2008 HIV-1 persists in breast milk cells despite antiretroviral treatment to prevent mother-to-child transmission. *AIDS* 22: 1475 – 1485.

Lenhardt TM, Wiley CA 1989 Absence of Humorally Mediated Damage Within the Central Nervous System of AIDS Patients. *Neurology* 39: 278 – 280.

Lindsey JC, Malee KM, Brouwers P, Hughes MD 2007 Neurodevelopmental Functioning in HIV –Infected Infants and Young Children Before and After the Introduction of Protease Inhibitor – Based Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy. *Pediatrics* 119 (3): e681 – e693.

http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/119/3/e681.full.html. Accessed: 28 August 2011.

Luzar B, Popovic M, Cerar A 1999 Infantile HIV encephalopathy associated with cerebral and cerebellar telangiectases. *Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology* 25: 72 – 75.

Lyman WD, Kress Y, Kure K, Rashbaum WK, Rubinstein A, Soeiro R 1990 Detection of HIV in fetal central nervous system tissue. *AIDS* 4: 917 – 920.

Martin F, Taylor GP 2009 The safety of highly active antiretroviral therapy for the HIV-positive pregnant mother and her bab: is "the more the merrier"? *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy* 64: 895 – 900.

McCoig C, Casterjón MM, Castaño E, de Suman O, Báez C, Redondo W, McClernon D, Danehower S, Lanier ER, Richardson C, Keller A, Hetherington S, Sáez-Llorens X, Ramilo O 2002 Effect of combination antiretroviral therapy on cerebrospinal fluid HIV RNA, HIV Resistance, and clinical manifestations of encephalopathy. *Journal of Pediatrics* 141: 36 – 44.

McGarth N, Fawzi WW, Bellinger D, Robins J, Msamanga GI, Manji K, Tronick E 2006 The Timing of Mother-to-Child Transmission of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Infection and the Neurodevelopment of Children in Tanzania. *The Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 25 (1): 47 – 52.

McKinney RE, Rodman J, Hu C, Britto P, Hughes M, Smith ME, Serchuck LK, Kraimer J, Ortiz AA, Flynn P, Yogev R, Spector S, Draper L, Tran P, Seites M, Dickover R, Weinberg A, Cunningham C, Abrams E, Blum MR, Chittick GE, Reynolds L, Rathore M 2007 Long term safety and efficacy of a once daily regimen of Emtricitabine, Didanosone, and Efavirenz in HIV-Infected, therapy-naïve children and adolescents: Pediatric AIDS Clinical Trials Group Protocol P1021. *Pediatrics* 120 (2): e416 – e423. http://www.pediatrics.org/cgi/content/full/120/2/e416 (Accessed: 23 September 2010)

Meyers T, Moultrie H, Naidoo K, Cotton M, Eley B, Sherman G 2007 Challenges to Pediatric HIV Care and Treatment in South Africa. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases* 196 (Suppl 3): S474 – 481.

Mikkola K, Ritari N, Tommiska V, Salokorpi T, Lehtonen L, Tammela O, Pääkkönen L, Olsen P, Korkman M, Fellman V 2005 Neurodevelopmental Outcome at 5 years of age of a national cohort of extremely low birth weight infants who were born in 1996 – 1997. *Pediatrics* 116 (6): 1391 – 1400. http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/116/6/1391.full.html accessed 14 November 2011.

Miller TL, Easley KA, Zhang W, Orav EJ, Bier DM, Luder E, Ting A, Shearer WT, Vargas JH, Lipshultz SE 2001 Maternal and Infant Factors Associated With Failure to Thrive in Children With Vertically Transmitted Human Immunodeficiency Virus-1 Infection: The Prospective P2C2 Human Immunodeficiency Virus Multicenter Study. *Pediatrics* 108 (6): 1287 – 1296.

Mills DL, Coffey-Corina S, Neville J 1997 Language comprehension and cerebral specialization from 13 – 20 months. *Developmental Neuropsychology* 13 (3): 397 – 445. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/87565649709540685 (accessed 7 November 2011)

Mills EJ, Nachega JB, Bangsberg DR, Singh S, Rachlis B, Wu P, Wilson K, Buchan I, Gill CJ, Cooper C 2006 Adherence to HAART: A Systematic Review of Developed and Developing Nation Patient-Reported Barriers and Facilitators. *PLoS Medicine* 3 (11): 2039 – 2063.

Milne S, McDonald J, Comino EJ 2011 The Use of the Bayley Scales of Infant and Toddler Development III with Clinical Populations: A Preliminary Exploration. *Physical and Occupational Therapy in Pediatrics* 2011: 1 - 10.

Mitchell W 2001 Neurological and Developmental Effects of HIV and AIDS in Children and Adolescents. Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews 7: 211 – 216.

Mofenson LM, Lambert JS, Stiehm ER, Bethel J, Meyer III WA, Whitehouse J, Moye J, Reichelderfer P, Harris DR, Fowler MG, Mathieson BJ, Nemo GJ 1999 Risk Factors for Perinatal Transmission of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 in Women Treated with Zidovudine. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 341 (6): 385 – 393.

Msellati P, Lepage P, Hitimana DG, Van Goethem C Van de Perre P, Dabis F 1993 Neurodevelopmental Testing of Children Born to Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Seropositive and Seronegative MothersL A Prospective Cohort Study in Kigali, Rwanda. *Pediatrics* 92 (6): 843 – 848.

Musoke PM, Mudiope P, Barlow-Mosha LN, Ajuna P, Bagenda D, Mubiru MM, Tylleskar T, Fowler MG 2010 Growth, immune and viral responses in HIV infected African children receiving highly active antiretroviral therapy: a prospective cohort study. *BMC Pediatrics* 10(56): 1 – 11. http://www. Biomedcentral.com/1471-2431/10/56 (Accessed November 2011)

Mussi-Pinhata MM, Freimanis L, Yamamoto AY, Korelitz J, Pinto JA, Cruz MLS, Losso MH, Read JS 2007 Infectious Disease Morbidity Among Young HIV-1-Exposed But Uninfected Infants in Latin American and Caribbean Countries: The National Institute of Child Health and Human Development International Site Development Initiative Perinatal Study. *Pediatrics* 119 (3): e694 – e704.

Natu SA, Daga SR 2007 Antiretroviral Therapy in Children: Indian Experience. *Indian Pediatrics* 44: 339 – 343.

Navia BA, Cho ES, Petito CK, Price RW 1986 The AIDS Dementia Complex: II. Neuropathology. *Annals of Neurology* 19: 525 – 535.

Nesheim SR, Kapogiannis BG, Soe MM, Sullivan KM, Abrams E, Farley J, Palumbo P, Koenig LJ, Bulterys M 2007 Trends in opportunistic infections in the pre- and post – highly active antiretroviral therapy eras among HIV infected children in the Perinatal AIDS Collaborative Transmission Study, 1986 – 2004. *Pediatrics* 120(1): 100 – 109.

Newell ML, Coovadia H, Cortina-Borja M, Rollins N, Gaillard P, Dabis F 2004 Mortality of infected and uninfected infants born to HIV Infected mothers in Africa: a pooled analysis. *The Lancet* 364: 1236 – 1243.

Niccold S, Latchman A 2002 Stability of the Bayley Mental Scale of Infant Development with High Risk Infants. The British Journal of Developmental Disabilities 48 (94): 3 - 13.

Nozyce M, Hittelman J, Muenz L, Durako SJ, Fischer ML, Willoughby A 1994 Effect of Perinatally Acquired Human Immunodeficiency Virus Infection on Neurodevelopment in Children During the First Two Years of Life. *Pediatrics* 94 (6): 883 – 891.

Ogundele MO, Coulter JBS 2003 HIV transmission through breastfeeding: problems and prevention. *Annals of Tropical Paediatrics* 23: 91 – 106.

Oller DK, Eilers RE 1988 The Role of Audition in Infant Babbling. *Child Development* 59: 441 – 449.

Paintsil E, Andiman WA 2009 Update on successes and challenged regarding mother-to-child transmission of HIV. *Current Opinion in Pediatrics* 21: 94 – 101.

Palombi L, Marazzi MC, Voetberg A, Magid NA 2007 Treatment Acceleration program and the experience of the DREAM program in prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV. *AIDS* 21 (Suppl 4): S65 – S71.

Patel K, Ming X, Williams PL, Robertson KR, Oleske JM, Seage GR 2009 Impact of HAART and CNSpenetrating antiretroviral regimens on HIV encephalopathy among perinatally infected children and adolescents. *AIDS* 23: 1893 – 1901.

Peacock-Villada E, Richardson BA, John-Stewart GC 2011 Post-HAART Outcomes in Pediatric Population: Comparison of Resource-Limited and Developed Countries. *Pediatrics* 127 (2): e423 – e441. http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/127/2/e423.full.html (Accessed 24 November 2011)

Pearson DA, McGrath NM, Nozyce M, Nichols SL, Raskino C, Brouwers P, Lifschitz MC, Baker CJ, Englund JA 2000 Predicting HIV Disease Progression in Children Using Measures of Neuropsychological and Neuroradiological Functioning. *Pediatrics* 106 (6): e76 http://www.pediatrics.org/cgi/cpntent/full/106/6/e76.

Peudenier S, Hery C, Montagnier L, Tardieu M 1991 Human Microglial Cells: Characterization in Cerebral Tissue and in Primary Culture, and Study of Their Susceptibility to HIV-1 Infection. *Annals of Neurology* 29: 152 – 161.

Poirier MC, Divi RL, Al Harthi L, Olivero OA, Nguyen V, Walker B, Landay AL, Walker VE, Charurat M, Blattner W 2003 Long-Term Mitochondrial Toxicity in HIV-Unnfected Infants Born to HIV-Infected Mothers. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes* 33: 175 – 183.

Pollack H, Kuchuk A, Cowan Lm Hacimamutoglu S, Glasberg H, David R, Krasinski K, Borkowsky W, Oberfield S 1996 Neurodevelopment, Growth and Viral Load in HIV-Infected Infants. *Brain, Behavior and Immunity* 10: 298 – 312.

Potterton J, Stewart A, Cooper P, Becker P 2009a The effect of a basic home stimulation programme on the development of young children infected with HIV. Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8749.2009.03534.x.

Potterton J, Stewart A, Cooper P, Goldberg L, Gajdosik C, Baillieu N 2009b Neurodevelopmental delay in children infected with human immunodeficiency virus in Soweto, South Africa. *Vulnerable Children and Youth Studies* 4(1): 48 – 57.

Potterton J, Van Aswegen H 2006 Pediatric HIV in South Africa: An Overview for Physiotherapists. SA Journal of Physiotherapy 62 (1): 19 - 22

Potterton JL, Eales CJ 2001 Prevalence of Developmental Delay in Infants who are HIV Positive. *South African Journal of Physiotherapy* 57 (3): 11 – 15.

Pozniak A 2007 Advances in Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy – Simplified Treatment Regimens. *European Infectious Diseases* 43 – 45.

Prendergast A, Tudor-Williams G, Jeena P, Burchett S, Goulder P 2007 International perspectives, progress, and future challenges of paediatric HIV Infection. *The Lancet* 370: 68 – 80.

Raskino C, Pearson DA, Baker CJ, Lifschitz MH, O'Donnell K, Mintz M, Nozyce M, Brouwers P, McKinney RE, Jimenez E, Englund JA 1999 Neurologic, Neurocognitive, and Brain Growth Outcomes in Human Immunodeficiency Virus-Infected Children Receiving Different Nucleoside Antiretroviral Regimens. *Pediatrics* 104 (3): e32.

Reddi A, Leeper SC, Grobler AC, Geddes R, France KH, Dorse GL, Vlok WJ, Mntambo M, Thomas M, Nixon K, Holst HL, Karim QA, Rollins NC, Coovadia HM, Giddy J 2007 Preliminary outcomes of a paediatric highly active antiretroviral therapy cohort from KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. *BMC Pediatrics* 7(13): 1 – 13. http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2431/7/13 (Accessed November 2011)

Resino S, Resino R, Micheloud D, Gutiérrez G, Léon JA, Ramos JT, Ciria L, de José I, Mellado J, Muñoz-Fernández A 2006 Long term effects of highly active antiretroviral therapy in pretreated , vertically HIV Type 1 – infected children: 6 years of follow-up. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 42: 862 – 869.

Richter L, Griesel R, Rose C 1992 The Bayley Scales of Infant Development – A South African Standardisation. *The South African Journal of Occupational Therapy* May: 14 – 25.

Riordan A, Bugembe T 2009 Update on antiretroviral therapy. Archives of Diseases in Childhood 94: 70 – 74.

Rosen S, Fox MP, Gill CJ 2007 Patient Retention in Antiretroviral Therapy Programs in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Systematic Review. *PLoS Medicine* 4 (10): 1691 – 1701.

Roze E, Meijer L, Van Braeckel KNJA, Ruiter SAJ, Bruggink JLM, Bos AF 2010 Developmental Trajectories From Birth to School Age in Healthy Term-Born Children. *Pediatrics* 126 (5): e1134 – e1143.

Sánchez-RamónS, Resino S, Cano JMB, Ramos JT, Gurbindo D, Muñoz-Fernández A 2005 Neuroprotective Effects of Early Antiretrovirals in Vertical HIV Infection. *Pediatric Neurology* 29 (3): 218 – 221.

Santos DCC, Gabbard C, Goncalves VMG 2001 Motor Development During the First Year: A Comparative Study. *The Journal of Genetic Psychology* 162 (2): 143 – 153.

Schjølberg S, Eadie P, Zachrisson D, Øyen AS, Prior M 2011 Predicting Language Development at Age 18 Months: Data from Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study. *Journal of Developmental Behavioural Pediatrics* 32 (5): 375 – 383.

131

Schmidtmayerova H, Notett HSLM, Nuovo G, Raabe T, Flanagan CR, Dubrovsky L, Gendelman HE, Cerami A, Bukrinsky M, Sherry B 1996 Human Immunodeficieny virus type 1 infection alters chemokine B peptide expression in human monocytes: Implications for recruitment of leukocytes into brain and lymph nodes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the* USA 93: 700 – 704.

Sei S, Saito K, Stewart SK, Crowley JS, Brouwers P, Leiner DE, Katz DA, Pizzo PA, Heyes MP 1995 Increased Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) Type 1 DNA Content and Quinolinic Acid Concentration in Brain Tissues from Patients with HIV Encephalopathy. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases* 172: 638 – 647.

Shaffer N, Chuachoowong R, Mock PA, Bhadrakom C, Sirlwasin W, Young NL, Chotpitayasunondh T, Chearskul S, Roongpisuthipong A, Chinayon P, Karon J, MastroTD, Simonds RJ 1999 Short- course zidovudine for perinatal HIV-1 transmission in Bangkok, Thailand: a randomized controlled trial. *The Lancet* 353: 773 – 780.

Sharer LR, Epstein LG, Cho ES, Joshi VV, Meyenhofer MF, Rankin LF, Petito CK 1986 Pathologic Features of AIDS Encephalopathy in Children: Evidence for LAV/HTLV-III Infection of Brain. *Human Pathology* 17 (3): 271 – 284.

Shead GM, Potterton J, Stewart A 2010 Neurodevelopment and growth of institutionalized children with vertically transmitted human immunodeficiency virus. *Vulnerable Children and Youth Studies* 5 (1): 33 – 43.

Sherr L, Mueller J, Varall R 2009 A systematic review of cognitive development and child human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Psychology, Health and Medicine* 14 (4): 387 – 404.

Shetty AK 2005 Perinatally Acquired HIV-1 Infection: Prevention and Evaluation of HIV-Exposed Infants. Seminars in Pediatric Infectious Diseases 16: 282 – 295.

Shinskey JL, Munakata Y 2010 Something old, something new: a developmetal transition from familiarity to novelty preferences with hidden objects. *Developmental Science* 13(2): 378 – 386.

132
Siegfried N, van der Merwe L, Brocklehurst P, Sint TT 2011 Antiretrovirals for reducing the risk of mother-to-child transmission of HIV infection. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* Issue 7. Art. No.: CD003510. DOI 10.1002/14651858.CD003510.pub3.

Silva MTT, Wagner S, Grinsztejn B 2009 Human immunodeficiency virus encephalopathy: Cognitive and Radiologic Improvement After Antiretroviral Therapy. *Archives of Neurology* 66 (8): 1040 – 1041.

Slogrove AL, Cotton MF, Esser MM 2010 Severe Infections in HIV-Exposed Uninfected Infants: Clinical Evidenceof Immunodeficiency. *Journal of Tropical Pediatrics* 56 (2): 75 – 81.

Smith R, Malee K, Leighty R, Brouwers P, Mellins C, Hittelman J, Chase C, Blasini I 2006 Effects of Perinatal HIV Infection and Associated Risk Factors on Cognitive Development Among Young Children. *Pediatrics* 117 (3): 851 – 862.

Smith R, Malee K, Charurat Magder L, Mellins C, Macmillan C, Hittleman J, Lasky T, Llorente A, Moye 2000 Timing of Perinatal Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Infection and Rate of Neurodevelopment. *The Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 19 (9): 862 – 871.

Song R, Jelagat J, Dzombo D, Mwalimu M, Mandaliya K, Shikely K, Essajee S 2007 Efficacy of Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy in HIV-1 Infected Children in Kenya. *Pediatrics* 120(4): e8256 – e 861. http://www.pediatrics.org/cgi/content/full/120/4/e856 (Accessed 13 February 2010)

South Africa 2010 Country Progress Report of the declaration of commitment on HIV/AIDS 2010 Report.

South Africa National Department of Health National AIDS Council 2010 Clinical Guidelines: PMTCT (Prevention of Mother-to-Child Transmission).

South African National Department of Health 2010 Guidelines for the Management of HIV in Children 2nd Edition.

Spittle AJ, Doyle LW, Boyd RN 2008 A systematic review of the clinimetric properties of neuromotor assessments for preterm infants during the first year of life. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology* 50: 254 – 266

Stiles J 2000 Neural Plasticity and Cognitive Development. *Developmental Neuropsychology* 18 (2): 237 – 272.

Stiles J, Jernigan TL 2010 The Basics of Brain Development. Neuropsychology Reviews 20: 327 – 348.

Sturt AS, Halpern MS, Sullivan B, Maldonado YA 2012 Timing of antiretroviral therapy initiation and its impact on disease progression in perinatal human immunodeficiency virus-1 infection. *The Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 31(1): 000 – 000.

Sutcliffe CG, van Dijk JH, Bolton C, Persaud D, Moss WJ 2008 Effectiveness of antiretroviral therapy among HIV-infected children in sub-Saharan Africa. *Lancet Infectious Diseases* 8: 477 – 489.

Taha TE, Graham SM, Kumwenda NI, Broadhead RL, Hoover DR, Markakis D, van der Hoeven, Liomba GN, Chiphangwi JD, Miotti PG 2000 Morbidity Among Human Immunodeficiency Virus-1-Infected and – Uninfected African Children. *Pediatrics* 106 (6): e77

http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/106/6/e77.full.html (accessed: 24 November 2011).

Tahan TT, Burger M, Cruz CR 2006 Neurological Profile and Neurodevelopment of 85 Children Infected with HIV and 84 Seroreverter Children Followed from 1995 to 2002. *The Brazilian Journal of Infectious Diseases* 10 (5): 322 – 326.

Tardieu M, Héry C, Peudenier S, Boespflug O, Montagnier L 1992 Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1-infected Monocytic Cells Can Destroy Neural Cells after Cell-to-Cell Adhesion. *Annals of Neurology* 32: 11 – 17.

Tardieu M, Mayaux MJ, Seibel N, Funck-Bentano I, Straub E, Teglas JP, Blanche S 1995 Cognitive assessment of school-age children infected with maternally transmitted human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *Journal of Pediatrics* 126 (3):375 – 379.

Tardieu M, Le Chenadec J, Persoz A, Meyer L, Blanche S, Mayaux M 2000 HIV-1-related encephalopathy in infants compared with children and adults. *Neurology* 54 (5): 1089 – 1095.

Tepper VJ, Farley JJ, Rothman MI, Houck DL, Davis KF, Collins-Jones TL, Wachtel RC 1998 Neurodevelopmental/ Neuroradiologic Recovery of a Child Infected with HIV After Treatment With Combination Antiretroviral Therapy Using the HIV-Specific Protease Inhibitor Ritonavir. *Pediatrics* 101 (3): e7. <u>http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/101/3/e7.full.html</u> (Accessed: 28 August 2011)

Tieman BL, Palisano RJ, Sutlive AC 2005 Assessment of Motor Development and Function in Preschool Children. *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities* 11: 189 – 196.

The European Collaborative Study 1992 Risk Factors for Mother-to-Child Transmission of HIV-1. *The Lancet* 339 (8800): 1007 – 1012.

The European Collaborative Study 2003 Exposure to Antiretroviral Therapy in Utero or Early Life: the Health of Uninfected Children Born to HIV-Infected Women. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome* 32: 380 – 387.

The European Collaborative Study 2003 Height, Weight, and Growth in Children Born to Mothers with HIV-1 Infection in Europe. *Pediatrics* 111 (1): e52 - e60.

The European Collaborative Study 1994 Natural History of Vertically Acquired Human Immunodeficiency Virus-1 Infection. *Pediatrics* 94 (6): 815 – 819.

Thomaidis L, Bertou G, Critselis E, Spoulou V, Kafetzis DA, Theodoridou M 2010 Cognitive and psychosocial development of HIV pediatric patients receiving highly active anti-retroviral therapy: a case-control study. BMC *Pediatrics* 10: 99. <u>http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2431/10/99</u> (Accessed: November 2011)

Tornatore C, Chandra R, Berger JR, Major EO 1994 HIV-1 infection of subcortical astrocytes in the pediatric central nervous system. *Neurology* 44: 481 – 487.

Townsend CL, Cortina-Borja M, Peckham CS, de Ruiter A, Lyall H, Tookey PA 2008 Low rates of motherto-child transmission of HIV following effective pregnancy interventions in the United Kingdom and Ireland, 2000 -2006. *AIDS* 22: 973 – 981.

UNAIDS 2011World AIDS Day Report 2011: How to get to zero faster. <u>www.unaids.org</u> (accessed: December 2011)

Van Rie A, Dow A, Mupuala A, Stewart A 2009 Neurodevelopment Trajectory of HIV-Infected Children Accessing Care in Kinshasa, Democratic Republic of Congo. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome* 52 (5): 636 – 642.

Van Rie A, Harrington PH, Dow A, Robertson K 2007 Neurologic and neurodevelopmental manifestations of pediatric HIV/AIDS: a global perspective. *European Journal of Paediatric Neurology* 11: 1 – 9.

Van Rie A, Mupuala A, Dow A 2008 Impact of the HIV/AIDS Epidemic on the Neurodevelopment of Preschool-Aged Children in Kinshasa , Democratic Republic of the Congo. *Pediatrics* 122 (1): 123 – 128.

Van Zwol A, van den Berg A, Huisman J, Vermeulen RJ, Fetter WP, Twisk JWR, van Elburg RM 2008 Neurodevelopmental outcomes of very low-birth-weight infants after enteral glutamine supplementation in the neonatal period. *Acta Paediatrica* 97: 562 - 567

Vereijken B 2010 The Complexity of Childhood Development: Variability in Perspective. *Physical Therapy* 90 (12): 1850 – 1859.

Vetter KM, Djomand G, Zadi F, Diaby L, Brattegaard K, Timité M, Andoh J, Aou JA, De Cock KM 1996 Clinical spectrum of human immunodeficiency virus disease in children in a West African city. *The Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 15 (5): 438 – 442.

Vieira MEB, Linhares MBM 2011 Developmental Outcomes and quality of life in children born preterm at preschool- and school-age. *Jornol Pediatr (Rio J)* 87 (4): 281 – 291.

Viholainen H, Ahonen T, Cantell M, Tolvanen A, Lyytinen 2006 The Early Motor Milestones in Infancy and Later Motor Skills in Toddlers: A Structural Equation Model of Motor Development. *Physical and Occupational Therapy in Pediatrics* 26 (1/2): 91 – 113.

Violari A, Cotton MF, Gibb DM, Babiker AG, Steyn J, Madhi SA, Jean-Philippe P, McIntyre JA 2008 Early Antiretroviral Therapy and Mortality among HIV-Infected Infants. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 359 (21): 2233 – 2244.

Volmink J, Marais B 2008 HIV: mother-to-child transmission. Clinical Evidence 02 (909): 1-21.

Von Hofsten 2009 Action, the foundation for cognitive development. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology* 50: 617 – 623.

Walker SP, Wachs TD, Grantham-McGregor S, Black MM, Nelson CA, Huffman SL, Baker-Henningham H, Chang SM, Hamadani JD, Lozoff B, Meeks Gardner JM, Powell CA, Rahman A, Richter L 2011 Inequality in early childhood: risk and protective factors for early child development. *The Lancet* 378: 1325 – 1338.

Walker SP, Wachs TD, Meeks Gardner J, Lozoff B, Wasserman GA, Pollitt E, Carter JA, International Child Development screening group 2007 Child Development: risk factors for adverse outcomes in developing countries. *The Lancet* 369: 145 – 157.

Wang LW, Wang ST, Huang CC 2008 Preterm infants of educated mothers have better outcome. *Acta Paediatrica* 97: 568 - 573

Wankoff LS 2011 Warning Signs in the Development of Speech, Language, and Communication: When to Refer to a Speech-Language Pathologist. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Nursing* 24: 175 – 184.

Webb SJ, Monk CS, Nelson CA 2001 Mechanisms of Postnatal Neurobiological Development: Implications for Human Development. *Developmental Neuropsychology* 19 (2): 147 – 171.

Welch SB, Gibb D 2008 When should children with HIV Infection be started on antiretroviral therapy? *PLoS Medicine* 5 (3): e73. <u>www.plosmedicine.org</u> (accessed February 2010).

Wielanga JM, Smit BJ, Merkus MP, Wolf MJ, van Sonderen L, Kok JH 2009 Development and growth in very preterm infants in relation to NIDCAP in a Dutch NICU; two years of follow-up. *Acta Paediatrics* 98: 291 – 297

World Health Organization 2005 Interim WHO clinical staging of HIV/AIDS and HIV/AIDS case definitions for surveillance

WHO Working Group 1986 Use and interpretation of anthropometric indicators of nutritional status. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 64 (6): 929 – 941.

Wiley CA, Masliah E, Morey M, Lemere C, DeTeresa R, Grafe M, Hansen L, Terry R 1991 Neocortical Damage during HIV Infection. *Annals of Neurology* 29: 651 – 657.

Wiley CA, Schrier RD, Nelson JA, Lampert PW, Oldstone MBA 1986 Cellular localization of human immunodeficiency virus infection within the brains of acquired immune deficiency syndrome patients. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA* 83: 7089 – 7093.

Wilfert CM, Wilson C, Luzuriaga K, Epstein L 1994 Pathogenesis of Pediatric Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Infection. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases* 170: 286 – 292.

Willen EJ 2006 Neurocognitive Outcomes in Pediatric HIV. *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews* 12: 223 – 228.

Williams PL, Marino M, Malee K, Brogly S, Hughes MD, Mofenson LM 2010 Neurodevelopment and In Utero Antiretroviral Exposure of HIV-Exposed Uninfected Infants. *Pediatrics* 125 (2): e250 – e260.

Wolters PL, Brouwers P, Civitello L, Moss HA 1997 Receptive and expressive language function of children with symptomatic HIV infection and relationship with disease parameters: a longitudinal 24 – month follow –up study. *AIDS* 11: 1135 - 1144.

World Health Organisation 2009 HIV and infant feeding revised principles and recommendations. www.who.int

World Health Organisation 2010 Antiretroviral Drugs for Treating Pregnant Women and Preventing HIV Infection in Infants: Recommendations for a public health approach. <u>www.who.int</u>

World Health Organization 2010 Antiretroviral Therapy of HIV Infection in infants and children: towards universal access: recommendations for a public health approach – 2010 revision <u>www.who.int</u>

World Health Organization 2011 Guideline: Vitamin A Supplementation in pregnancy for reducing the risk of mother-to-child transmission of HIV <u>www.who.int</u>

Zhou D, Masliah E, Spector SA 2011 Autophagy Is Increased in Postmortem Brains of Persons With HIV-1-Associated Encephalitis. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases* 283: 1847 - 1857

Zwi KJ, Pettifor JM, Soderlund N 1999 Paediatric hospital admissions at a South African urban regional hospital: the impact of HIV, 1992 – 1997 *Annals of Tropical Paediatrics* 19: 135 – 142.

Appendix 1 Interview Questions: Pregnancy History

The neurodevelopment of HIV positive infants on HAART compared to HIV exposed but uninfected infants.

Interview Questions: Pregnancy History

F	Participant/Study Number:	
[Date of Visit:	

1. At which hospital did you have your baby?

2. Where did you book for your antenatal care?

|--|

3. During your pregnancy were you ill?

1.	Yes	2.	No
If Yes:			
Illness:			
When:.			

4. During your pregnancy were you admitted to hospital?

1.	Yes	2.	No
If Yes:			
	days of admission		
Reason	for admission:		

5. Before delivery did you take nevirapine?

6. Did you take any other ARV's during the pregnancy?

1. Yes 2. No 3. Unknown	1 Yes 2 No	3 Unknown
-------------------------	------------	-----------

7. During the labour or birth did you take nevirapine?

|--|

8. What was your CD4 count just before or just after you delivered your baby?

9. Was your child given nevirapine after birth?

1. Yes	2. No	3. Unknown

10. Was it a normal deliver or a caesarian section?

1. NVD	2. Caesarian Section

11. What was your baby's gestational age?

1. Full Term	2. Preterm	3. Unknown

12. What was your child's birth weight?



Appendix II Data Collection Sheet

The neurodevelopment of HIV positive infants on HAART compared to HIV exposed but uninfected infants.

Data Collection Sheet

Participant/Study Number	
Date of Visit	

1. Interval at which data is being collected?

Baseline 3 months 6 months 9 months 12 months

2. Since the last visit has your baby been to the doctor because he/she was sick?

1. Yes	2. No
If Yes:	
Reason for visit?	

3. Since the last visit has your baby been admitted to the hospital?

1. Yes	2. No
If Yes:	
Duration: days	
Reason:	

4. Since your last visit has your child received any vaccinations/immunizations (check on road to health card)?

1. Yes	2. No
If Yes:	
Date:	Vaccination:
Date:	Vaccination:

3. Anthroprometric Measurements:

Weight	
Height	
Head Circumference	

4. What medication is your child currently taking?

Medication	YES	NO
Kaletra (LPV/R)		
Lamivudine (3TC)		
Stavudine (D4T)		
Abacavir (ABC)		
Efavirenz (EFV)		
Nevirapine (NVP)		
Zidovudione (AZT)		
Didanosine (DDI)		
Ritonavir (RTV)		
Other		

5. Is the child taking any other types of medication?

1. Yes	2. No	
If Yes:		
What medication?		

6. Blood results

CD4 Count	Date Measured:
CD4 Percentage	Date Measured:
Viral Load	Date Measured:

Appendix III

Ethical Clearance

UNIVERSITY OF THE WITWATERSRAND, JOHANNESBURG Division of the Deputy Registrar (Research)

HUMAN RESEARCH ETHICS COMMITTEE (MEDICAL) R14/49 Nicole Whitehead

CLEARANCE CERTIFICATE

PROJECT

M10535

The Neurodevelopment of HIV Postive Infants on Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy (HAART) Compare to HIV Exposed but Uninfected Infants

INVESTIGATORS

DEPARTMENT

DATE CONSIDERED

28/05/2010

Nicole Whitehead.

Department of Physiotherapy

DECISION OF THE COMMITTEE*

Unless otherwise specified this ethical clearance is valid for 5 years and may be renewed upon application.

DATE

CHAIRPERSON

(Professor PE Cleaton-Jones)

*Guidelines for written 'informed consent' attached where applicable cc: Supervisor: Dr J Potterton

DECLARATION OF INVESTIGATOR(S)

To be completed in duplicate and ONE COPY returned to the Secretary at Room 10004, 10th Floor, Senate House, University.

I/We fully understand the conditions under which I am/we are authorized to carry out the abovementioned research and I/we guarantee to ensure compliance with these conditions. Should any departure to be contemplated from the research procedure as approved I/we undertake to resubmit the protocol to the Committee. I agree to a completion of a yearly progress report.

PLEASE QUOTE THE PROTOCOL NUMBER IN ALL ENQUIRIES ...

Appendix IV

Permission from Rahima Moosa Hospital

D Pres	Gauteng Department of Health
	PERMISSION FOR RESEARCH
	DATE: 18 MARCH 2010
	NAME OF RESEARCH WORKER: NICOLE WHITEHEAD
	TITLE OF RESEARCH PROJECT THE NEURODEVELOPMENT OF HIV POSITIVE
\bigcirc	INFANTS ON HAART COMPARED TO HIV EXPOSED BUT UNINFECTED INFANTS
	OBJECTIVES OF STUDY (Briefly or include a protocol). TO ASSESS NEWROBOND FOR COMPARE THE RESULTS. TO COMPARE NEWROBOND FOR COMPARE THE RESULTS. TO COMPARE NEWROBOND FOR COMPARE THE RESULTS. TO COMPARE NEWROBOND FOR COMPARE THE RESULTS. TO DETERMINE THE EFFECTS OF THE MUTHER'S HEALTH DURING PREGNANCY ON NEURODENERGIAND IN BOTH INFECTED AN UNINFECTED GROUPS. TO COMPARE WEIGHT, HEIGHT AND HEAD CIRCUMFGENCE BETWEEN THE GROUPS TO PARTICIPATE METHODOLOGY (Briefly or include a protocol): THE STUDY. THEIR POLEDENERGY ON NEUROPHENT WILL RE STUDY. THEIR POLEDENERGY SALES OF INTENT DEVELOPMENT ID AT BASELINE, GROUPS IN THE FOLLOW UP, EVERY 3 MONTHS USIGHT, HEIGHT AND HEAD FOLLOW UP AND IN MONTHS FOLLOW UP. EVERY 3 MONTHS WILL BE MANTYS WILL BE MEATH AND HEAD CIRCUMFERENCE WILL BE MERGINED. RESULTS WILL BE MANAYSED. CONSENT TO BE WENTTEN INFERENCE ON TO BE
	CONFIDENTIALITY OF PATIENTS MAINTAINED
\bigcirc	COSTS TO THE HOSPITAL: NONE
	APPROVAL OF HEAD OF DEPARTMENT: K. J. U. U. NOLL. IN PROCESS OF APPLYING FOR APPROVAL OF CRHS OF WITS UNIVERSITY: ETHICAL CLEARANCE.
	SUPERINTENDENT PERMISSION:
	Signature: 0 2010 Date: 31 3 3010
	Subject to any restrictions:

Appendix V

Information Sheet: HIV Positive Infants

Information Sheet for HIV positive infants

The neurodevelopment of HIV positive infants on HAART compared to HIV exposed but uninfected infants

Good Day Parent or Caregiver

Thank you for taking the time to read this information sheet.

My name is Nicole Whitehead and I am a physiotherapist. I am currently doing a Masters degree in physiotherapy and for this I need to conduct a study. I am conducting a study on the development of HIV positive children starting highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) and comparing them to the development of children who are HIV exposed but uninfected. Research is a way of finding an answer to a question. In this study I want to learn if HAART has an effect on the way your child develops.

I am inviting you and your child to be part of my study.

For this study to be done I will need to assess 27 children who are HIV positive and who are starting HAART and also 27 children who were exposed to HIV but are HIV negative.

The study will involve me assessing your child's development. I will assess your child's development before they start HAART or at the first visit and then every three months for six months. The assessment will take about an hour to do and will occur on the same day as your clinic visit. The assessment will not interfere with the treatment or services that you receive at the clinic and I will pay for your transport costs. The assessment involves me looking at different parts of your child's development to see what they can and can't do for their specific age. The assessment that I do does not hurt the child.

I will also need to see your child every 3 months for six months, at these visits I will measure the child's weight, height and head. I will also need to look in your child's file to see their blood results. I will need to ask a few questions to get information regarding the mother's pregnancy.

The assessments do not hurt and will take place on the same day as your clinic visits. I will also pay for your transport costs. There are no risks to this study.

There are no direct benefits to participating in this study, you will only be able to see and be told how your child is developing. Your child will still be receiving his/her routine care at the clinic. The results of the assessment will be given to you.

Participation in this study is voluntary. If you do not want your child to participate in the study there will be no change to the treatment that your child is already receiving at the clinic. You may stop your child participating in the study at any time without penalty and if you withdraw, your child will continue to receive the same treatment at the clinic.

All personal information will be kept private. Each participant will be assigned a number and there will be no way to identify you or your child on the record sheet. All information will be kept safe in a locked cupboard. The results of the study will be published, but, these results will be published as a group.

If you want to contact me for any information or concerns you can get hold of me on the following numbers: 073 254 7816 / 011 673 8862 / 011 470 9075.

For information regarding your human rights and for reporting complaints or problems you can contact the chair of the Ethics Committee, Prof. C Jones on 011 717 2301.

If you wish for your child to participate in the study, please read and sign the consent form.

Thank You

Nicole Whitehead

Appendix VI

Consent Form: HIV Positive Infants

Consent Form for HIV Positive Infants

The neurodevelopment of HIV positive infants on HAART compared to HIV exposed but uninfected infants

I		agree	that	Ι	and	my	child
will be part of this study.							

I have read the information sheet and fully understand it. I have had the opportunity to ask questions which were answered adequately. I understand that this research is completely voluntary and that I can withdraw my child from the study at any stage.

I agree that Nicole Whitehead may look at my child's file to see their blood results as well as to find blood results from the mother's pregnancy.

Participant

Researcher

Witness

Date

Date

Date

Appendix VII

Information Sheet: HI Exposed but negative infants

Information Sheet for HIV exposed but negative infants

The neurodevelopment of HIV positive infants on HAART compared to HIV exposed but uninfected infants

Good Day Parent or Caregiver

Thank you for taking the time to read this information sheet.

My name is Nicole Whitehead and I am a physiotherapist. I am currently doing a Masters degree in physiotherapy and for this I need to conduct a study. I am conducting a study on the development of HIV positive children starting highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) and comparing them to the development of children who are HIV exposed but uninfected. Research is a way of finding an answer to a question. In this study I want to learn if HAART has an effect on the way your child develops.

I am inviting you and your child to be part of my study.

For this study to be done I will need to assess 27 children who are HIV positive and who are starting HAART and also 27 children who were exposed to HIV but are HIV negative.

The study will involve me assessing your child's development. I will assess your child's development at the first visit and then every six months for a year. The assessment will take about an hour to do and will occur on the same day as your clinic visit and I will pay you for your transport costs. The assessment will not interfere with the treatment or services that your child receives at the clinic. The assessment involves me looking at different parts of your child's development to see what they can and can't do for their specific age. The assessment that I do does not hurt the child. At the first visit I will also ask you questions regarding your pregnancy.

The assessments do not hurt and will take place on the same day as your clinic visits. I will pay you for your transport costs. There are no risks to this study.

There are no direct benefits to participating in this study, you will only be able to see and be told how your child is developing. Your child will still be receiving his/her routine care at the clinic. The results of the assessment will be given to you.

Participation in this study is voluntary. If you do not want your child to participate in the study there will be no change to the treatment that your child is already receiving at the clinic. You may stop your child participating in the study at any time without penalty and if you withdraw your child from the study your child will continue to receive the same treatment at the clinic.

All personal information will be kept private. Each participant will be assigned a number and there will be no way to identify you on the record sheet. All information will be kept safe in a locked cupboard. The results of the study will be published, but, these results will be published as a group.

If you want to contact me for any information or concerns you can get hold of me on the following numbers: 073 254 7816 / 011 673 8862 / 011 470 9075.

For information regarding your human rights and for reporting complaints or problems you can contact the chair of the Ethics Committee, Prof. C Jones on 011 717 2301.

If you wish to participate in the study, please read and sign the consent form.

Thank You

Nicole Whitehead

Appendix VIII

Consent Form: HIV exposed but uninfected infants

Consent Form for HIV Exposed but uninfected Infants

The neurodevelopment of HIV positive infants on HAART compared to HIV exposed but uninfected infants

I _____ agree that I and my child _____ will be part of this study.

I have read the information sheet and fully understand it. I have had the opportunity to ask questions which were answered adequately. I understand that this research is completely voluntary and that I can withdraw at any stage during the study.

I agree that Nicole Whitehead may look at my child's file and may look for blood results to see information regarding the mother's pregnancy.

Participant

Researcher

Witness

Date

Date

Date

Appendix IX

Demographic Questionnaire

Child's name:	
Child's Date of Birth:	
Caregiver's name:	
Relationship of caregiver to child:	
Address:	
Telephone Number 1:	
Telephone Number 2:	

Participant number:

_